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Corporate Profile
Founded in 1959, Tiong Seng is a leading construction and civil engineering contractor in 

Singapore and a real estate developer in the People’s Republic of China (China). As a Building & 

Construction Authority (BCA) A1 grade contractor for both general building and civil engineering, 

we are qualified to undertake public sector construction projects with unlimited contract value. 

Tiong Seng has one of the largest order books of S$1.3 billion (as at 31 December 2015) among 

listed construction companies in Singapore. It is testament to our well-established capabilities 

and competitive edge. 

In line with the government’s initiative to improve productivity in the construction industry, we 

continue to pursue investments in construction technologies such as precast and prefabrication, 

advanced formwork systems, Building Information Modeling (BIM), Prefabricated Prefinished 

Volumetric Construction (PPVC) and green technology. In June 2015, the Geostr-RV factory in 

Iskandar, Malaysia, which is a joint venture with Geostr Corporation, a market leader in segment 

production in Japan, and Marubeni-Itochu Steel, started production of precast tunnel segments. 

This partnership will expand our precast construction capabilities so as to strategically target 

the growing market for precast tunnel segments in Singapore and the region. 

Apart from our mainstay construction business, we are also involved in property development 

in China, particularly in the 2nd and 3rd tier cities. Our completed and ongoing projects comprise 

developments in the commercial, residential and mixed-use space. In 2015, we successfully 

sold off all residential units of Sunny International, our project in Cangzhou. The first phase of 

Tranquility Residences, a residential development in Suzhou, was also completed in January 

2016. 
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Cover  Story

The construction landscape is constantly changing and the focus 

has shifted from labour intensive construction methods to more 

productive means driven by advanced technologies. Building on 

more than five decades of history and tradition, Tiong Seng is one of 

the pioneers in cutting edge construction technologies, playing an 

instrumental role in shaping a sustainable built environment for the 

industry. We strive to consistently research, develop and adopt the 

most innovative technologies in order to improve our processes and 

expand our existing suite of offerings. With a long term objective of 

realising cost benefits, we continue to sharpen our competitive edge 

in order to stay at the forefront of the construction industry.

Technology, the cornerstone of Tiong Seng

Precast technology
Tiong Seng is the first in Singapore to build an integrated precast 

automation hub. The hub is a focal point for precast production, 

formwork assembly, and training and research capabilities. The Group 

also owns and operates two other precast plants located in Myanmar 

and Iskandar, Malaysia. 

In June 2015, the Geostr-RV factory in Iskandar, Malaysia started 

production for the manufacture of precast tunnel segments. It is a 

joint venture (JV) initiative with Geostr, a Japanese leader in precast 

tunnel segments, and Marubeni-Itochu Steel. Leveraging on cutting-

edge precast tunnel technology from Japan, the marketing network 

of Marubeni-Itochi Steel and precast construction expertise of Tiong 

Seng, the JV aims to take advantage of the growing demand for 

tunnel-related projects in Singapore and the region. 

Design for Manufacturing and Assembly (DfMA)
DfMA identifies, quantifies and reduces waste or inefficiencies in 

a product design for the ease of manufacture and assembly. The 

tool optimises the manufacturing process so as to lower costs and 

production time without compromising on quality. We are investing 

resources to study, innovate and implement DfMA in our projects. Our 

approach is not just to adopt DfMA wholesale but to customise it to 

suit our requirements.

Prefabricated Prefinished Volumetric Construction 
(PPVC)
PPVC supports the DfMA concept to speed up the construction process. 

It is a method that involves off-site construction and assembly of 

complete volumetric units in an accredited facility. These modules 

are then transported to the worksite for installation. PPVC can 

improve productivity by up to 50% through labour and time savings. 

In addition, the method helps to improve worksite safety and noise 

pollution as most of the activities are carried out off-site. 

To maintain the quality and reliability of PPVC supplied to the market, 

the Building & Construction Authority (BCA) has set up regulations to 

ensure that manufacturers meet minimum criteria set by them. In 

December 2015, Tiong Seng received an In-Principle Approval (IPA) 

from the BCA for our own PPVC system. 

Prefabricated Bathroom Units (PBU) 
Similar to PPVC, PBUs are constructed off-site for the eventual 

installation on-site. As a prime mover in construction productivity and 

efficiency, Tiong Seng has been utilising this method since 2005 to 

reduce production time and labour usage.

In 2015, the company ventured into developing proprietary second 

generation PBUs. These PBUs, which use ultra-high performance 

ductile concrete (UHPdC), improve the ease of production and reduce 

overall weight. 
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Advanced formwork systems
Tiong Seng continues to invest extensively in advanced formwork since 

2005. The method reduces costs and set-up time while improving the 

quality of output as compared to conventional formwork. 

In 2015, we entered into a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) 

with PERI Asia (Private) Limited (PERI), a market leader in formwork 

technologies in Singapore. Under the agreement, Tiong Seng will be 

the exclusive partner for the marketing, development and provision of 

advanced formwork training in Singapore .This partnership recognizes 

Tiong Seng’s commitment towards growing the use of advanced 

formwork systems to improve worksite productivity. 

Building Information Modeling (BIM) and Virtual Design 
Construction (VDC)
In line with the BCA’s initiative to improve construction productivity in the 

industry, Tiong Seng is one of the pioneers in the use of BIM in Singapore. 

BIM is a software that allows the company to virtually design 3D, 4D and 

even 5D structures before the commencement of actual construction. 

By factoring in time and cost calculations of a project, we have been 

successful in achieving greater production efficiency.

In 2015, Tiong Seng entered into a MOU with Tekla South-east Asia 

(Private) Limited (Tekla). Tekla is a leading specialist in model-based 

software products for building, construction and infrastructure 

management. Utilising Tekla’s latest BIM technology, Tiong Seng will 

establish an Advanced BIM Competency Centre for the advancement of 

BIM in the region.  

VDC combines BIM and advanced management techniques on an 

integrated platform. The application allows users to design beyond the 

constraints posed by present processes, anticipate problems and make 

collaboration along the construction value chain more seamless and 

efficient. We believe that BIM and VDC will be adopted more extensively 

within the industry going forward. 

Cobiax
Tiong Seng takes pride in its commitment to sustainable practices. 

Cobiax technology has played an instrumental role in many of our 

award-winning construction projects, notably The Glyndebourne and 

Tree House Condominium. In 2015, these two residential buildings were 

presented with the Construction Excellence Award (CEA) by the BCA for 

the use of innovative and productivity-enhancing technologies. In both 

projects, lightweight Cobiax slabs reduced the overall dead weight of the 

structures, optimising the usage of concrete. 

Talent, the heart of our business
Grooming and retaining talent is integral for the success of our business. 

We value our employees and believe in providing them with opportunities, 

exposure and training so that they may reach their full potential. 

Our training centre in Tiong Seng Prefab Hub provides courses in system 

formwork and Continual Educational Training (CET) for workers to become 

CoreTrade Certified skilled workers. In addition, Tiong Seng sends staff on 

an Overseas Immersion Program to develop their skillsets in technologies 

such as advanced formwork, PPVC, VDC and BIM. 

Tiong Seng also has a Talent Management Programme where promising 

and deserving staff are groomed for management positions within the 

company. We have also launched a Talent Development Programme in 

collaboration with BCA which aims to engage and attract local talents into 

the built environment sector.
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Community, the foundation for a sustainable future
Since Tiong Seng’s humble beginnings, we have always believed 

in giving back to society. In 2015, we contributed to the Singapore 

Business Federation (SBF) foundation during their inaugural 

fundraising gala dinner to sponsor scholarships and employment 

opportunities for adults with intellectual disabilities. We also 

conducted a donation drive at North View Primary School aimed at 

providing a holistic education for the students. 

In addition, Tiong Seng regularly gives talks and presentations in 

order to promote and deepen the public’s understanding for the 

built environment.  In April 2015, Tiong Seng participated in the 

Singapore Contractors Association Ltd (SCAL) HR Forum as a guest 

speaker. The topic of the presentation was on ‘Developing the 

Leaders of Construction Workers’, which highlighted the importance 

of nurturing talent within the community in order to further advance 

the construction industry in Singapore. 
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Awards

3 BCA Construction Excellence Award
The Glydebourne, Hundred Trees Condominium, Treehouse Condominium Residential

2 BCA BIM Award 
Panorama, Tiong Seng Pte Ltd

1 bizSAFE (Star)
Tiong Seng Contractors Pte Ltd

1 Construction Productivity Award (Platinum)
Treehouse Condominium Residential

1 FIABCI Prix D’ Excellence Award
Tree house Condominium Residential

1 Keppel’s Innovation Award (Gold)
Lux project “Safe Work Access”

1 ‘Outstanding Project’ LEAF Award by National Parks
Parkroyal on Pickering

7 RoSPA Award (Gold)
Tiong Seng Contractors Pte Ltd, Springside, Panorama, Waterway Terraces I & II @ Punggol, Eco Sanctuary, Equinix, Haus @ Serangoon

3 SCAL WSH Innovation Award (Gold & Silver)
ECO-SIT ‘Prop-Less Nest’, Project Ready-Fly-Work Platform, Archipelago Green Wall Construction

1  BCA Design and Engineering Safety Excellence Award 
Treehouse Condominium Residential

In 2015, Tiong Seng won several awards for our continued delivery of high quality builds, extensive use of construction technology and 

workplace safety.

Accreditations 
ISO 9001, since 1995 

OHSMS 18001, since 2002 

ISO 14001, since 2002

Accreditations & Awards

We will continue focusing on delivering high quality projects while concurrently ensuring workplace safety and innovation.

FIABCI Prix D’Excellence by National Parks
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Dear shareholders,
On behalf of the Board, it is my privilege to present 

the Company’s Annual Report for the year ended 

31 December 2015 to you, in my capacity as the 

Non-Executive Chairman of Tiong Seng Holdings 

Limited. 

In April 2015, I took over my current position from 

the late Mr Pek Ah Tuan. Having founded the 

Tiong Seng Group in 1959, Mr Pek’s enterprising 

spirit and dedication was instrumental in driving 

the Group’s growth and direction over the last 

five decades. It should be fair to say that there 

would be no Tiong Seng without him as a strong 

foundation was established for the existing 

management team to leverage on to achieve 

greater success. 

Singapore celebrated her Golden Jubilee in 2015 

and Tiong Seng is proud to have grown along. 

With more than 55 years of heritage, Tiong Seng 

participated in various public and private sector 

projects that shaped the nation we live in today. 

Starting from a small earthwork contractor, Tiong 

Seng’s business has evolved over time, particularly 

over the last 10 years. Adopting a progressive 

transformation to stay ahead of the curve, the 

Group prides itself as a forerunner in the adoption 

of construction technologies within the industry. 

Bolstered by its comprehensive suite of leading-

edge technologies and best-in-class practices, 

the Group continues to stay differentiated while 

sharpening its competitive edge.

Singapore’s construction industry today grapples 

with rising labour costs and manpower shortages. 

To combat industry-wide challenges, the relevant 

government authorities have implemented 

various measures that demand greater 

productivity and offering from construction 

companies. While more of such initiatives are 

expected to be introduced in the coming years, 

we are well-poised to benefit as we continue 

to stay ahead by strengthening our suite of 

construction technologies as well as enhancing 

our management capabilities.

With a focus on capturing long-term growth, it is 

imperative to stay abreast of prevailing industry 

trends and remain relevant. This explains 

our pioneering capabilities in precast, Building 

Information Management (BIM) system and green 

building technologies. Our earlier ventures into Virtual 

Design and Construction (VDC), Prefabricated Pre-

finished Volumetric Construction (PPVC) and design 

and production of Prefabricated Bathroom Units 

(PBUs) resonate the recent push by regulators for 

these new technologies to be implemented in order 

to enhance productivity for the industry collectively. 

This not only validates our foresight but allows us to 

be more responsive in the adoption phase of these 

technologies.

Reaping the full benefits of construction technologies 

and innovation is of course not possible without a 

capable management team and workforce. That is 

the reason for our continuous pursuit in seeking out 

and grooming talents for the Group. Our in-house 

training and talent development programmes serve 

to identify and groom staffs with good potential to 

hold leadership positions. Over time, our efforts in 

these areas would help strengthen core competencies 

of the Group as we plan for our future. 

Moving on to our property development business, the 

real estate industry in China experienced headwinds 

in the first half of 2015. High housing inventory and 

rising debt level among developers dominated the real 

estate landscape. This led the Chinese government 

to take remedial policies in the second half of 2015 

which have helped to stabilize the property markets, 

particularly those in the first and second tier cities. 

This has brought about a more optimistic outlook for 

the industry in the year ahead though we continue to 

monitor the market closely and will take appropriate 

actions where necessary.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to 

extend our appreciation to our dedicated management 

team and employees. I would also like to thank our 

business partners, customers and shareholders 

for their trust and cooperation. We look forward to 

your continued support as we take our Group on the 

journey of further progress and development. 

 

Chairman

Mr Ong Lay Khiam

Chairman’s  Statement

As an industry 
front runner, 
Tiong Seng 
remains vigilant 
of the prevailing 
construction 
industry trends 
and position 
ourselves to 
capture long-term 
growth.

Chairman : Mr Ong Lay Khiam  
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Dear Shareholders,
Alongside the softening of the global economic outlook, we witnessed 

a slowdown in demand for the construction industry. While growth 

rates had declined from 3.5% in the previous year, it still registered a 

2.5% expansion year-on-year (yoy) to about S$27.2 billion for 2015. 

The private sector was primarily affected due to the less favourable 

economic climate and increase in market supply. Notwithstanding the 

challenging industry landscape, bright spots remained among the 

public sector projects, which contributed about S$18.5 – S$21.5 billion 

worth of contract value. 

With reference to our annual report last year, we expanded our focus 

into the civil engineering space given the increased supply of public 

sector projects. Building on this momentum, we successfully secured 

S$420.1 million of contracts in 2015, updating our order book size to 

S$1.3 billion through till 2020. These newly awarded contracts included 

the construction of JTC Space @ Tuas, Ulu Pandan and Sungei Seletar 

Bus Depots. Our ability to secure these public sector civil engineering 

projects affirmed the importance of staying aligned with fast-changing 

industry trends. Beyond the new contracts, we had also successfully 

completed four residential projects during the year, namely Waterway 

Terraces I & II at Punggol, The Archipelago and The Luxurie. 

Capitalising our capabilities to catalyse industry 
transformation
The construction industry is evolving quickly with the transformation 

supported by the regulators such as Building & Construction Authority 

(BCA). The push for improved productivity is imminent as the industry 

continues to face headwinds such as rapid urbanisation, land scarcity, 

high labour and operating costs. To that end, we position ourselves 

favourably by being a forerunner in construction technology, introducing 

quantum shifts in work processes to boost productivity and operational 

efficiency as compared to conventional construction methods.

Moving on from being the first player in the industry to introduce 

automated precast manufacturing in 2012, we have advanced to 

producing niche precast tunnel segments last year. Partnering Geostr 

Corporation and Marubeni in 2014 through a joint venture, we imported 

the former’s cutting-edge technology and expertise to enhance our 

position as a leader in the precast business. With the completion of 

the factory last year, we had commenced production of precast tunnel 

segments, supplying to some of our civil engineering projects.

In order to stay ahead of the industry’s curve, we continue to invest 

in innovative construction solutions. We received the In-Principle 

Approval from BCA for our own Pre-fabricated Pre-finished Volumetric 

Construction (PPVC) facility last year which will be used to design and 

manufacture PPVC units. This stems from the increased demand for 

Pre-fabricated Bathroom Units (PBU) which shift the fabrication and wet 

work processes off-site. Utilising high performance ductile concrete, 

PPVC can reduce construction cycle and manpower usage by over 60%. 

This not only improves workplace safety and operational efficiency but 

allows timely delivery of better quality products to customers.

In October 2015, we inked cooperation with Tekla South-East Asia 

(Private) Limited to establish an Advanced Building Information 

Modelling (BIM) Competency Centre for the development of best 

practices and improvement of coordination across multiple BIM 

platforms. This resonates the regulators’ push for increased adoption 

of the BIM technology across the built environment sector. Placing it 

in perspective, BIM has been recognised industry-wide for its ability 

to process integration across various stakeholders in the construction 

value chain. It allows the simulation of construction process in an up 

to 5-dimensional environment off-site before buildings are physically 

built on-site. Allowing an integration of design, pre-fabrication 

and construction phases of a project, it allows all stakeholders to 

collaborate and identify any potential upstream conflicts. This ensures 

efficient planning for the pre-fabrication phase before simulating 

the downstream processing. With the adoption of BIM as the primary 

platform for project management, it ensures cost and time savings.

Apart from a greater push for BIM adoption, we also partnered industry 

esteemed PERI Asia (Private) Limited exclusively to develop, market 

Revenue from the 
development properties 
segment, on the other hand, 
more than doubled yoy to 
S$71.8 million for FY2015. 

CEO’s Statement

CEO : Mr Pek Lian Guan  
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and provide advanced formwork related training. Recognising us as 

the sole partner for all advanced formwork related training and R&D, it 

reinforces our leading position in the industry. The training centre serves 

as a platform as we continue to innovate and derive next generation 

construction technology. The faster set-up time of implementing 

advanced formwork systems has allowed us to enhance the quality 

of our construction output and improved cost-production efficiency as 

compared to conventional formwork. 

With the nation driving towards a future-ready built environment, it 

is imperative for us to deploy our resources efficiently to consistently 

improve our capabilities. Inculcating the spirit of innovation, we 

continuously invest in new construction processes and technologies 

to differentiate ourselves from industry peers. With an extensive suite 

of construction technology offerings, it sharpens our competitive edge 

during the tendering process. In addition, we also compete from a 

lower cost base in the long run as we progressively realise cost benefits 

through increased operational efficiencies.  

These investments continue to reap benefits for us as three of our private 

residential developments, The Glyndebourne, Treehouse Condominium 

and Hundred Trees Condominium were conferred Construction 

Excellence Awards by the BCA in May 2015. The recognition reflects not 

just our ability in project management but a testament of our technical 

capabilities in BIM, advanced formwork and precast components.

Navigating the challenging real estate landscape
Moving on to our property development business segment, we continue 

to face headwinds largely influenced by the decelerating growth in 

China. Despite a challenging period over the last few years, the Chinese 

government has started introducing favourable reforms and measures 

to stabilise the property market in the latter half of 2015. These 

range from lowering down-payment requirements, funding costs for 

financing second homes to increasing the availability of mortgages, 

with an aim to stimulate housing market growth particularly in the  

Tier-2 and 3 cities.

Encouraged by the upturn in the property market spearheaded by 

the Chinese government, our priorities lie in accelerating the sales of 

existing projects. In terms of project updates, Phase 1 of our Suzhou 

project, Tranquility Residences, comprising 508 condominium units, 

was completed and handed over to the purchasers in January 2016. 

We expect the remaining commercial units in our Cangzhou project, 

Sunny International, to be sold out through the course of the year. In 

addition, Tiong Seng will be launching the sale of Phase B3, comprising 

88 terrace houses, in our Equinox project in Dagang, Tianjin, this year.

Overall, we remain cautiously optimistic on the improving sentiment for 

the property market in China. 

Financial highlights
Progressing beyond the operational updates, we wish to report our 

scorecard for the full year ended 31 December 2015 (FY2015). While 

revenue decreased 15.7% yoy to S$563.8 million, the Group reversed 

a net loss attributable to shareholders of S$15.3 million in FY2014 to a 

net profit attributable to shareholders of S$10.2 million for FY2015. The 

loss in FY2014 was mainly due to a one-off allowance for diminution in 

value in the Group’s property development segment. As at 31 December 

2015, the Group maintained a resilient balance sheet with cash and 

cash equivalents of S$93.2 million. 

The revenue of the core Construction Contracts segment, which 

contributed 85.5% of the Group’s revenue for FY2015, fell by 23.1% yoy 

to S$482.2 million due to differences in the stage of revenue recognition 

for various projects. In accordance to the Group’s revenue recognition 

policy, work done amounting to approximately S$26.8 million from 

newly commenced projects have yet to be recognized as revenue as at 

31 December 2015.

Revenue from the development properties segment, on the other 

hand, more than doubled yoy to S$71.8 million for FY2015. The 

growth was mainly contributed from the sale recognition of 408 units  

(41,692 sqm) of Phase II and Phase III from Sunny International Project, 

21 units (4,847 sqm) from Equinox Project and 1 unit (141 sqm) from 

Tiamen Jinwan Project. In accordance to the Group’s revenue recognition 

policy, approximately S$117.8 million of gross development value 

were sold but yet to be recognized as at 31 December 2015. These 

projects include: 18 units (1,734 sqm) of Sunny International, 57 units  

(14,661 sqm) of Equinox and 364 units (40,903 sqm) of Tranquility 

Residences.

Appreciation
Following a 2:1 share consolidation exercise carried out in August 2015, 

we have conducted a series of share buybacks totalling S$410,000 as 

of 17 March 2016. This signals a pledge of confidence in the Group and 

management’s ability to navigate the challenging industry landscape. 

In addition, the Board of Directors has recommended a final dividend of 

0.5 Singapore cents per share.

Before I conclude, I would like to dedicate my heartfelt appreciation 

to the late Mr Pek Ah Tuan for his mentorship and guidance that have 

shaped the organisation over the last five decades. We look forward 

to the continued support from our customers, suppliers, business 

associates, shareholders and board members. Together, I am confident 

that we can uphold late Mr Pek Ah Tuan’s legacy and continue with The 

Tiong Seng Way, a principle that defines the values and how we work as 

an organisation.

CEO 

Mr Pek Lian Guan  
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As at 31 December 2015, Tiong Seng’s order book stands at S$1.3 

billion, extending to 2020. Three public sector building and civil 

engineering projects worth S$420.1 million were won during the year. 

Projects that Tiong Seng has completed in 2015 include:

COMPLETED PROJECTS

The Luxurie
Client: Keppel Land Realty Pte Ltd

ONGOING PROJECTS INCLUDE:

Residential

Executive Condominium at Choa Chu Kang Grove
Client: MCL Land (Brighton) Pte Ltd

The Panorama
Client: Pinehill Investments Pte Ltd c/o Wheelock Properties

The Springside
Client: Kallang Development Pte Ltd

ECO Sanctuary
Client: S P Setia International (S) Pte Ltd

HAUS@Serangoon Garden
Client: Sparkland Holdings Pte Ltd c/o City Developments Limited

Public Housing

Woodland Neighbourhood Contract 29 & 30
Client: Housing & Development Board

Industrial

One HP
Client: Mapletree Industrial Trust Management Ltd

JTC Space @ Tuas
Client: JTC Corporation

Sungei Seletar Bus Depot
Client: Land Transport Authority

Ulu Pandan Bus Depot
Client: Land Transport Authority

Civil Engineering

Stamford Diversion Canal Contract 2
Client: Public Utilities Board

Contract T220 – Great World Station 
Client: Land Transport Authority

The Archipelago
Client: United Venture Development (Bedok) Pte Ltd

Waterway Terraces I & II @ Punggol 
Client: Housing & Development Board

Project List

The Equinix
Client: Mapletree Industrial Trust Management Ltd

Mediacorp at Mediapolis @ One North (Kajima – Tiong Seng JV)
Client: Mediacorp Pte Ltd 
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Focus on 2nd and 3rd tier property development business

The Equinox, Dagang, Guangang Forest Park, Tianjin, by Tianjin Zizhulin Guangang Property Development
Residential comprising landed and low rise properties: 162,000 sqm , over a land area of 325,000 sqm
7 phases of development, with the expected completion of the different phases ranging from 2014 to 2019

Sunny International, Cangzhou, by Cangzhou Huashi Property Development
Mixed: Residential 131,900 sqm and Commercial 18,000 sqm, over a land area of 51,000 sqm
All residential units have been sold. The remaining portfolio comprises of 11 commercial shop houses, which is expected to be sold by 2016

Tranquility Residences, Xushuguan Development Zone, Suzhou, by Suzhou ChangHe Investment and Development
Residential comprising terrace houses and apartments: 87,220 sqm, over a land area of 85,509 sqm
Two phases of development, with expected completion in 2016 and 2017 respectively

Zizhulin,Tianjin, by Tianjin Zhizhulin Development
Commercial: 12,000 sqm, over a land area of 8,000 sqm
Planning currently in progress

Eco-City, Tianjin, via a 9% investment in a joint venture with the master developer of Eco-City, Tianjin, Sino-Singapore Tianjin 
Ecocity Investment and Development Co. Ltd and Mitsui Fudosan
Residential: 101,200 sqm over a land area of 63,000 sqm

Wenchang Baihui, an investment property in Yangzhou, by Jiangsu Huiyang Construction Development
Retail: 15,000 sqm (saleable area and a remaining lease period of 27 years)

Ongoing
Property Development 
PROJECTS IN CHINA

Tiong Seng is committed to the sale and development of its existing projects in China while remaining vigilant on the macro-economic factors 

that affect the sector. 

Eco-City, Tianjin

The Equinox, Tianjin

Tranquility Residence, Suzhou
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Armed with years of experience in the construction and property development industry, our management team possesses a wealth of experience 

and technical know-how.

Mr Pek Lian Guan

Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

With more than 25 years at Tiong Seng, Mr Pek Lian Guan is credited 

with spearheading its growth into an industry leader in the use of 

advanced construction technology and green practices for enhanced 

productivity.

Under his leadership, Tiong Seng has built up a solid track record and 

has won numerous quality, safety, innovation and environmental 

sustainability awards and accolades in both the local and international 

arena, including the Singapore Quality Award (SQA), where Tiong Seng 

was the first construction builder in Singapore to win this prestigious 

award.

Mr Pek holds a First Class Honours degree in Civil Engineering from 

Loughborough University of Technology, UK. Mr Pek was appointed to 

our Board of Directors on 15th April 2008 and was last re-elected on 

28th April 2014.

Mr Pay Sim Tee

Executive Director

Mr Pay Sim Tee first started his career in the construction industry at 

Tiong Seng Contractors in 1977. In 1989, he became a director of Tiong 

Seng Contractors and is primarily in charge of our road construction 

projects in PNG. Mr Pay has more than 30 years of experience in 

earthwork, road and bridge construction, civil engineering and 

building work in Singapore, the PRC, Socialist Republic of Vietnam, 

PNG and Laos. He is also in charge of property development and 

human resource in Tiong Seng Holdings Limited. Mr Pay Sim Tee 

obtained a Technician Diploma in Civil Engineering from Singapore 

Polytechnic in 1980. Mr Pay was appointed to our Board of Directors 

on 24th February 2010 and was last re-elected on 24th April 2015.

Board of Directors
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Mr Lee It Hoe

Non-Executive Director

Mr Lee It Hoe had previously worked in Tiong Seng Contractors as a 

projects management executive back in the early 1960s; coupled 

with his extensive experience in the brokerage industry, his business 

acumen is expected to be an asset to our Group. He holds a Diploma 

in Building Construction from Singapore Polytechnic in 1968. Mr Lee 

was appointed to the Board on 24th February 2010 and was last 

reappointed on 24th April 2015.

Mr Ong Lay Khiam

Chairman (Non-Executive and Independent Director)

Before his retirement on September 2013, Mr Ong was an Executive 

Director at UBS Wealth Management. He has been working in local 

financial institutions since 1971, holding various leadership positions. 

For the period 2007-2008, he was the inaugural Executive Director of 

the Lien Ying Chow Legacy Fellowship at the Nanyang Technological 

University while concurrently appointed by the university as an 

Adjunct Associate Professor.

Mr Ong is currently an Honorary Council Member of the Singapore 

Chinese Chamber of Commerce and Industry and a member of the 

Investment Committee of the Chinese Development Assistance 

Council. He also serves on the boards of International Healthway 

Corporation Limited, Dou Yee Enterprises (S) Pte Ltd as well as Lien 

AID (a non-profit organization).

Mr Ong holds a First Class Honours degree in Accountancy from the 

Nanyang University and a Master Degree in Accounting and Finance 

from the London School of Economics and Political Science, University 

of London. Mr Ong was appointed to our Board of Directors on 24th 

February 2010 and was re-elected on 28th April 2014.
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Mr Ang Peng Koon, Patrick

Independent Director

Mr Patrick Ang is the Deputy Managing Partner of one of the largest 

law firms in Singapore, Rajah & Tann Singapore LLP, and heads the 

firm’s Regional Practices. He has had 25 years of experience handling 

both contentious and non-contentious matter and one of his key 

areas of expertise is in corporate restructuring and insolvency, acting 

for financial institutions and companies in many major and publicised 

cases. These include Lehman Brothers, Nortel group of companies, 

China Aviation Oil Corporation, Asia Pulp and Paper, restructuring of 

C2C Ltd (a large underwater telecoms cable company majority owned 

by SingTel), the collapse of Lewis and Peat (one of the world’s largest 

rubber trading houses), the collapse of Sogo Department Store group 

of companies, Alliance Technology & Development Ltd, Measurex 

Group, PT Ometraco (listed Indonesian company), Admiralty Leisure 

(owners of Tang Dynasty Theme Park), Lernout & Hauspie Group 

(then the world’s largest speech software company), PineTree Town 

Club, Fort Canning Country Club, Crown Prince Hotel and Chew Eu Hock 

Holdings Ltd.

Mr Ang has been consistently recognised internationally, in Asia and 

in Singapore as a leading lawyer in his field in consecutive years by 

Asian Legal Business Legal Who’s Who Singapore, AsiaLaw Leading 

Lawyers, Asia Law & Practice, Asialaw Profiles, International Who’s 

Who of Insolvency and Restructuring Lawyers, Euromoney Guide 

To The World’s Leading Insolvency and Restructuring Lawyers, 

International Financial Law Review 1000, Asia Pacific Legal 500 and 

Chambers Global – The World’s Leading Lawyers. In addition, he is 

also a lecturer in Civil Procedure and Insolvency at the Postgraduate 

Practice Law Course and a regular speaker at conferences/ seminars. 

He is also an independent director of SMRT Corporation Ltd and an 

independent director of Singapore Deposit Insurance Corporation 

Limited (a statutory company accountable to the Monetary Authority 

of Singapore).

Mr Ang holds a Bachelor of Law (2nd Upper Division Honours) from the 

National University of Singapore. Mr Ang was appointed to our Board 

of Directors on 24th February 2010 and was last re-elected on 24th 

April 2015.

Board of Directors
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Mr Pek Dien Kee

Head of Asset Management

Mr Pek Dien Kee joined Tiong Seng Contractors in 1975 and was 

appointed as Director of TSC in 1991. Currently, he heads our 

Procurement Department and his job scope includes approving 

the purchase of project work materials and services, selecting 

and conducting periodic evaluations of competent suppliers for 

our projects. In addition, he is also in charge of the Procurement 

Department of our subsidiary in Papua New Guinea, TSC (PNG), and 

our workshop at Fan Yoong Road which maintains and upkeeps the 

plant and equipment for TSC.

Mr Pay Teow Heng

Project Director

Mr Pay Teow Heng has more than 24 years of experience in 

administration, coordination and managing of building construction 

and civil engineering projects in Singapore. He is involved in tender 

for projects, and oversees various types of construction projects 

that Tiong Seng Contractors undertakes in Singapore, from civil 

engineering to the construction of buildings. He first joined Tiong 

Seng Contractors as a project engineer in 1992 and was subsequently 

promoted to project manager in 1993 and to director in 1998. Mr Pay 

currently sit in the board of various Joint Venture Company as well as 

the subsidies of the companies under Tiong Seng Group . He holds a 

Bachelor of Civil Engineering (Hons) from Loughborough University of 

Technology, United Kingdom.

Mr Andrew Khng

Head of Administration

Mr Andrew Khng has been with the company since 1981 and is in 

charge of corporate and Workplace Safety and Health matters for the 

Group. His experience spans across general, site management and 

coordination in managing of civil engineering and building construction 

projects in Singapore and India. He is also heading the BCA certified 

Overseas Training Centre in Myanmar. He currently sits on the board 

of various organisations outside our Group and is also the immediate 

past president of Singapore Contractors Association Limited. Mr Khng 

obtained an Advance Diploma in Business Management from the 

University of Bradford (MDIS) in 1997.

Mr Choo Hong Chun

Chief Financial Officer

Mr Choo Hong Chun has been with us since 2003 and currently 

manages all financial, taxation, treasury and compliance matters for 

our Group. Prior to joining Tiong Seng, he was with an International 

Accounting Firm. Mr Choo graduated from Nanyang Technological 

University of Singapore with a Bachelor of Accountancy in 1994. 

He has been a member of the Institute of Singapore Chartered 

Accountants since 1998.

Mr Ong Chun Tiong

General Manager, Tianjin, PRC

Mr Ong Chun Tiong has been overseeing our subsidiaries in Tianjin, 

PRC, since 2004. He joined us in 1998 as an Information Systems 

and Business Process Manager, and was responsible for our Group’s 

expansion into new markets in the construction industry. Mr Ong 

graduated from the London School of Economics and Political 

Science with a Master Degree of Science in 1998, specialising in 

Analysis, Design and Management of Information Systems. In 2003, 

he obtained a Master of Science in Project Management from the 

National University of Singapore.

Mr Bao Jian Feng

General Manager, Jiangsu, PRC

Mr Bao Jian Feng has been the General Manager of our Group for 

our subsidiaries in the Jiangsu Province, PRC, since Aug 2003 and is 

mainly in charge of Jiangsu Huiyang. Mr Bao has more than 20 years 

of experience in general management. From 1994 to 2003, Mr Bao 

was the deputy general manager of Suzhou Huisheng Construction 

Development Co., Ltd (苏州汇盛建设发展有限公司), during which 

he was in charge of the general affairs of the company. Mr Bao 

graduated from the Suzhou Economic Management Institute (苏

州经济管理干部学院) in July 1989 with a Diploma in Economic 

Management.
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FY2013 FY2014  FY2015

Construction
Property Development

ORDER BOOK $1.3 BILLION
During the year, the Group secured $420.1 million of new contracts. These are expected to be COMPLETED BY 2020.

(1) Earning per share and net asset value per share have been recalculated to take into account the effect of 2 to 1 share consolidation completed in 2015. 
(2) Net asset value per share in 2013 excludes 153,207,950 rights shares issued in January 2014.

Others

654.9

88.0%

10.5%
1.5%

Net Asset Value Per Share (CENTS)(1)

FY2013

FY2014  

FY2015 56.75

69.10(2)

FY2013 FY2014  FY2015

 0.1 

44.8 45.9 

0.3
 4.3

 5.4 

Gross Profit (SGD’MIL) Gross Profit Margin

8.0% 10.2%
7.1%

0.5%

12.8%

0.2%

FY2013 FY2014  FY2015

Construction
Property Development

Reportable Segment Profit 
Before Income Tax (SGD’MIL)

FY2013

General Corporate 
activities is 
not included in 
each reportable 
segment results  
 

(2.4)

20.3 6.6

(0.9)

28.1

(41.5) *

(2.3)

24.48.1

Profit/(Loss) from Operating Activities 
before jv, associate & tax (SGD’MIL)

FY2013 FY2014  FY2015

20.4

(23.0)*

Net Profit/(Loss) Attributable to 
Shareholders (SGD’MIL)

Net Profit

Net Profit margin

FY2013 FY2015  

9.3
1.4%

Cash and Cash Equivalents (SGD’MIL)

Construction
Property Development
Others

668.8 563.8

93.8%

1.4%

26.5

(15.3)

Earning/ (Loss) Per Shares (CENTS)(1)

FY2013

FY2014  

FY2015

2.38

(3.32)

2.23

FY2013 79.8

FY2014  95.0

FY2015 93.2

54.67

Shareholders Equity (SGD’MIL)

FY2013  264.6 

FY2015 260.2

FY2014  251.3

FY2015

FY2014

Revenue (SGD’MIL)

Financial Highlights

10.2

1.8%FY2014  

9.2

49.3

5.7

12.7%

85.5%

1.8%

12.7%4.8%

Construction
Property 
Development
Others

(2.3%)*** includes 
S$34.6 million 
allowance for 
diminution 
in value for 
property 
development

** includes S$34.6 million 
allowance for diminution 
in value for property 
development less S$11.8 
million shared by minority 
shareholders
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Corporate Governance

The Board of Directors (“Board”) of Tiong Seng Holdings Limited (the “Company” and together with its subsidiaries, 
the “Group”) is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance with the aim to protect and enhance 
shareholders’ value and the financial performance of the Group. The Company recognizes that good corporate governance 
processes are essential for enhancing corporate sustainability.

This report describes the corporate governance framework and practices that the Group has adopted with reference to the 
2012 Code of Corporate Governance (the “Code”) , and where applicable, the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), focusing on areas such as internal control, risk management, financial reporting, 
internal and external audits. 

The Board confirms that the Company has adhered to the principles and guidelines as set out in the Code, where applicable, 
and explanations are provided for areas of non-compliance.

(A) Board Matters

Principle 1: The Board’s Conduct of Affairs

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising the management of the business affairs of the Group and 
Board members are expected to bring their diversified knowledge and experience to bear on issues of strategy, performance, 
resources and standards of conduct and ethics, and to act in good faith and exercise independent judgment in the best 
interests of the Group.

The function of the Board includes:

(i) providing effective leadership, setting corporate strategy and directions to ensure that the necessary financial and 
human resources are in place for the Group to achieve its objectives;

(ii) advising Management on major  policy initiatives  and significant issues;

(iii) approving  the  Group’s annual budgets, major  investment and  divestment proposals, material acquisitions and 
disposal of assets, interested person transactions of a material nature and funding decisions;

(iv) evaluating the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls and risk management systems,  including safeguarding 
of shareholders’ interests and the company’s assets; 

(v) evaluating the performance and compensation of directors and senior management;

(vi) approving nominations and appointment of Board members and key management personnel; and

(vii) setting the Group’s values and standards through the implementation of corporate governance and best practices. 

The Board had considered and adopted a formal policy setting out specific matters that require the Board’s decision/approval. 
Material transactions that require decision/approval of the Board are as follows:

(i) All announcements to be released to the SGX-ST;

(ii) Annual budget of the Group and corporate and strategic business directions;

(iii) Major transactions proposals which include, inter alia, merger, acquisition, disposal and funding transactions;

(iv) Setting  up or change in Dividend Policy and declaration of dividends;

(v) Convening of shareholders’ meetings;

(vi) Annual Report which includes the audited financial statements;
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(vii) Review, recommendations, appointments and re-appointments of Directors; 

(viii) Human resource matters which include remuneration of Directors and key management personnel; and

(ix) All other matters which required approval of the Board and corporate actions for which shareholders’ approval is 
required.

To facilitate effective management, certain functions of the Board have been delegated to Board Committees, namely, Audit, 
Nominating and Remuneration Committees. Each Board Committee has the authority to examine particular issue and report 
back to the Board with their recommendations. The ultimate responsibility for the final decision on all matters, however, lies 
with the Board. Further information regarding the functions of the respective Board Committees is set out in the later part of 
this report.

Regular scheduled meetings are conducted on a quarterly basis to review interim and annual results, strategic policies of the 
Group, significant business transactions and performance of the business. Ad-hoc meetings are held as and when required 
to address any significant issues that arise in between the scheduled meetings. The Company’s Constitution  provide  for 
meetings to be held via telephone, electronic or other communication facilities  which permits all persons participating in the 
meeting to communicate with each  other simultaneously. The Board also schedules an annual Board Strategy meeting during 
the Company’s Corporate Retreat to discuss strategic issues.

A formal letter is provided to each director upon his appointment, setting out the Director’s duties and obligations. Newly 
appointed Directors will receive an orientation that includes briefing by Management on the Group’s structure, business 
activities, strategic direction and corporate governance practices. The Directors are provided updates on amendments in 
relevant laws and regulations, where appropriate, to enable them to make well-informed decisions and to discharge their 
duties responsibly.

Management will bring to Directors’ attention, information on seminars that may be of relevance or of use to them. As part of 
their continuing education, the Directors, whether as a group or individually, attend relevant external courses and seminars to 
keep themselves apprised of and updated on the latest changes in areas pertaining to regulatory, legal and commercial risks, 
amongst others, at the Company’s expenses. The Directors had been briefed on introduction and update on minimum trading 
price, understanding of the Directors’ and CEO’s undertakings and quarterly updates on the strategic development of the 
Group. 

As an ongoing exercise, the Directors are updated on amendments and requirements of the SGX-ST and other statutory and 
regulatory changes which have an important bearing on the Company and the Directors’ obligations to the Company, from 
time to time.

Details of the number of meetings of the Board and Board Committees held in the financial year ended 31 December 2015 
(“FY2015”), as well as the Directors’ attendance at these meetings are summarized in the table below:

Name of Directors

Board 
Meetings

Audit 
Committee 
Meetings

Nominating 
Committee Meeting

Remuneration 
Committee 
Meetings

Attendance/Number of meetings held

Ong Lay Khiam 4/4 4/4 1/1 2/2

Pek Lian Guan 4/4 4/4* 1/1 2/2*

Pay Sim Tee 4/4 4/4* 1/1* 2/2*

Lee It Hoe 3/4 3/4 1/1* 2/2

Ang Peng Koon, Patrick 4/4 4/4 1/1 2/2

* By Invitation

Note:  The late Mr Pek Ah Tuan had attended the Board meeting on 25 February 2015 and he had retired as director on 24 Aprl 2015.
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Principle 2:  Board Composition and Guidance

The Board as at the date of this report comprises five directors of whom two are independent directors: 

Ong Lay Khiam  (Chairman, Non-executive and Independent Director)
Pek Lian Guan  (Executive Director & Chief Executive Officer) 
Pay Sim Tee  (Executive Director)
Lee It Hoe  (Non-executive Director) 
Ang Peng Koon, Patrick (Independent Director)

The size  and  composition of the  Board  are  reviewed by the  Nominating Committee (“NC”) on an annual basis to ensure that  
the  Board  has  the appropriate mix of expertise and  experience and  collectively  possesses the  necessary skills  sets and  
core  competencies for  effective decision  making.  The Board is of the  opinion  that  its current board  size of five Directors is 
appropriate, taking  into account the nature and scope of the Group’s operations.

As a group, the Directors bring with them a broad range of expertise in areas, such as, legal, accounting, finance, management 
experience, industry knowledge, customer-based experience and knowledge as well as familiarity with regulatory 
requirements. The diversity of the Directors’ experience allows for the useful exchange of ideas and views. Information 
on each Director’s academic and professional qualifications, industry knowledge, shareholdings, relationships (if any) and, 
directorship is presented in the sections entitled “Board of Directors” and “Directors’ Statement” of this Annual Report. 

Non-executive Directors contribute to the Board process by helping to develop the Group’s strategic proposals and monitoring 
and reviewing Management’s performance against agreed goals and objectives. Their views and opinions provide alternative 
perspectives to the Group’s business. When challenging Management proposals or, decisions, they will bring independent 
judgment to bear on business activities and transactions involving conflicts of interest and other complexities.

Every independent Board member is required to disclose any relationships or appointments which would impair their 
independence to the Board on a timely manner. The NC, which is responsible for reviewing the independence of each Director  
on an annual basis,  has adopted  the  Code’s definition  of an independent director  and guidelines as to relationships which 
would deem  a director  not to be independent. The NC had reviewed the independence of each Director for FY2015 and is 
satisfied that at least one-third of the Board comprises Independent Directors.
 
None of the Independent Directors have served on the Board of the Company for a period exceeding nine years. As and when 
Independent Directors serve beyond nine years, the NC performs a particularly rigorous review to assess the independence of 
the relevant Directors. 

Principle 3: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”)

There is balance in the Board because of the presence of Independent and Non-executive Directors which is 
particularly important in ensuring that the strategies proposed by Management are constructively challenged, 
fully discussed and examined, and take account of the long term interests, not only of the shareholders, but 
also employees, customers, suppliers and the many communities in which the Group conducts business.  
 
To ensure an appropriate balance of power, increased accountability and greater capacity of the Board for independent 
decision making such that no one individual represents a considerable concentration of authority, the roles of Non-executive 
Chairman and CEO are separate.

The Non-executive Chairman, Mr Ong Lay Khiam, is one of the independent directors. Mr Pek Lian Guan, is the CEO of the 
Company. The Chairman is responsible for the workings of the Board. He manages the business of the Board and ensures 
that the directors receive complete, adequate and timely information relating to the Group’s operations and businesses. He 
is available to address concerns, if any, of the Company’s shareholders. Shareholders with concerns may contact him directly, 
when contact through the normal channels via the Chairman, CEO or Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) has failed to provide 
satisfactory resolution, or when such contact is inappropriate. All the Independent Directors meet at least annually without 
the presence of the other Executive and Non-independent Directors to discuss matters of significance which are thereon 
reported to the Board accordingly.
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As CEO, Mr Pek Lian Guan is responsible for formulating the Group’s business strategy, directions, corporate plans and policies 
and day-to-day management affairs of the Group. He ensures effective and comprehensive discussion of the Board on these 
matters and monitors the translation of Board’s decisions into executive actions. He also ensures the quality, quantity and 
timeliness of information flow between the Board and Management and that the Board has sufficient opportunities for 
interaction and informal meetings with Management There is no familial relationship between the Chairman and the CEO.

The Board is of the view that  there are sufficient safeguards and checks to ensure that the decision  making  process of the 
Board is independent and based on collective decision  of the  Board  without  any individual exercising any considerable 
concentration of power  or influence. 

Principle 4:  Board Membership

The NC comprises three members, a majority of whom, including the Chairman, are Independent Directors. 

Ang Peng Koon, Patrick (Chairman)
Ong Lay Khiam
Pek Lian Guan

The principal functions of the NC in accordance with its written terms of reference are as follows:

1. to review the Board structure, size and composition and make recommendations to the Board with regard to any  
Board appointments and changes, where  appropriate;

2.  to determine the process for search, nomination, selection and appointment of new Board members and assess 
nominees or candidates for appointment to the Board;

3.  to determine, on an annual basis, if a Director is independent;

4.  to recommend the nomination of Directors who are retiring by rotation to be put forward  for re-election;

5.  to review and determine  whether or not a Director  is able to and has been  adequately carrying out his duties as a 
Director  of the Company, particularly when he has multiple board representations; 

6.  to assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole; 

7. to review the succession plans for the CEO; and 

8. to review training and professional development programmes for the Board. 

The NC will put in place a process for selection and appointment of new directors. This provides the procedure for 
identification of potential candidates, evaluation of candidate’s skills, knowledge and experience, gender, assessment of 
candidates’ suitability and recommendation for nomination to the Board. No new director was appointed in the last financial 
year.

Although the Non-executive Director and Independent Directors hold directorships in other listed companies and/or have 
other principal commitments, the NC is satisfied that sufficient time and attention was given by the Directors to the affairs 
of the Group and is of the view that such multiple board representations do not hinder their ability to carry out their duties as 
Directors of the Company. The Board affirms and supports this view. While there are no guidelines to address the competing 
time commitments faced by Directors serving on multiple boards, the Board has concurred with the NC’s recommendation to 
fix the maximum number of board representations on listed company and other principal commitments for each Director at 5. 
Any appointment beyond the number of “5”, the NC would review and determine if that particular Director is able to and has 
been adequately carrying out his duties as a Director of the Company. 

Currently, no Director has appointed an Alternate Director. 
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In the search, nomination and selection process for new directors, the NC identifies the key attributes that an incoming 
director should have, taking into account the attributes of the existing Board and the requirements of the Group. After 
endorsement by the Board of the key attributes, the NC taps on the resources of Directors’ personal contacts and 
recommendations of potential candidates, and goes through a shortlisting process. If candidates identified from this process 
are not suitable, executive recruitment agencies will be appointed to assist in the search process. Interviews are set up 
with potential candidates for the NC members to assess them, before a decision is reached. The NC also oversees the re-
appointment of Directors in accordance with the requirement of the Companies Act, Cap. 50.

In accordance with the Company’s Constitution, one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation 
at each Annual General Meeting (“AGM”); and each Director is required to retire at least once every three years and, shall be 
eligible for re-election. A newly appointed Director is also required to submit himself for retirement and re-election at the 
AGM immediately following their appointments.

In recommending a Director for re-election to the Board, the NC considers, amongst other things, his performance and 
contributions to the Board (including attendance and participation at meetings, and time and effort accorded to the Group’s 
business and affairs).

The NC has recommended the nomination of Mr Ong Lay Khiam and Mr Pek Lian Guan for re-election at the forthcoming AGM. 
The Board has accepted this recommendation and being eligible, Mr Ong Lay Khiam and Mr Pek Lian Guan will be offering 
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

Mr Lee It Hoe who is over the age of 70 was re-appointed as Director to hold office from the date of the last AGM (held on 24 
April 2015) until the forthcoming AGM pursuant to Section 153(6) of the Companies Act. Section 153(6) of the Companies 
Act was repealed when the Companies (Amendment) Act 2014 came into effect on 3 January 2016. As his appointment will 
lapse at the forthcoming AGM, Mr Lee It Hoe will have to be re-appointed to continue in office. Upon his re-appointment at the 
conclusion of the forthcoming AGM, going forward, Mr Lee It Hoe’s re-appointment will no longer be subject to shareholders’ 
approval under Section 153(6) of the Companies Act as repealed. Mr Lee It Hoe will then be subject to retirement by rotation 
under Regulation 89 of the Company’s Constitution.  The NC has also recommended the nomination of Mr Lee It Hoe for re-
appointment and the Board has accepted this recommendation and being eligible, Mr Lee It Hoe will be offering himself for 
re-appointment at the  forthcoming AGM.

The key information regarding the directors is presented in the section entitled “Board of Directors” of this Annual Report.  

Principle 5: Board Performance

The  NC has  established a process for  assessing the  effectiveness of the  Board  as  a whole.  Board performance evaluation 
is carried out on an annual basis to assess and evaluate the Board’s size, composition, and expertise, independence, the 
Board’s access to information as well as Board accountability and processes. The results of the performance evaluation will be 
reviewed by the NC before reporting to the Board. The Board and the NC ensure that Directors appointed to the Board possess 
the relevant experience, knowledge and skills critical to the Group’s business, so as to enhance the core competencies of the 
Board. No external facilitator had been engaged by the Board for this purpose. The NC and the Board were generally satisfied 
with the results of the Board performance evaluation for FY2015. 

As the Board Committees, namely, Audit Committee, NC and Remuneration Committee, comprise members who are also 
Board members, the NC had reviewed and considered that separate assessment of the effectiveness of each Board Committee 
and individual Director evaluation as recommended by the Code were not deemed necessary and that the current annual 
assessment of the Board as a whole was sufficient for the time being.
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Principle 6:  Access to Information

The Directors are from time to time furnished with detailed information concerning the Group to enable them to be fully 
aware of and understand the decisions and actions of Management. In addition, the Board receives from Management 
quarterly management reports which present a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s financial 
performance, position and prospect.

Board papers are prepared by Management for each Board meeting and are circulated to the Directors before the scheduled 
meeting on a timely basis. Board papers prepared by Management include adequate information relating to financial, 
business and corporate issues to enable the Directors to be properly briefed on agenda issues to be reviewed and considered 
at Board meetings. 

The Company Secretary attends all Board and Board Committees meetings and takes the minutes of all key decisions 
taken and issues discussed. The Company Secretary also provides advice, secretarial support and assistance to the Board 
and ensures adherence to Board procedures (including but not limited to good information flows within the Board and its 
Committees and between senior management and Non-executive Directors) and the relevant rules and regulations applicable 
to the Company.

Pursuant to the Company’s Constitution, the appointment or removal of the Company Secretary is subject to approval by the 
Board. 

All Directors have separate and independent access to the Group’s Chairman, CEO, Key Executives, Senior  Management, 
Company Secretary and  internal and  external auditors at  all  times. The Board  can  seek independent professional advice  
if deemed necessary at the Company’s expense to  ensure that  adequate  information and  advice  is  available  before  
important decisions are made.

(B) Remuneration Matters

Principle 7:  Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

The Remuneration Committee (“RC”) comprises three members, a majority of whom, including the Chairman, are Independent 
Directors. All of the members of the RC are non-executive directors.

Ang Peng Koon, Patrick (Chairman)
Ong Lay Khiam
Lee It Hoe

The principal functions of the RC in accordance with its written terms of reference are as follows:

1.  to review and recommend to the Board a general framework of remuneration for the Board and key management 
personnel and to review and recommend to the Board the specific remuneration packages and terms of employment 
for each Director, key management personnel of the Group and employees related to Directors or, controlling 
shareholders of the Group; and

2.  to function as the committee referred to in the Tiong Seng Share Award Scheme (“the Scheme”) and shall  have all the 
powers as set out in the Scheme.

The scope of the RC’s review covers all aspects of remuneration, including but not limited to Directors’ fees, salaries, 
allowances, bonuses, and benefits-in-kind. The remuneration packages take   into  consideration  the  long-term interests of 
the Group, industry  standards, and ensure that the interests of the Executive Directors are aligned  with that of shareholders.
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If required, the RC will from time to time seek advice from external consultants, who are unrelated to the Directors or any 
organisation they are associated with, on remuneration matters and remuneration of the Directors’ and key management 
personnel. The Company has not appointed any remuneration consultants for FY2015. 
 
The terms of the service contract of the executive director including termination clauses, are not overly generous.

Principle 8:  Level and Mix of Remuneration

The RC takes into consideration the prevailing  economic situation, skills,  expertise and contribution to the Company’s 
performance, the pay and employment conditions within the industry and in comparable companies in reviewing and 
determining the remuneration packages of the Executive Directors and key management personnel. 

The  RC also  reviews all  matters  concerning the  remuneration of  the  Independent Directors and Non-Executive Directors to  
ensure  that the remuneration commensurate with the  effort, time spent and  responsibilities of the  Directors.  The Directors’ 
fee are payable to all the Directors except for the CEO.  

The  RC had  recommended to the  Board  an  amount of S$250,000 as Directors’ fee for the  financial year  ending   
31  December 2015, to be paid in arrears. The Board will table this recommendation at the forthcoming AGM for shareholders’ 
approval.

The existing service agreement of Mr Pek Lian Guan, CEO and Executive Director of the Company, is for a period of 3 years, 
and may be terminated with 6 months’ notice in writing served by either party. 

No Director is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The remuneration packages of Executive Directors and key executives consist of fixed, variable components and benefits. 
The fixed component comprises the basic salary and Central Provident Fund contribution. To ensure that key executives’ 
remuneration is consistent and comparable with market practice, the RC regularly benchmarks remuneration components 
against those of comparable companies, giving due regard to the performance criteria as set out in the Key Performance 
Indicators for Variable Bonus and Incentive Plan, while continuing to be mindful that there is a general correlation between 
increased remuneration and performance improvements. The variable component comprises a variable bonus based on the 
Group’s and the individual’s performance, as well as the monthly variable component of the basic salary. Bonuses payable 
to key executives are reviewed by the RC and approved by the Board to ensure alignment of their interests with those of 
shareholders and promote the long-term success of the Group.
 
Benefits provided are consistent with market practice and include medical benefits, flexible benefits, car allowance and club 
benefits. Eligibility for these benefits will depend on individual salary grade and length of service.

The Company has in place a Share Award Scheme administered by the RC. To-date, no awards have been granted under the 
Scheme. Details of the Scheme are disclosed under Annex J of the Company’s IPO prospectus dated 7 April 2010.

Contracts with Executive Directors and key management personnel contain “claw back’ termination clauses to safeguard the 
Group’s interests in the event of exceptional circumstances of misstatement of financial statements, misconduct resulting in 
financial loss or fraud by Executive Directors and key management personnel. 
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Principle 9:  Disclosure on Remuneration

The annual remuneration level and mix of each individual Director for FY2015 is set out as follows: 

Basic 
Salary

Bonus, AWS 
and Profit 

Sharing
Other 

Benefits
Director’s 

Fees Total

% % % % % S$’000

Executive Directors

Pek Lian Guan 47 51 2 – 100 916

Pay Sim Tee 72 18 2 8 100 490

Non-executive Directors

Lee It Hoe – – – 100 100 40

Ong Lay Khiam – – – 100 100 83

Ang Peng Koon, Patrick – – – 100 100 50

Pek Ah Tuan1 – – 5 95 100 193

(1)  The late Mr Pek Ah Tuan retired on 24 April 2015. Fees are paid on pro rata basis

Mr Pek Dien Kee, brother of Mr Pek Lian Guan (the CEO and an Executive Director), was employed as the Head of Asset 
Management and a director of a subsidiary of the Group, Tiong Seng Contractors (Private) Limited. He has received 
remuneration comprising salary and annual bonus in the salary band of between S$450,000 to S$500,000 during FY2015. 

The aggregate remuneration paid to the top 5 key management personnel (who are not Directors or the CEO) in FY2015 
was S$1,946,000. However, the remuneration of the top 5 key management personnel (who are not Directors or the CEO) 
is not disclosed in the bands of S$250,000 and on a named basis as the Company believes in maintaining confidentiality 
of staff remuneration matters and that disclosure of the remuneration of the individual key management personnel is 
disadvantageous to its business interest, given the scarcity of talents and highly competitive industry conditions that it is 
operating in.

The Company does not provide any termination, retirement and post-employment benefits to Directors, CEO and the top 5 key 
management personnel (who are not Directors or the CEO).

(C) Accountability and Audit

Principle 10: Accountability

The  Board  aims  to  provide  a  balanced   and  understandable assessment of the  Group’s financial  performance, position 
and prospect when presenting interim and other price sensitive public reports, and reports to regulators (if required).

Financial results are released on a quarterly basis to shareholders within the timeline stipulated in the SGX-ST Listing Manual.  
All the financial information presented in the results announcement or Annual Report have been  prepared in accordance 
with the Singapore Financial  Reporting Standards and approved by the Board before release to the SGX-ST and the investing 
public through SGXNET.

Management provides the Board with information on the Group’s performance, financial  position  and  prospects on 
a quarterly basis and as the Board may require from time to time to enable the Board to make a balanced and informed 
assessment of the company’s performance, position and prospect. This is supplemented by regular updates on matters 
affecting the financial performance, business of the Group, if any.  
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Principle 11:  Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board is responsible for the governance of risks and sets the tone and direction for the Group in the way risks are being 
managed. The Board has the responsibility to approve the strategy of the Group in a manner which addresses stakeholders’ 
expectations without subjecting to an unacceptable level of risks.

The Company, with the assistance of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (“PwC”), the internal auditor, had implemented an 
Enterprise Risk Management (“ERM”) framework incorporating the establishment of risk strategy, policies, identification and 
management processes. Action plans to manage the risks are continually being monitored and refined by Management and 
the Board.

Given the level of operations of the Group, the Board has decided to incorporate the oversight of the ERM framework and 
policies into the function of the Audit Committee, instead of establishing a separate Risk Committee.

In order to be assured that the Group’s risks are managed adequately and effectively, the Board had reviewed the risks 
overview identified, counter measures to manage the risks at an acceptable level as well as the internal controls put in place 
to mitigate them.

The Board has obtained a written confirmation from the CEO and CFO :-

a) that the financial records have been properly maintained and the financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
Group’s operations and finances; and

b) regarding the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

Based on the internal controls established and maintained by the Group, work performed by the internal and external 
auditors and reviews performed by the Board, Management and various Board Committees, the Board, with the concurrence 
of the Audit Committee, is of the opinion that the Group’s risk management and internal controls systems addressing the 
financial, operational, compliance and information technology risks were adequate and effective as at 31 December 2015.

Principle 12: Audit Committee

The Audit Committee (“AC”) comprises three members, a majority of whom, including the Chairman, are Independent 
Directors. All of the members of the AC are non-executive directors: 

Ong Lay Khiam (Chairman)
Ang Peng Koon, Patrick
Lee It Hoe

The AC is responsible for assisting the Board in discharging its responsibilities relating to internal controls and risk 
management systems, financial and other accounting matters as well as matters pertaining to regulatory compliance. The 
Board believes that the AC  members are appropriately qualified to discharge their  duties  and responsibilities. Two members 
of the AC, including the AC Chairman, have recent and relevant accounting or related financial management expertise or 
experience.  None of the members nor the Chairman of the AC are former partners or directors of the Group’s auditing firm.

The AC meets at least 4 times a year and, as and when deemed appropriate to carry out its function, AC members are kept 
abreast of any changes to accounting standards and issues affecting the financials by the external auditors and Management 
at the AC meetings, where appropriate. 
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The principal functions of the AC in accordance with its written terms of reference are as follows:

1. to review with the internal and external auditors their audit plan, their evaluation of the system of internal controls, 
their  audit report and their management letter and Management’s response;

2.  to review significant financial reporting issues and judgments so as to ensure the integrity of the quarterly and full-
year financial statements of the Group and any formal announcements relating to the Group’s financial performance 
before submission to the Board for approval;

3.  to  review and report to the Board at least annually the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls, 
including financial, operational, compliance and information technology controls and  risk management policies;

4. to review the internal control procedures and ensure  co-ordination between the  external  and internal auditors  and  
Management, review the assistance given by Management to the auditors, and discuss problems and concerns, if any, 
arising from the interim and/or full-year audits;

5.  to make recommendations to the Board on proposals to shareholders on the appointment, re-appointment, 
resignation and removal of the external auditors, and approving the remuneration and terms of the engagement ;

6. to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function;

7.  to review interested person transactions falling within the scope of Chapter 9 of the SGX-ST  Listing Manual;

8.  to review the  Group’s hedging  policies  procedures and activities  (if any) and monitor the implementation of the 
hedging  procedure/policies, including reviewing the instruments, processes and practices in accordance with any 
hedging  policies  approved  by the Board;

9.  to review potential conflict of interest, if any, including  review of annual confirmations from the relevant parties to 
determine if the terms of the non-compete undertakings remain valid;

10.  to undertake such  other reviews and projects as may be requested by the Board, and report to the Board its findings  
from time to time on matters arising and requiring the attention of the AC;

11.  to review and discuss with the external auditors any suspected frauds or irregularity, or suspected infringement of any 
applicable law, rules or regulations which has or is likely to have material impact on the Group’s operating results or 
financial position,  and Management’s response; and

12.  to review the policy and arrangements by which staff of the Company or the Group and any other persons may, in 
confidence, raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting or any other matters; and conduct 
an independent investigation of such matters for appropriate follow-up action pursuant to the Company’s whistle-
blowing programme.

The AC is authorised by the Board to investigate any matter within its terms of reference and has full access to, and 
cooperation of Management, with full discretion to invite any director or executive officer to attend its meetings. The AC has 
adequate resources to enable it to discharge its functions properly.

Annually, the AC meets with the external auditors and internal auditor separately, without the presence of Management. This 
is to review the adequacy of audit arrangements, with particular emphasis on the observations of the external and internal 
auditors, the scope and quality of their audits and the independence and objectivity of the external and internal auditors.

The accounts of the Company’s significant subsidiaries and associated companies are audited by KPMG LLP, an auditing firm 
registered with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority, and overseas member firms of KPMG. For subsidiaries 
and/or significant associated companies which are not audited by KPMG LLP or overseas member firms of KPMG, the AC and 
Board are satisfied that the appointment of different auditing firms would not compromise the standard and effectiveness of 
the audit of the Group.  Accordingly, the Company has complied with the Rules 712, 715 and 716 of the Listing Manual of the 
SGX-ST.  
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The AC assesses the independence of the external auditors annually. The AC had reviewed and is satisfied that the non-audit 
services provided by the external auditors in FY2015 did not affect the independence or objectivity of the external auditors. 
The amount of non-audit fees paid to the external auditors in respect of FY2015 was S$75,800. The AC, with the concurrence 
of the Board, had recommended the re-appointment of KPMG LLP as auditors at the forthcoming AGM.

Details of the fees of the external auditors of the Company for FY2015 are as follows:

FY2015 FY2014 

$’000 $’000

Fees paid/payable to external auditors for:

- Audit services 402 384

- Non-audit services 76 68

The Group has in place a Whistle-Blowing Programme which provides well-defined and accessible channels in the Group 
through which employees and external parties may, in confidence, raise concern about possible fraudulent activities, 
malpractices or improper conduct on financial reporting or other matters within the Group, in a responsible and effective 
manner. The Group undertakes to independently investigate such complaints in an objective manner with appropriate follow 
up actions being taken thereafter. To facilitate participation by the external parties, the Whistle-Blowing Programme is also 
available on the Company’s website at www.tiongseng.com.sg.

Principle 13: Internal Audit

The  AC with the  assistance of the  internal and  external auditors, reviews the  adequacy and effectiveness of the  Company’s 
internal controls and  risk  management policies  and  systems established by Management on an annual basis. Any material 
non-compliance or weakness in internal controls and recommendations for improvements is reported to the AC. The AC also 
reviews the effectiveness of the actions taken by Management on the recommendations made by the internal and external 
auditors in this respect.

PwC has been appointed as internal auditor to carry out the internal audit function. The internal auditor reports directly to 
the AC Chairman and has full access to all documents, records, properties and personnel of the Group. The role of the  internal 
auditor is to support the  AC in ensuring that  the  Group maintains a  sound  system of internal controls by monitoring  and  
assessing  the  effectiveness of key controls and procedures, conducting in-depth audits of high risk areas and undertaking 
investigations as directed by the AC. 

During the financial year, the internal auditor conducted its audit reviews based on the internal audit plan approved by the AC. 
Upon the completion of their internal audit reviews, the internal auditor reports to the AC on the status of the audit plan and 
on audit findings and responses from/actions taken by Management on the findings.

The AC assesses the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal audit function on an annual basis and is satisfied that the 
internal auditor has the necessary resources to adequately perform its function. The internal auditor is guided by the PwC 
Global Internal Audit Services Methodology which is aligned to the International Standards for the Professional Practice of 
Internal Auditing (IIA Standards) issued  by the Institute of Internal Auditors.

(D) Shareholder Rights and Responsibilities

Principle 14: Shareholders Rights 
Principle 15:   Communication with Shareholders
Principle 16:  Conduct of Shareholder Meetings

The Group continues to keep all stakeholders informed of its corporate activities on a timely and consistent basis. 
The Company is mindful of the need for regular, effective and fair communication with its shareholders. The Company 
disseminates all material price-sensitive information and quarterly results to its shareholders via SGXNET and Company’s 
website www.tiongseng.com.sg on a non-selective basis, and through press releases on a timely basis. 
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All shareholders receive the Company’s Annual Report and notice of AGMs and/or General Meetings. The notice of AGM is also 
advertised in the newspaper. The Company welcomes the views of the shareholders on matters concerning the Company and 
Group and encourages shareholders’ participation at AGMs. Each item of special business included in the notice of the meeting 
will be accompanied by a statement regarding the effect of a proposed resolution. Issues seeking approval of shareholders, if 
any, are usually tabled as separate resolutions. 

Shareholders have the opportunity to participate effectively and to vote in the General Meetings either in person or by 
appointing up to two proxies. In General Meetings, shareholders are given the opportunity to proactively engage with the 
Board and Management regarding the Group’s business activities and operations, financial performance and other business 
related matters. 

All Directors, in particular, the Chairman of the Board and Chairpersons of the AC, NC and RC are usually present at the General 
Meetings to address shareholders’ queries. The external auditors are also present to assist the Directors in addressing any 
relevant queries by shareholders about the conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of the auditors’ report. 

Effective 1 August 2015, all resolutions at the Company’s general meetings will be voted by way of a poll to better reflect 
shareholders’ interest pursuant to Rule 730(A)(2) of the Listing Manual.  The detailed results would be announced via SGXNET 
after the conclusion of the general meetings. The minutes of the general meetings are available to shareholders upon their 
written request.

The Company has engaged an external professional investor relation (“IR”) firm, with the aim to better communicate with its 
shareholders and analyst on a regular basis and to gather views or inputs, and take any of their queries or concerns. The IR 
firm also manages the dissemination of information to the media, public, institutional investors and public shareholders, and 
act as liaison with these parties. Shareholders can contact or provide their views directly to the IR firm.

Dividend Policy

The Company currently does not have a fixed dividend policy. Any declaration and payment of dividends will depend on, 
inter alia, the Group’s earnings, operating results, financial conditions, development/investment plans, capital requirements, 
capital expenditure, gearings and any other factor deemed relevant by the Board.

The details of dividend payment would be disclosed via the release of financial results announcements through SGXNET.

Dealings in Securities

The Company had adopted a policy governing dealings in securities of the Company by the Directors and the Officers of the 
Group. The Company and its Officers are prohibited from dealing in securities of the Company for the periods commencing 
two weeks before the release of the quarterly results and at least  one month before the release of full-year results and at all 
times  whilst in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information.

The Directors and key officers are also expected to observe insider-trading laws at all times even when dealing in securities 
within permitted trading period. Where a potential conflict of interest arises, the Director concerned does not participate in 
discussion and refrains from exercising any influence over other members of the Board.

Directors and key officers are also encouraged not to deal in the Company’s securities on short-term considerations. 

The guidelines on share buyback under the Share Buyback Mandate, to be renewed at the Company’s forthcoming AGM also 
provides that the Company will not effect any purchases of shares on the SGX-ST during the period of one month immediately 
preceding the announcement of the Company’s full year results and two weeks immediately before the announcement of the 
Company’s first quarter, second quarter and third quarter results.

The Company has complied with Rule 1207(19) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.
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Interested Person Transactions

The Company has adopted an internal policy governing the procedures for the identification, approval and monitoring of 
interested person transactions (“IPTs”). All IPTs are subject to review by the AC to ensure that they are carried out on normal 
commercial terms or entered into on arm’s length basis and are not prejudicial to the interests of the Group and its minority 
shareholders.

Considering that the Group will, in the ordinary course of business, continue to have transactions with Peck Tiong Choon 
(Private) Limited and its subsidiaries, the Interested Persons, from time to time; and the time-sensitive and recurrent nature 
of the transactions, Shareholders’ mandate for the IPTs (“IPT Mandate”) was first obtained at the Extraordinay General 
Meeting (“EGM”) held on 28 April 2014. The methods or procedures for determining the transaction prices have not changed 
since the last EGM and are sufficient to ensure that the transactions have been and will be carried out on normal commercial 
terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its minority shareholders. In view of the above, an 
independent financial adviser’s opinion is not required for the renewal of the IPT Mandate at the forthcoming AGM. 

The aggregate value of IPTs entered into during FY2015 is as follows:

Name of Interested Person

Aggregate value of all interested 
person transactions during the 
financial year under review 
(excluding transactions less
than S$100,000 and transactions 
conducted  under shareholders’ 
mandate pursuant to Rule 920)

Aggregate value of all interested 
person transactions conducted  
under shareholders’ mandate 
pursuant to Rule 920 (excluding 
transactions less than S$100,000)

Peck Tiong Choon Transport (Pte) Ltd – S$4,496,000

Material Contracts

Saved for the Service Agreement entered with the CEO, there were no material contracts entered into by the Company or any 
of its subsidiaries involving the interest of the CEO, Directors or controlling shareholders during or at the end of FY2015.
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We are pleased to submit this annual report to the members of the Company together with the audited financial statements 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2015.

In our opinion:

(a) the financial statements set out on pages 39 to 111 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2015 and the financial performance, changes in equity 
and cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore 
Companies Act, Chapter 50 and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards; and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as 
and when they fall due.

The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial statements for issue.

Directors

The directors in office at the date of this statement are as follows: 

Ong Lay Khiam 
Pek Lian Guan 
Pay Sim Tee 
Lee It Hoe 
Ang Peng Koon, Patrick 

Directors’ interests

According to the register kept by the Company for the purposes of Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 
(the Act), particulars of interests of directors who held office at the end of the financial year (including those held by their 
spouses and infant children) in shares, debentures, warrants and share options in the Company and in related corporations 
(other than wholly-owned subsidiaries) are as follows:

Name of director and corporation
in which interests are held

Holdings
at beginning 

of the year

Holdings1

at end 
of the year

Ong Lay Khiam

The Company

- ordinary shares

- interests held 636,000 318,000

Pek Lian Guan2

The Company

- ordinary shares

- deemed interests 2,400,000 1,272,500

Lee It Hoe

The Company

- ordinary shares

- deemed interests 572,550,660 286,275,330
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Name of director and corporation
in which interests are held

Holdings
at beginning 

of the year

Holdings1

at end 
of the year

Ang Peng Koon, Patrick

The Company

- ordinary shares

- interests held 530,000 265,000

1 On 31 August 2015, the Company completed a share consolidation of two existing shares into one consolidated share. The directors’ holdings 
at the end of the year refer to the outstanding shares held after the share consolidation.

2 Mr Pek Lian Guan is deemed interested in $250,000 in principal amount of the Company’s 4.75 per cent fixed rate medium term notes due in 
January 2018 held by his spouse.

By virtue of Section 7 of the Act, Pek Lian Guan and Lee It Hoe are deemed to have interests in the other subsidiaries of the 
Company, at the beginning and at the end of the financial year. 

Except as disclosed in this statement, no director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests in shares, 
debentures, warrants or share options of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the beginning or at the end of the 
financial year.

There were no changes in any of the above mentioned interests in the Company between the end of the financial year and 21 
January 2016.

Neither at the end of, nor at any time during the financial year, was the Company a party to any arrangement whose objects 
are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of 
shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

Share options

During the financial year, there were:

(i) no options granted by the Company or its subsidiaries to any person to take up unissued shares in the Company or its 
subsidiaries; and

(ii) no shares issued by virtue of any exercise of options to take up unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries.

As at the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries under options.

Share award scheme

The Tiong Seng Share Award Scheme (the “Award Scheme”) was approved and adopted by the members of the Company at an 
Extraordinary General Meeting held on 31 March 2010.  The Award Scheme is administered by the Remuneration Committee.  
Since the commencement of the Award Scheme, no shares of the Company have been awarded pursuant to the Award 
Scheme. 

Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee during the year and at the date of this statement are:

Ong Lay Khiam Independent director (Chairman)

Ang Peng Koon, Patrick Independent director

Lee It Hoe Non-executive director
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The Audit Committee performs the functions specified in Section 201B of the Act, the SGX Listing Manual and the Code of 
Corporate Governance.

The Audit Committee has held 4 meetings since the last directors’ statement.  In performing its functions, the Audit 
Committee met with the Company’s external and internal auditors to discuss the scope of their work, the results of their 
examination and evaluation of the Company’s internal accounting control system.

The Audit Committee also reviewed the following:

l assistance provided by the Company’s officers to the internal and external auditors;

l quarterly financial information and annual financial statements of the Group and the Company prior to their 
submission to the directors of the Company for adoption; and

l interested person transactions (as defined in Chapter 9 of the SGX Listing Manual).

The Audit Committee has full access to management and is given the resources required for it to discharge its functions.  It 
has full authority and the discretion to invite any director or executive officer to attend its meetings.  The Audit Committee 
also recommends the appointment of the external auditors and reviews the level of audit and non-audit fees.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and has recommended to 
the Board of Directors that the auditors, KPMG LLP, be nominated for re-appointment as auditors at the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting of the Company.

In appointing our auditors for the Company and its Singapore-incorporated subsidiaries, we have complied with Rules 712 and 
715 of the SGX Listing Manual. 

Auditors

The auditors, KPMG LLP, have indicated their willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Ong Lay Khiam
Director

Pek Lian Guan
Director

29 March 2016
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Independent Auditors’ Report

Members of the Company 
Tiong Seng Holdings Limited

Report on the financial statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Tiong Seng Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(“the Group”), which comprise the statements of financial position of the Group and the Company as at 31 December 
2015, the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows of the Group 
for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, as set out on  
pages 39 to 111.

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the 
provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 (“the Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards, and for 
devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are 
safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are 
recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing.  Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position of the Company 
are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to 
give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2015 and the financial 
performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiary 
corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the 
provisions of the Act.

KPMG LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants

Singapore
29 March 2016
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Statements of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2015

Group Company
Note 2015 2014 2015 2014

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 4 101,606 86,998 – –
Intangible assets 5 1,747 3,523 – –
Investment properties 6 15,880 16,205 – –
Subsidiaries 7 – – 59,624 59,624
Associates and joint ventures 8 22,200 23,263 – –
Trade and other receivables 9 30,748 23,520 – –
Other investments 10 6,130 6,148 – –
Deferred tax assets 11 3,140 3,334 – –

181,451 162,991 59,624 59,624

Current assets
Inventories 12 1,875 2,173 – –
Construction work-in-progress 13 45,430 50,917 – –
Development properties 14 445,341 441,023 – –
Trade and other receivables 9 206,113 199,795 6 9
Amounts due from related parties 15 52,799 40,826 125,685 126,161
Cash and cash equivalents 16 93,210 94,974 2,980 10,397

844,768 829,708 128,671 136,567
Total assets 1,026,219 992,699 188,295 196,191

Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital 17 181,947 181,947 181,947 181,947
Treasury shares 17 (244) – (244) –
Reserves 18 (54,001) (54,768) (45,850) (45,850)
Retained earnings/(Accumulated losses) 132,510 124,111 (23,994) (16,656)

260,212 251,290 111,859 119,441
Non-controlling interests 33 59,799 45,430 – –
Total equity 320,011 296,720 111,859 119,441

Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 19 15,936 20,765 – –
Loans and borrowings 20 87,244 178,013 74,129 73,730
Deferred tax liabilities 11 4,556 3,840 – –

107,736 202,618 74,129 73,730

Current liabilities
Progress billings in excess of construction
 work-in-progress 13 15,138 7,054 – –
Trade and other payables 19 342,438 340,046 2,307 2,020
Amounts due to related parties 15 17,314 18,360 – –
Loans and borrowings 20 211,566 119,674 – 1,000
Current tax payable 12,016 8,227 – –

598,472 493,361 2,307 3,020
Total liabilities 706,208 695,979 76,436 76,750
Total equity and liabilities 1,026,219 992,699 188,295 196,191

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015

Note 2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Revenue

Revenue from construction contracts 21(a) 482,220 627,480

Revenue from sales of development properties 21(b) 71,784 31,968

Revenue from sales of goods 7,386 8,000

Rental income 2,410 1,306

563,800 668,754

Other income 22(a) 10,486 5,185

Costs of construction contracts 21(a) (432,906) (582,719)

Costs of sales of development properties (62,560) (31,915)

Costs of goods sold (4,086) (4,940)

Reversal/(recognition) of allowance for diminution in value of 
 development properties 14 669 (34,573)

Depreciation and amortisation (6,629) (6,282)

Selling expenses (3,561) (3,686)

Staff costs 22(c) (19,534) (18,416)

Other expenses 22(b) (14,150) (13,853)

(542,757) (696,384)

Profit/(Loss) from operating activities 31,529 (22,445)

Finance income 23 2,985 4,934

Finance costs 23 (7,974) (5,472)

Net finance costs (4,989) (538)

Share of loss of associate and joint ventures, net of tax (3,137) (1,635)

Profit/(Loss) before tax 23,403 (24,618)

Tax expense 24 (8,698) (5,008)

Profit/(Loss) for the year 14,705 (29,626)

Other comprehensive income

Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Translation differences relating to financial statements of foreign
 subsidiaries 1,171 5,982

Exchange differences on monetary items forming part of net investment 
 in a foreign operation 97 2,506

Equity accounted investee – share of other comprehensive income (283) –

Net change in the fair value of available-for-sale investments (15) (1)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 970 8,487

Total comprehensive income for the year 15,675 (21,139)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015

Note 2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Profit/(Loss) attributable to:

Owners of the Company 10,237 (15,279)

Non-controlling interests 4,468 (14,347)

Profit/(Loss) for the year 14,705 (29,626)

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the Company 11,004 (7,830)

Non-controlling interests 4,671 (13,309)

Total comprehensive income for the year 15,675 (21,139)

Earnings per share

- Basic and diluted (cents) 25 2.23 (3.32)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015

Attributable to owners of the Company

Note
Share

capital
Merger 

reserve
Capital

reserve
Statutory

 reserve

Fair 
value

 reserve

Foreign
 currency

 translation
 reserve

Retained
 earnings Total

Non-
controlling

 interests
Total

equity

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1 January 2014 154,552 (77,720) 29,283 3,564 16 10,035 144,918 264,648 46,301 310,949

Total comprehensive
 income for the year

Loss for the year – – – – – – (15,279) (15,279) (14,347) (29,626)

Other comprehensive
 income

Translation differences
 relating to financial
 statements of foreign
 subsidiaries – – – – – 4,944 – 4,944 1,038 5,982

Exchange differences 
 on monetary items
 forming part of net
 investment in foreign
 operations – – – – – 2,506 – 2,506 – 2,506

Net change in the fair
 value of available-for-
 sale investments – – – – (1) – – (1) – (1)

Total other
 comprehensive income – – – – (1) 7,450 – 7,449 1,038 8,487

Total comprehensive
 income for the year – – – – (1) 7,450 (15,279) (7,830) (13,309) (21,139)

Transaction with
 owners, recognised
 directly in equity

Contributions by and
 distributions to
 owners

Dividends declared 17 – – – – – – (5,515) (5,515) (98) (5,613)

Reclassification of
 reserves to share
 capital 18 27,395 – (27,395) – – – – – – –

Acquisition of non-
 controlling interest
 without a change in
 control – – – – – – (13) (13) 13 –

Capital contribution 
 by non-controlling
 interest – – – – – – – – 12,523 12,523

Total transactions with
 owners of the Company 27,395 – (27,395) – – – (5,528) (5,528) 12,438 6,910

At 31 December 2014 181,947 (77,720) 1,888 3,564 15 17,485 124,111 251,290 45,430 296,720

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015

Attributable to owners of the Company

Note
Share

capital
Treasury

shares
Merger 

reserve
Capital

reserve
Statutory

 reserve

Fair 
value

 reserve

Foreign
 currency 

translation
 reserve

Retained
 earnings Total

Non-
controlling

 interests
Total

equity

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1 January 2015 181,947 – (77,720) 1,888 3,564 15 17,485 124,111 251,290 45,430 296,720

Total comprehensive
 income for the year

Profit for the year – – – – – – – 10,237 10,237 4,468 14,705

Other comprehensive
 income

Translation differences
 relating to financial
 statements of foreign
 subsidiaries – – – – – – 968 – 968 203 1,171

Exchange differences
 on monetary items
 forming part of net
 investment in foreign
 operations – – – – – – 97 – 97 – 97

Equity accounted
 investees - share of
 other comprehensive
 income – – – – – – (283) – (283) – (283)

Net change in the fair
 value of available-
 for-sale investments – – – – – (15) – – (15) – (15)

Total other
 comprehensive
 income – – – – – (15) 782 – 767 203 970

Total comprehensive
 income for the year – – – – – (15) 782 10,237 11,004 4,671 15,675

Transaction with
 owners, recognised
 directly in equity

Contributions by
 and distributions 
 to owners

Purchase of treasury
 shares – (244) – – – – – – (244) – (244)

Dividends declared 17 – – – – – – – (1,838) (1,838) – (1,838)

Capital contribution
 by non-controlling
 interest – – – –

–
– – – – – 9,698 9,698

Total transactions 
 with owners of 
 the Company – (244) – –

–
– – – (1,838) (2,082) 9,698 7,616

At 31 December 2015 181,947 (244) (77,720) 1,888 3,564 – 18,267 132,510 260,212 59,799 320,011

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.



44  |   TIONG SENG HOLDINGS LTD  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2015 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015

Note 2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit/(Loss) from operating activities 31,529 (22,445)

Adjustments for:

(Reversal)/recognition of allowance for diminution in value of 
 development properties (669) 34,573

Depreciation and amortisation 13,185 13,348

Impairment loss on trade receivables 979 459

Impairment loss on intangible assets 1,284 1,656

Gain on disposal of:

- property, plant and equipment (2,000) (270)

- investment properties (593) (683)

Gain on liquidation of a joint venture – (16)

Write off of property, plant and equipment 362 13

44,077 26,635

Changes in:

Inventories 393 420

Construction work-in-progress 13,571 (1,797)

Development properties 7,212 (64,799)

Trade and other receivables (12,348) 28,260

Balances with related parties (trade) (2,157) 3,089

Trade and other payables (3,365) 11,672

Cash generated from operations 47,383 3,480

Tax paid (6,649) (5,737)

Tax refunded 1,757 551

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 42,491 (1,706)

Cash flows from investing activities
Balances with related parties (non-trade) (4,694) (4,015)

Balances with holding company (non-trade) – 2,420

Dividends received from joint ventures – 3,816

Dividend received from available-for-sale financial assets 1 1

Investment in a joint venture (83) (2,860)

Interest received 655 562

Proceeds from disposal of:

- property, plant and equipment 3,071 464

- investment properties 629 1,950

- other investments – –

Purchase of treasury shares (244) –

Proceeds from liquidation of a joint venture – 94

Purchase of:

- other investments – (130)

- property, plant and equipment (25,008) (9,582)

- intangible assets (385) (1,020)

Net cash used in investing activities (26,058) (8,300)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015

Note 2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Cash flows from financing activities

Balances with related parties (non-trade) 1,446 (9,488)

Capital contribution by non-controlling interests – 122

Repayment of loan to non-controlling interest – (996)

Decrease/(increase) in deposits pledged 35,974 (17,778)

Decrease in restricted cash 1,337 8,530

Dividends paid to:

- owners of the Company (1,838) (5,515)

- non-controlling interests – (98)

Interest paid (11,909) (9,962)

Proceeds from issue of rights – 10,026

Proceeds from issue of multicurrency medium term note – 73,541

Payments of finance lease liabilities (1,040) (957)

Proceeds from loans and borrowings 58,688 218,823

Repayment of loans and borrowings (62,495) (246,700)

Net cash from financing activities 20,163 19,548

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 36,596 9,542

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 53,209 44,977

Effect of exchange rate changes on balances held in foreign currencies (1,031) (1,310)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 16 88,774 53,209

Significant non-cash transactions

During the financial year, the Group purchased property, plant and equipment, amounting to $29,509,000 (2014: 
$10,531,000), of which $716,000 (2014: $949,000) was acquired under finance lease arrangement and $3,786,000 (2014: 
Nil) was acquired under trust receipt. 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.



46  |   TIONG SENG HOLDINGS LTD  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2015 

Notes to the Financial Statements

These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 March 2016.

1. Domicile and activities

 Tiong Seng Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a company incorporated in Singapore.  The address of the Company’s 
registered office is 510 Thomson Road, #08-00 SLF Building, Singapore 298135.

 The financial statements of the Group as at and for the year ended 31 December 2015 comprise the Company and 
its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” and individually as “Group entities”) and the Group’s interest in 
equity-accounted investees. 

 The Group is primarily involved in building construction and civil engineering, and property development. 

2. Basis of preparation

2.1 Statement of compliance

 The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (FRS).

2.2 Basis of measurement

 The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as otherwise described in the notes 
below. 

2.3 Functional and presentation currency

 These financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.  All 
financial information presented in Singapore dollars have been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise 
stated.

2.4 Use of estimates and judgements

 The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with FRSs requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses.  Actual results may differ from these estimates.

 Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

 There are no critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have significant effect on the amounts recognised 
in the financial statements. 

 Information about assumptions and other major sources of estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of 
resulting in a material adjustment within the next financial year are included in the following notes:

 Note 5 – Measurement of recoverable amounts of intangible assets
 Note 14 – Measurement of realisable amounts of development properties 
 Note 21 – Revenue and costs recognition from construction contracts and development properties 
 Note 21(a) – Recoverability of construction costs
 Note 24 – Estimation of provisions for current and deferred taxation
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Notes to the Financial Statements

 Measurement of fair values

 A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both financial 
and non-financial assets and liabilities.

 The Group periodically reviews fair value measurements, including Level 3 fair values, where inputs are unobservable.  
If third party information, such as broker quotes or pricing services, is used to measure fair values, then the Group 
assesses and documents the evidence obtained from the third parties to support the conclusion that such valuations 
meet the requirements of FRS, including the level in the fair value hierarchy in which such valuations should be 
classified.

 Significant valuation issues are reported to the Group Audit Committee.

 When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market observable data as far as possible.  
Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation 
techniques as follows:

 l Level 1 : quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
   
	 l Level 2 : inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
   
	 l Level 3 : inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 

inputs).

 If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability might be categorised in different levels of the 
fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value 
hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement (with Level 3 being the lowest).

 The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the reporting period during 
which the change has occurred.

 Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in the following notes:

 Note 6 – investment properties 
 Note 32 – financial instruments

3. Significant accounting policies

 The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial 
statements, and have been applied consistently by Group entities.

3.1 Basis of consolidation

 Business combinations

 Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method in accordance with FRS 103 Business 
Combination as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which control is transferred to the Group.



48  |   TIONG SENG HOLDINGS LTD  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2015 

Notes to the Financial Statements

 The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:

	 l the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus
	 l the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus
	 l if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-existing equity interest in the 

acquiree, 

 over the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.  Any 
goodwill is tested annually for impairment.

 When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

 The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships.  Such 
amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss.

 Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date and included in the 
consideration transferred.  If the contingent consideration that meets the definition of a financial instrument is 
classified as equity, it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity.  Otherwise, subsequent 
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.

 When share-based payment awards (replacement awards) are exchanged for awards held by the acquiree’s employees 
(acquiree’s awards) and relate to past services, then all or a portion of the amount of the acquirer’s replacement 
awards is included in measuring the consideration transferred in the business combination.  This determination is 
based on the market-based value of the replacement awards compared with the market-based value of the acquiree’s 
awards and the extent to which the replacement awards relate to past and/or future service.

 Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s net assets in the event of liquidation are measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ 
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets, at the date of acquisition.  
The measurement basis taken is elected on a transaction-by-transaction basis.  All other non-controlling interests are 
measured at acquisition-date fair value, unless another measurement basis is required by FRSs.

 Costs related to the acquisition, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group 
incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.

 Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as transactions 
with owners in their capacity as owners and therefore no adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is 
recognised in profit or loss.  Adjustments to non-controlling interests arising from transactions that do not involve the 
loss of control are based on a proportionate amount of the net assets of the subsidiary.

 Subsidiaries

 Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.  The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, 
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over 
the entity.  The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date 
that control commences until the date that control ceases.

 The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align them with the policies adopted 
by the Group.  Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are allocated to the non-controlling 
interests even if doing so causes the non-controlling interests to have a deficit balance.

 Acquisitions from entities under common control

 Business combinations arising from transfers of interests in entities that are under the control of the shareholder that 
controls the Group are accounted for as if the acquisition had occurred at the beginning of the earliest comparative 
year presented or, if later, at the date that common control was established; for this purpose comparatives are 
restated.  The assets and liabilities acquired are recognised at the carrying amounts recognised previously in the Group 
controlling shareholder’s consolidated financial statements.  The components of equity of the acquired entities are 
added to the same components within Group equity and any gain/loss arising is recognised directly in equity.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

 Loss of control

 Upon the loss of control, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-controlling 
interests and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary.  Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of 
control is recognised in profit or loss.  If the Group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then such interest 
is measured at fair value at the date that control is lost.  Subsequently, it is accounted for as an equity-accounted 
investee or as an available-for-sale financial asset depending on the level of influence retained.

 Investments in associates and joint ventures (equity-accounted investees) 

 Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over the 
financial and operating policies of these entities.  Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Group holds 20% 
or more of the voting power of another entity.  A joint venture is an arrangement in which the Group has joint control, 
whereby the Group has rights to the net assets of the arrangement, rather than rights to its assets and obligations for 
its liabilities.

 Investments in associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method and are recognised initially 
at cost, which includes transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated financial statements 
include the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of equity-accounted investees, after 
adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of the Group, from the date that significant influence or joint 
control commences until the date that significant influence or joint control ceases.

 When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interests in an equity-accounted investee, the carrying amount of the 
investment, together with any long-term interests that form part thereof, is reduced to zero, and the recognition of 
further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has an obligation to fund the investee’s operations 
or has made payments on behalf of the investee.

 Transactions eliminated on consolidation

 Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income or expenses arising from intra-group transactions, 
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.  Unrealised gains arising from transactions with 
equity-accounted investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee.  
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence 
of impairment.

 Subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures in the separate financial statements

 Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are stated in the Company’s statement of financial position 
at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

3.2 Foreign currency

 Foreign currency transactions

 Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at the 
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
at the end of the reporting period are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date.  The 
foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional currency 
at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the year, and the amortised cost in 
foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the year.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

 Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated 
to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined.  Non-monetary items 
in a foreign currency that are measured in terms of historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date 
of the transaction.  Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss, except for 
the differences which are recognised in other comprehensive income arising on the retranslation of available-for-sale 
equity instruments (except on impairment in which case foreign currency differences that have been recognised in 
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss).

 Foreign operations 

 The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, excluding goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, 
are translated to Singapore dollars at exchange rates at the reporting date.  The income and expenses of foreign 
operations are translated to Singapore dollars at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.  Goodwill and fair 
value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets 
and liabilities of the foreign operation and are translated at the exchange rates at the reporting date.  For acquisitions 
prior to 1 January 2005, the exchange rates at the date of acquisition were used.

 
 Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income, and presented in the foreign currency 

translation reserve (translation reserve) in equity.  However, if the foreign operation is a non-wholly-owned subsidiary, 
then the relevant proportionate share of the translation difference is allocated to the non-controlling interests.  When 
a foreign operation is disposed of such that control, significant influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative amount 
in the translation reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on 
disposal.  When the Group disposes of only part of its interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation while 
retaining control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed to non-controlling interests.  When 
the Group disposes of only part of its investment in an associate or joint venture that includes a foreign operation 
while retaining significant influence or joint control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified to 
profit or loss.

 When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned nor likely 
in the foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains and losses arising from such a monetary item are considered to form 
part of a net investment in a foreign operation are recognised in other comprehensive income, and are presented in 
the translation reserve in equity.

3.3 Property, plant and equipment

 Recognition and measurement

 Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

 Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.  The cost of self-constructed 
assets includes:

	 l the cost of materials and direct labour;
	 l any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use;
 l when the Group has an obligation to remove the asset or restore the site, an estimate of the costs of 

dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located; and
	 l capitalised borrowing costs.

 Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that 
equipment.
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 When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate 
items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

 The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment (calculated as the difference between the net 
proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in profit or loss.

 Subsequent costs

 The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of 
the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the component will flow to the Group, and 
its cost can be measured reliably.  The carrying amount of the replaced component is derecognised.  The costs of the 
day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

 Depreciation

 Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value.  Significant components of individual assets are 
assessed and if a component has a useful life that is different from the remainder of that asset, that component is 
depreciated separately.

 Depreciation is recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 
each component of an item of property, plant and equipment, unless it is included in the carrying amount of another 
asset.  Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably 
certain that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.  Properties under construction and freehold 
land are not depreciated. 

 Depreciation is recognised from the date that the property, plant and equipment are installed and are ready for use, or 
in respect of internally constructed assets, from the date that the asset is completed and ready for use. 

 The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years are as follows:

	 l Leasehold lands Over the term of the lease of 60 years
	 l Leasehold properties Over the terms of the leases of between 10 to 50 years
 l Plant and machinery 3 to 10 years
 l Tools and moulds 20 months to 10 years
 l Furniture, equipment and fittings 3 to 10 years
 l Motor vehicles 3 to 10 years

 Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted if 
appropriate. 

3.4 Intangible assets and goodwill

 Goodwill

 Goodwill that arises upon the acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets.  For the measurement of 
goodwill at initial recognition, see note 3.1.

 Subsequent measurement

 Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.  In respect of associates and joint ventures, the 
carrying amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment, and an impairment loss on such an 
investment is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the associates 
and joint ventures. 
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 Other intangible assets

 Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are identified and recognised separately from goodwill where 
they satisfy the definition of an intangible asset and their fair values can be measured reliably.  Such intangible assets 
are measured initially at cost.  The cost of such intangible assets is their fair value at the acquisition date.

 Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are measured at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets acquired 
separately.

 Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives and 
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.  The amortisation 
period and method are reviewed at least at each financial year-end. Changes in the expected useful life or the 
expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodies in the asset is accounted for by changing the 
amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. 

 Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives or not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually, or 
at the cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset 
with an indefinite useful life is reviewed annually to determine whether the useful life assessment continues to be 
supportable.  If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.

 Patented technology

 Patented technology was acquired in a business combination.  The cost of patented technology is its fair value at 
acquisition date.  Patented technology has finite useful life and is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses.

 Licence fee

 Licence fee represents consideration paid for the rights to install and manufacture construction materials for use in 
the operations.  Licence fee is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

 Computer software

 Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring the use of 
the specific software.  Direct expenditure, which enhances or extends the performance of computer software beyond 
its specifications and which can be reliably measured, is recognised as a capital improvement and added to the original 
cost of the software.  Costs associated with maintaining the computer software are recognised in profit or loss as 
incurred.

 Computer software licences are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

 Subsequent expenditure

 Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific 
asset to which it relates.  All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, is 
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

 Amortisation

 Amortisation is calculated based on the cost of the asset, less its residual value. 
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 Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets, 
other than goodwill, from the date that they are available for use.  The estimated useful lives for the current and 
comparative years are as follows:

	 l Patented technology 5 years
	 l Licence fee Over the respective life of the licences of 1 to 10 years
 l Computer software 3 years

 Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted 
if appropriate.

3.5 Investment properties

 Investment properties are properties held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both, but not 
for sale in the ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative 
purposes.  

 Investment properties are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

 Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment properties.  The cost of 
self-constructed investment properties includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly 
attributable to bringing the investment properties to a working condition for their intended use and capitalised 
borrowing costs.

 Any gain or loss on disposal of an investment property (calculated as the difference between the net proceeds from 
disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in profit or loss.

 Depreciation

 Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each component 
of investment properties.

 The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years are as follows: 

	 l Freehold properties 50 years
	 l Leasehold properties Shorter of 50 years or lease period ranging from 35 years to 99 years
	 l Development properties 35 years

 Depreciation methods and useful lives are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted if appropriate.

3.6 Financial instruments

 Non-derivative financial assets

 The Group initially recognises loans and receivables on the date that they are originated.  All other financial assets 
(including assets designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially on the trade date, which is the 
date that the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

 The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it 
transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred, or it neither transfers nor retains 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain control over the transferred asset.  Any 
interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or 
liability.
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 Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, 
and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to 
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

 The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following categories: loans and receivables and available-
for-sale financial assets.

 Loans and receivables

 Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market.  Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent 
to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less 
any impairment losses.

 Loans and receivables comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and amounts due from related 
parties.

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and short-term deposits.  For the purpose of the statement of cash 
flows, pledged deposits and restricted cash are excluded whilst bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and 
that form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included in cash and cash equivalents.

 Available-for-sale financial assets

 Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for sale or are 
not classified in any other categories of financial assets.  Available-for-sale financial assets are recognised initially at 
fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair 
value and changes therein, other than impairment losses and foreign currency differences on available-for-sale debt 
instruments, are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the fair value reserve in equity.  When an 
investment is derecognised, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is reclassified to profit or loss.

 Available-for-sale financial assets comprise equity securities.

 Non-derivative financial liabilities

 The Group initially recognises debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the date that they are originated.  
Financial liabilities for contingent consideration payable in a business combination are recognised at the date of 
acquisition.  All other financial liabilities (including liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss) are 
recognised initially on the trade date, which is the date that the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument.

 The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.

 Financial liabilities for contingent consideration payable in a business combination are initially measured at fair value.  
Subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss. 

 Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, 
and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to 
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

 The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the other financial liabilities category.  Such financial 
liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial 
recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

 Other financial liabilities comprise loans and borrowings, bank overdrafts, trade and other payables and amounts due 
to related parties.
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 Share capital

 Ordinary shares

 Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are 
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

 Repurchase, disposal and reissue of share capital (treasury shares)

 When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, which includes directly 
attributable costs, net of any tax effects, is recognised as a deduction from equity.  Repurchased shares are classified 
as treasury shares and are presented in the reserve for own share account.  When treasury shares are sold or reissued 
subsequently, the amount received is recognised as an increase in equity, and the resulting surplus or deficit on the 
transaction is presented in non-distributable capital reserve.

 Financial guarantees

 Financial guarantees are financial instruments issued by the Group that require the issuer to make specific payments 
to reimburse the holder for the loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to meet payment when due in accordance 
with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument. 

 Financial guarantees are accounted for in the Group’s financial statements as insurance contracts.  A provision 
is recognised based on the Group’s estimate of the ultimate cost of settling all claims incurred but unpaid at the 
reporting date.  The provision is assessed by reviewing individual claims and tested for adequacy by comparing the 
amount recognised and the amount that would be required to settle the guarantee contract.

3.7 Impairment

 Non-derivative financial assets 

 A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss, including an interest in an associate and joint venture, 
is assessed at the end of each reporting period to determine whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired.  A 
financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event(s) has occurred after the initial recognition 
of the asset, and that the loss event(s) has impact on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be 
estimated reliably.

 Objective evidence that financial assets (including equity securities) are impaired can include default or delinquency 
by a debtor, restructuring of an amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise, 
indications that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or 
issuers in the Group, economic conditions that correlate with defaults or the disappearance of an active market for a 
security.  In addition, for an investment in an equity security, a significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below 
its cost is objective evidence of impairment.

 Loans and receivables 

 The Group considers evidence of impairment for loans and receivables at both a specific asset and collective level.  
All individually significant loans and receivables are assessed for specific impairment.  All individually significant 
receivables found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been 
incurred but not yet identified.  Loans and receivables that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for 
impairment by grouping together loans and receivables with similar risk characteristics.
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 In assessing collective impairment, the Group uses historical trends of the probability of default, the timing of 
recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management’s judgement as to whether current economic 
and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested by historical trends.

 An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between 
its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the asset’s original 
effective interest rate.  Losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against loans and 
receivables.  Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognised.  When the Group considers that there are no 
realistic prospects of recovery of the asset, the relevant amounts are written off.  If the amount of impairment loss 
subsequently decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognised, then the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

 Available-for-sale financial assets

 Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are recognised by reclassifying the losses accumulated in 
the fair value reserve in equity to profit or loss.  The cumulative loss that is reclassified from equity to profit or loss 
is the difference between the acquisition cost, net of any principal repayment and amortisation, and the current fair 
value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in profit or loss. Changes in cumulative impairment provisions 
attributable to application of the effective interest method are reflected as a component of interest income.  If, in 
a subsequent period, the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale debt security increases and the increase can 
be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, then the impairment loss is 
reversed.  The amount of the reversal is recognised in profit or loss.  However, any subsequent recovery in the fair 
value of an impaired available-for-sale equity security is recognised in other comprehensive income.

 Associates and joint ventures

 An impairment loss in respect of an associate or joint venture is measured by comparing the recoverable amount of 
the investment with its carrying amount in accordance with note 3.7 (see below).  An impairment loss is recognised in 
profit or loss.  An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to determine 
the recoverable amount.

 Non-financial assets

 The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than investment properties, inventories, development 
properties and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication 
of impairment.  If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.  For goodwill, and 
intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives or that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is 
estimated each year at the same time.  An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its 
related cash-generating unit (CGU) exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.

 The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell.  In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU.  
For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the 
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash 
inflows of other assets or CGUs.  Subject to an operating segment ceiling test, for the purpose of goodwill impairment 
testing, CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated are aggregated so that the level at which impairment testing is 
performed reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal reporting purposes. Goodwill acquired 
in a business combination is allocated to groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination.
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 The Group’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows and are utilised by more than one CGU.  Corporate 
assets are allocated to CGUs on a reasonable and consistent basis and tested for impairment as part of the testing of 
the CGU to which the corporate asset is allocated.

 Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.  Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first 
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU (group of CGUs), and then to reduce the carrying 
amounts of the other assets in the CGU (group of CGUs) on a pro rata basis.

 An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised 
in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer 
exists.  An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable 
amount.  An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had 
been recognised.

 Goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of an investment in an associate is not recognised separately, and 
therefore is not tested for impairment separately.  Instead, the entire amount of the investment in an associate is 
tested for impairment as a single asset when there is objective evidence that the investment in an associate may be 
impaired.

3.8 Construction work-in-progress

 Construction work-in-progress represents the gross unbilled amount expected to be collected from customers for 
contract work performed to date. It is measured at cost plus profit recognised to date (see note 3.15) less progress 
billings and recognised losses.  Cost includes all expenditure related directly to specific projects and an allocation of 
fixed and variable overheads incurred in the Group’s contract activities based on normal operating capacity.  Allowance 
is made where applicable for any foreseeable losses on uncompleted contracts as soon as the possibility of the loss is 
ascertained.

 Construction work-in-progress is presented in the statement of financial position as a current asset under 
“construction work-in-progress” for all contracts in which costs incurred plus recognised profits exceed progress 
billings.  If progress billings exceed costs incurred plus recognised profits, then the difference is presented as a current 
liability under “progress billings in excess of construction work-in-progress” in the statement of financial position as 
applicable.

 Progress claims not yet paid by the customers are included in the statement of financial position under “accrued 
receivables”.  Amounts received before the related work is performed are included in the statement of financial 
position, as a liability, as “progress billings in excess of construction work-in-progress”.

3.9 Development properties

 Development properties are those properties which are held with the intention of development and sale in the 
ordinary course of business.

 Properties under development for sale

 Properties under development for sale are stated at lower of cost and estimated net realisable value.  Net realisable 
value takes into account the price ultimately expected to be realised and the anticipated costs to completion. Cost of 
properties under development comprise specifically identified costs, including land acquisition costs, development 
expenditure, borrowing costs and other related expenditure, less any allowance for diminution in value of property 
considered necessary by the management.  Borrowing costs payable on loans funding a development property are 
also capitalised, on a specific identification basis, as cost of the development property until the date of its practical 
completion.

 When it is probable that total development costs will exceed total revenue, an allowance is recognised as an expense 
immediately.

 When completed, the units held for sale are classified as completed properties for sale.
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 Completed properties for sale

 Completed properties for sale but remain unsold at year end are stated at lower of cost and net realisable value.  Cost 
is determined by apportionment of the total development costs for that development project attributable to the 
unsold properties.  Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less costs to be incurred in selling the 
property.

 Development properties are classified as current assets in the statement of financial position.  Payments received 
from purchasers arising from pre-sales of the property units prior to the completion or physical handover to the 
purchasers are included as receipts in advance under current liabilities in the statement of financial position.

 Reclassification to investment properties

 When the use of a property changes from development property to investment property, the property is measured at 
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses and reclassified accordingly.

3.10 Inventories

 Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  The cost of inventories is based on the first-in 
first-out principle, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs and 
other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition.  In the case of manufactured inventories, 
cost includes an appropriate share of production overheads based on normal operating capacity.

 Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of 
completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

3.11 Club memberships

 Club memberships are measured at cost less accumulated impairment loss.

3.12 Employee benefits

 Defined contribution plans

 A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a 
separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions 
to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods 
during which related services are rendered by employees.

 Short-term employee benefits

 Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related 
service is provided.  A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-
sharing plans if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service 
provided by the employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

3.13 Provisions

 A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can 
be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.  
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.  The unwinding of the discount is 
recognised as finance cost.
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3.14 Leases

 When entities within the Group are lessees of a finance lease

 Leased assets in which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance 
leases.  Upon initial recognition, the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and 
the present value of the minimum lease payments.  Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in 
accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.

 Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction 
of the outstanding liability.  The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a 
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

 Other leases are operating leases not recognised in the Group’s statement of financial position.

 When entities within the Group are lessees of an operating lease

 Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
lease.  Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the 
lease.

 
 Contingent lease payments are accounted for by revising the minimum lease payments over the remaining term of the 

lease when the lease adjustment is confirmed.

 When entities within the Group are lessors of an operating lease

 Where the Group leases out assets under operating leases, the leased assets are included in statement of financial 
position according to their nature and, where applicable, are depreciated in accordance with Group’s depreciation 
policies.  Revenue arising from operating leases is recognised in accordance with the Group’s revenue recognition 
policies.

3.15 Revenue

 Construction contracts

 Contract revenue includes the initial amount agreed in the contract plus any variations in contract work, claims and 
incentive payments, to the extent that it is probable that they will result in revenue and can be measured reliably.  
When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised in profit or loss 
in proportion to the stage of completion of the contract.  Contract expenses are recognised as incurred unless they 
create an asset related to future contract activity. 

 The stage of completion is assessed by reference to surveys of work performed.  When the outcome of a construction 
contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract costs incurred that 
are likely to be recoverable.  An expected loss on a contract is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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 Sales of development properties

 The Group recognises income on property development projects when the risks and rewards of ownership have been 
transferred to the buyer which is typically evidenced by fulfilment of the followings:

 (a) receipt of completion certificate;

 (b) financial contracts are signed and registered with housing authorities in the relevant province in the People’s 
Republic of China;

 (c) receipt of 100% of the sales amount under contract; and

 (d) keys are handed over to purchasers of the unit.

 Sales of goods

 Revenue from the sale of goods in the course of ordinary activities is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable, net of returns, trade discounts and volume rebates.  Revenue is recognised when significant 
risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer, recovery of the consideration is probable, 
the associated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, there is no continuing management 
involvement with the goods, and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.  If it is probable that discounts will 
be granted and the amount can be measured reliably, then the discount is recognised as a reduction of revenue as the 
sales are recognised.

 Rental income 

 Rental income from investment property is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
lease.  Lease incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income, over the term of the 
lease.  

3.16 Government grants

 An unconditional government grant to encourage city re-development is recognised in profit or loss as other income 
upon receipt. 

 Other government grants related to assets are recognised as a deduction in arriving at the carrying amount of the 
asset when there is reasonable assurance that they will be received and the Group will comply with the conditions 
associated with the grant.

3.17 Finance income and finance costs

 Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested (including available-for-sale financial assets), dividend 
income, accretion of discount implicit in retention sum receivables and implicit interest in retention sum payables.  
Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method.  Dividend income is 
recognised in profit or loss on the date that the Group’s right to receive payment is established, which in the case of 
quoted securities is normally the ex-dividend date.

 Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, amortisation of borrowings related costs, accretion of implicit 
interest in retention sum payables and discount implicit in retention sum receivables.

 Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset 
are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

 Foreign currency gains and losses on financial assets and financial liabilities are reported on a net basis as either 
finance income or finance cost depending on whether foreign currency movements are in a net gain or net loss 
position.
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3.18 Tax

 Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.  Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss except 
to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive 
income.

 Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous 
years.

 Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.  Deferred tax is not recognised for:

	 l temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;

	 l temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures to the extent that 
the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of temporary difference and it is probable that they will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

 l taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

 The measurement of deferred taxes reflect the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which the Group 
expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.  Deferred tax is 
measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the 
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and 
assets and they relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, 
but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be 
realised simultaneously.

 A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised.  Deferred tax 
assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related 
tax benefit will be realised.

 In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Group takes into account the impact of uncertain tax 
positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due.  The Group believes that its accruals for tax liabilities 
are adequate for all open tax years based on its assessment of many factors, including interpretations of tax law and 
prior experience.  This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of judgements about 
future events.  New information may become available that causes the Group to change its judgement regarding the 
adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a 
determination is made.

3.19 Earnings per share 

 The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share data for its ordinary shares.  Basic earnings per share is 
calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted-average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, adjusted for own shares held.  Diluted earnings per share is 
determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for own shares held, for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
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3.20 Segment reporting

 An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn 
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s 
other components.  All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the Group’s CEO (the chief 
operating decision maker) to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its 
performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.

 Segment results that are reported to the Group’s CEO include items directly attributable to a segment as well as 
those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.  Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets, head office 
expenses, and tax assets and liabilities.

 Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the year to acquire property, plant and equipment, and 
intangible assets other than goodwill.

3.21 New standards and interpretations not adopted

 A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning 
after 1 January 2015, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements.  The Group is currently 
assessing the potential impact of adopting these new standards and interpretations, on the financial statements of 
the Group and the Company. The Group does not plan to adopt these standards early.

 These new standards include, among others, FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and FRS 109 Financial 
Instruments which are mandatory for the adoption by the Group on 1 January 2018.

	 l FRS 115 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue 
is recognised. It also introduces a new cost guidance which requires certain costs of obtaining and fulfilling 
contracts to be recognised as separate assets when specified criteria are met.  When effective, FRS 115 
replaces existing revenue recognition guidance, including FRS 18 Revenue, FRS 11 Construction Contracts, INT 
FRS 113 Customer Loyalty Programmes, INT FRS 115 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate, INT FRS 
118 Transfers of Assets from Customers and INT FRS 31 Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving Advertising 
Services.

	 l FRS 109 replaces most of the existing guidance in FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. 
It includes revised guidance on classification and measurement of financial instruments, a new expected credit 
loss model for calculating impairment on financial assets, and new general hedge accounting requirements.

 As FRS 115 and FRS 109, when effective, will change the existing accounting standards and guidance applied by the 
Group and the Company in accounting for revenue and financial instruments, these standards are expected to be 
relevant to the Group and the Company. 

 The Accounting Standard Council (ASC) announced on 29 May 2014 that Singapore-incorporated companies listed on 
the Singapore Exchange (SGX) will apply a new financial reporting framework identical to the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) for financial year ending 31 December 2018 onwards.  Singapore-incorporated companies 
listed on SGX will have to assess the impact of IFRS 1: First time adoption of IFRS when transitioning to the new 
reporting framework. 
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4. Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold 
lands

Freehold
land

Leasehold 
properties

Plant 
and

 machinery 
Tools and

 moulds

Furniture,
 equipment 
and fittings

Motor 
vehicles

Properties
 under 

construction Total

Group $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cost

At 1 January 2014 5,557 4,836 41,452 51,360 52,162 5,542 7,177 324 168,410

Additions – – – 5,823 1,801 1,149 645 1,113 10,531

Disposals – – – (785) (32) (30) (214) – (1,061)

Write-off – – – – – (67) (63) – (130)

Effects of movements 
 in exchange rates – (126) 21 122 (10) (61) 94 4 44

At 31 December 2014 5,557 4,710 41,473 56,520 53,921 6,533 7,639 1,441 177,794

Additions 8,435 – – 11,695 2,374 670 1,689 4,646 29,509

Disposals – – (268) (3,618) (341) (181) (1,755) – (6,163)

Cost adjustments – – (957) – – – – – (957)

Write-off – – – (2,137) (390) (302) (1,786) – (4,615)

Effects of movements 
 in exchange rates – (599) (5) (364) (69) 75 (221) (323) (1,506)

At 31 December 2015 13,992 4,111 40,243 62,096 55,495 6,795 5,566 5,764 194,062

Accumulated
 depreciation and  
 impairment losses

At 1 January 2014 656 – 6,764 25,856 39,165 3,957 4,960 – 81,358

Depreciation for the year 104 – 707 4,884 3,035 881 690 – 10,301

Disposals – – – (636) (18) (27) (186) – (867)

Write-off – – – – – (61) (56) – (117)

Effects of movements 
 in exchange rates – – 7 83 (4) (33) 68 – 121

At 31 December 2014 760 – 7,478 30,187 42,178 4,717 5,476 – 90,796

Depreciation for the year 379 – 1,702 4,836 3,173 845 540 – 11,475

Disposals – – (87) (3,397) (104) (188) (1,316) – (5,092)

Write-off – – – (1,973) (390) (227) (1,663) – (4,253)

Effects of movements 
 in exchange rates – – (1) (310) (31) 40 (168) – (470)

At 31 December 2015 1,139 – 9,092 29,343 44,826 5,187 2,869 – 92,456

Carrying amounts

At 1 January 2014 4,901 4,836 34,688 25,504 12,997 1,585 2,217 324 87,052

At 31 December 2014 4,797 4,710 33,995 26,333 11,743 1,816 2,163 1,441 86,998

At 31 December 2015 12,853 4,111 31,151 32,753 10,669 1,608 2,697 5,764 101,606
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 The depreciation for the year is analysed as follows:

Group

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Depreciation for the year 11,475 10,301

Depreciation included in construction work-in-progress (6,556) (7,066)

Depreciation charged to profit or loss 4,919 3,235

 Impairment test

 The Group reviews the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment as at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, the assets’ recoverable amount is 
estimated.  Determining the recoverable amount requires the determination of future cash flows expected to be 
generated from the continued use and ultimate disposition of the assets.  This requires the Group to make estimates 
and assumptions that can materially affect the financial statements.

 Assets held under finance lease 

 The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment under finance leases are as follows:

Group

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Plant and machinery 1,824 2,132

Motor vehicles 1,162 1,026

2,986 3,158

 Security

 Certain property, plant and equipment are mortgaged to the banks as collateral for credit facilities provided to the 
Group as disclosed in note 20.
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5. Intangible assets

Patented
 technology

Licence 
fee

Computer
 software Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

Cost

At 1 January 2014 11,225 263 570 12,058

Additions 1,017 – 3 1,020

Effect of movements in exchange rates (293) – 5 (288)

At 31 December 2014 11,949 263 578 12,790

Additions 289 – 96 385

Effect of movements in exchange rates 240 – 1 241

At 31 December 2015 12,478 263 675 13,416

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses

At 1 January 2014 5,476 128 147 5,751

Amortisation for the year 1,841 35 59 1,935

Impairment losses 1,656 – – 1,656

Effect of movements in exchange rates (76) – 1 (75)

At 31 December 2014 8,897 163 207 9,267

Amortisation for the year 974 35 65 1,074

Impairment losses 1,284 – – 1,284

Effect of movements in exchange rates 43 – 1 44

At 31 December 2015 11,198 198 273 11,669

Carrying amounts

At 1 January 2014 5,749 135 423 6,307

At 31 December 2014 3,052 100 371 3,523

At 31 December 2015 1,280 65 402 1,747

 The amortisation of intangible assets is included in depreciation and amortisation in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income.

 Impairment test

 As at 31 December 2015, the Group performed an impairment review to assess the recoverable amount of its patented 
technology.  The recoverable amounts of the cash-generated units (“CGU”) (comprising manufacturing CGU and 
licensing CGU) were based on their value-in-use.  Based on the assessment of value-in-use, to the extent that the 
carrying amounts of the manufacturing and licensing CGUs exceeded their recoverable amounts, an impairment loss of 
$1,284,000 (2014: $1,384,000) and $Nil (2014: $272,000) were recognised respectively.  
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 The value-in-use was determined by discounting the future cash flows expected to be generated from the continuing 
use of the patented technology.  The calculation of the value-in-use was based on the following assumptions:

	 l The estimated revenue included in the cash flow projections for years 2016 to 2020 have been based on 
average growth rate of 0.5% (2014: 0.5%) per annum;

 l Inflation rate of 2% (2014: 2%) was projected for the expected variable costs; and
	 l A pre-tax discount rate of 8.2% (2014: 7.7%) was applied in determining the recoverable amount.

 The values assigned to the key assumptions represent management’s assessment of future trends in the industry and 
are based on external and internal sources (historical data).

 As at 31 December 2015, the recoverable amounts of the CGUs were as follows:

Group

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Recoverable amount:

- manufacturing CGU – 1,698

- licensing CGU 2,295 1,354

2,295 3,052

6. Investment properties

Group

$’000

Cost

At 1 January 2014 22,359

Disposals (1,455)

Effect of movements in exchange rates 762

At 31 December 2014 21,666

Reclassification from development properties 173

Disposals (51)

Effect of movements in exchange rates 214

At 31 December 2015 22,002

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

At 1 January 2014 4,360

Depreciation for the year 1,112

Disposals (188)

Effect of movements in exchange rates 177

At 31 December 2014 5,461

Depreciation for the year 636

Disposals (15)

Effect of movements in exchange rates 40

At 31 December 2015 6,122
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Group

$’000

Carrying amounts

At 1 January 2014 17,999

At 31 December 2014 16,205

At 31 December 2015 15,880

 Investment properties comprise commercial properties leased to external customers and held for capital appreciation.

 During the year, two commercial units with carrying amount of $173,000 that were previously classified as 
development properties were leased to third parties. Accordingly, the unit have been reclassified to investment 
properties. 

 Management had assessed the recoverable amounts of the investment properties based on fair values.  The fair value 
of the investment properties as at 31 December 2015 is $42,669,000 (2014: $45,351,000).

 Determination of fair value

 The fair values of investment properties located in Singapore and PRC are based on market values (market comparison 
approach), being the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on the date of valuation between a 
willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction.  Fair values are determined by management having 
regard to recent market transactions for similar properties in the same locations.

 The fair value measurement for investment properties not carried at fair value but for which fair values are disclosed 
has been categorised as a Level 3 fair value based on the inputs to the valuation technique used (see note 2.4).

 Investment properties leased out under operating leases

 The Group leases out investment properties under operating leases.  Each of the leases is generally for a period within 
one year, and subsequent renewals are negotiated at prevailing market rate and terms.

 Minimum lease receivables

 The Group’s total future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Group

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Within one year 263 257

 Securities

 Certain investment properties of the Group are mortgaged to banks to secure credit facilities as disclosed in note 20.

7. Subsidiaries

Company

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Unquoted shares in subsidiaries, at cost 59,624 59,624
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 Details of the significant subsidiaries at the end of the financial year are as follows:

Company names Principal activities
Country of 

incorporation

Effective equity interest 
held 

by the Group

2015 2014

% %

(i) Direct subsidiary

 Tiong Seng Contractors
  (Private) Limited (“Tiong
  Seng Contractors”)1 

Construction works Singapore 100 100

(ii) Indirect subsidiaries

 Robin Village Development
  Pte. Ltd.1

Pre-casting Singapore 100 100

 Tianjin Zizhulin Guangang
  Property Development 
  Co., Ltd. (“Guangang”)2

Property development PRC 64 64

 Suzhou Changhe Investment
  and Development Co., Ltd.
  (“Changhe”)3

Property development PRC 100 100

 Cangzhou Huashi Property
  Development Co., Ltd.
  (“Cangzhou Huashi”)2

Property development PRC 41 41

 1 Audited by KPMG LLP, Singapore

	 2	 Audited	by	Tianjin	Ruitai	Certified	Public	Accountants	Co.,	Ltd.,	PRC

	 3	 Audited	by	Suzhou	Rui	Ya	Certified	Public	Accountants	Co.,	Ltd.,	PRC

8. Associates and joint ventures

Group

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Interest in associate – –

Interests in joint ventures – 1,063

– 1,063

Loan to a joint venture 22,200 22,200

22,200 23,263

 The loan to a joint venture is unsecured and bears interest from 1.54% to 2.38% (2014: 1.50% to 1.54%) per annum.  
The settlement of the loan is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future.  As the amount is, in 
substance, a part of the Company’s net investments in the joint venture, it is stated at cost less impairment.
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 Associate

 Detail of the associate is as follows: 

Name of associate Principal activities
Country of 

Incorporation

Effective equity interest 
held 

by the Group

2015 2014

% %

Fierce (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. Advertising and related
 business

PRC 40 40

 The associate is not considered significant in accordance with Rule 718 of the Singapore Exchange Limited Listing 
Manual.  For this purpose, an associated company is considered significant as defined under the Singapore Exchange 
Limited Listing Manual, if the Group’s share of its net tangible assets represents 20% or more of the Group’s 
consolidated net tangible assets, or if the Group’s share of its pre-tax profits accounts for 20% or more of the Group’s 
consolidated pre-tax profits.

 The summarised financial information relating to associate not adjusted for the percentage of ownership held by the 
Group is as follows:

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Assets and liabilities

Total assets 124 123

Total liabilities (393) (389)

Results

Revenue – –

Expenses (1) *

Profit after taxation (1) *

 *  Less than $1,000

 The Group has not recognised its share of the current year loss and cumulative losses relating to its associate 
amounting to $1,000 and $108,000 respectively, because the Group has no obligation in respect of these losses.  

 There were no capital commitments and contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2015 and 2014.
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 Joint ventures

 Details of the joint ventures are as follows:

Name of joint venture Principal activities

Country of 
incorporation/ 

operation

Effective equity interest 
held 

by the Group

2015 2014

% %

Incorporated joint ventures

Cesma-Hua Kok-Tiong Seng-
 Neo Construction (India) 
 Private Limited1

Construction works India 25 25

Feature (Balmoral) Pte. Ltd.3 Real estate development Singapore 30 30

Geostr-RV Pte. Ltd.3 Construction works Singapore 44 44

High Tech Precast Co., Ltd.5 Construction works Myanmar 30 –

Unincorporated joint ventures

Samsung-Tiong Seng Joint 
 Venture (partnership)4

Building construction Singapore 30 30

Kajima-Tiong Seng Joint
 Venture (partnership)2

Building construction Singapore 40 40

Kajima-Tiong Seng Joint 
 Venture (partnership)2

Construction works Singapore 30 30

Kajima-Tiong Seng Joint 
 Venture (partnership)2

Building construction Singapore 20 20

GS E&C – TSC JV (partnership)3 Construction works Singapore 30 30

Samsung-Tiong Seng Joint 
 Venture (partnership)3

Building construction Singapore 45 45

Tiong Seng-Dongah Joint 
 Venture (partnership)3

Construction works Singapore 66 66

 1 Audited by Ramasamy Koteswara Rao & Co

	 2	 Audited	by	Smalley	and	Co.	

 3 Audited by KPMG LLP, Singapore

 4 Audited by RSM Chio Lim Stone Forest

 5 Audited by Khin Su Htay & Associates Limited
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 All joint ventures are unlisted joint arrangements in which the Group has joint control via investors’ agreements, and 
are the Group’s strategic partners, principally engaged in building construction and property development.

 Joint ventures are structured as separate vehicle and the Group has residual interests in its net assets.  Accordingly, 
the Group has classified its interests as joint ventures, which is equity accounted.

 The following summarises the financial information of each of the Group’s material joint ventures based on their 
respective financial statements prepared in accordance with FRS, modified for fair value adjustments on acquisition 
and differences in the Group’s accounting policies.  The table also includes summarised financial information for the 
Group’s interests in immaterial joint ventures, based on the amounts reported in the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements.

Feature
 (Balmoral) 

Pte. Ltd.

GS E&C –
 TSC JV

 (partnership)

Samsung-
Tiong Seng 

Joint
Venture

 (partnership)

Tiong Seng
 Dongah

Joint Venture
 (partnership)

Individually
 immaterial

joint
ventures Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2015

Revenue 25,358 55,978 3,326 57,710

Profit/(loss) after tax/Total
 comprehensive income(a) 723 (12,460) (12,764) 2,176

Non-current assets 154 10,622 6,174 1,293

Current assets(b) 151,370 11,849 24,072 9,040

Non-current liabilities(c) (148,039) (3,607) – (1,293)

Current liabilities(d) (3,352) (21,686) (58,229) (6,864)

Net assets/(liabilities) 133 (2,822) (27,983) 2,176

Group’s interest in net assets/
 (liabilities) of investee at
 beginning of the year (177) 2,773 (6,908) – 5,375 1,063

Share of total comprehensive
 income 195 (3,619) (5,684) 1,436 4,535 (3,137)

Group’s contribution during 
 the year – – – – 83 83

Carrying amount of interest in
 investee at end of the year 18 (846) (12,592) 1,436 9,993 (1,991)

Reclassification of losses to 
 amount due from joint ventures 1,991

Carrying amount of interest in 
 investee at end of the year –
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Feature
 (Balmoral) 

Pte. Ltd.

GS E&C –
TSC JV 

(partnership)

Samsung-
Tiong Seng

Joint Venture
 (partnership)

Individually
 immaterial

joint ventures Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2014

Revenue 10,700 56,904 43,582

(Loss)/Profit after tax/Total
 comprehensive income(a) (1,979) 73 (8,140)

Non-current assets 204 8,410 5,646

Current assets(b) 149,753 20,333 43,821

Non-current liabilities(c) (147,728) (2,802) (4,509)

Current liabilities(d) (2,818) (16,699) (60,310)

Net (liabilities)/assets (589) 9,242 (15,352)

Group’s interest in net assets/
 (liabilities) of investee at
 beginning of the year 417 2,751 (3,245) 3,780 3,703

Share of total comprehensive income (594) 22 (3,663) 2,551 (1,684)

Dividends received during the year – – – (3,816) (3,816)

Group’s contribution during the year – – – 2,860 2,860

Carrying amount of interest in 
 investee at end of the year (177) 2,773 (6,908) 5,375 1,063

 (a) includes:
  - depreciation and amortisation of $nil (2014: $1,000).

  - interest expense of $nil (2014: $nil).

  - tax expense of $50,000 (2014: tax credit of $168,000).

 (b) includes cash and cash equivalents of $28,516,000 (2014: $25,662,000).

 (c) includes non-current financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and provisions) of $151,646,000 (2014: $155,039,000).

 (d) includes current financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and provisions) of $64,374,000 (2014: $65,285,000). 

 The Group’s share of commitment has been included in note 27(a), and contingent liabilities are disclosed in note 29.

 Details of significant judgement relating to revenue and cost recognition of construction contract are set out in note 
21(a).
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9. Trade and other receivables

Group Company

Note 2015 2014 2015 2014

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Non-current

Retention monies on construction
 contracts 30,748 23,520 – –

30,748 23,520 – –

Current

Trade receivables 52,657 48,330 – –

Less: Allowance for impairment 
  loss on trade receivables 32(b) (700) (661) – –

51,957 47,669 – –

Advances to suppliers:

- trade 3,322 3,097 – –

- non-trade – 152 – –

Accrued receivables 74,388 67,734 – –

Retention monies on construction
 contracts 51,273 65,156 – –

Deposits and prepayments 8,412 3,181 6 9

Tax prepayments 6,332 2,942 – –

Other receivables 10,429 9,864 – –

206,113 199,795 6 9

Total 236,861 223,315 6 9

 The Group and the Company’s exposure to credit and currency risks, and impairment losses for trade and other 
receivables are disclosed in note 32.

10. Other investments

Group

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Club membership, at cost 347 347

Available-for-sale financial assets

Quoted equity investments, at fair value 23 41

Unquoted equity investments, at cost 8,709 8,709

Impairment losses (2,949) (2,949)

5,760 5,760

6,130 6,148
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 Unquoted equity securities are measured at cost less impairment losses as the fair values cannot be determined 
reliably.  The value of the unquoted equity securities is dependent on the ultimate method of disposal.  The disposal 
could be effected, for example, by way of a private transaction to strategic buyers or other financial parties, or via 
a public offering.  As such, the variability in the range of reasonable fair value estimates is significant and the 
probabilities of the various estimates within the range of reasonable inputs are not sufficiently reliable to determine a 
fair value. 

11. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

 Movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities of the Group (prior to offsetting of balances) during the year are as 
follows:

At 
1 January 

2014

Recognised
in profit 

or loss
(note 24)

Effects of
 movements
 in exchange

 rates

At 31
 December

 2014

Recognised
in profit 

or loss
(note 24)

Effects of
 movements
 in exchange

 rates

At 31 
December 

2015

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

Deferred tax assets

Property, plant and equipment 152 – – 152 (152) – –

Investment properties 201 (78) 6 129 (79) 2 52

Trade and other payables 154 10 – 164 6 – 170

Inventories 96 – – 96 (96) – –

Estimated benefit on loss
  carry forward 3,474 (594) 78 2,958 201 31 3,190

4,077 (662) 84 3,499 (120) 33 3,412

Deferred tax liabilities

Property, plant and equipment (3,055) (573) – (3,628) (1,021) – (4,649)

Intangible assets (498) 299 – (199) 199 – –

Trade and other payables (166) – (10) (176) – (3) (179)

Unabsorbed capital allowances (2) – – (2) 2 – –

(3,721) (274) (10) (4,005) (820) (3) (4,828)
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 Deferred tax liabilities and assets are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes relate to the same tax authority.  The amounts determined 
after appropriate offsetting are included in the statement of financial position as follows:

Group

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Deferred tax assets 3,140 3,334

Deferred tax liabilities (4,556) (3,840)

 Unrecognised deferred tax assets

 Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

Group

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Deductible temporary differences 26,131 27,928

Tax losses 47,783 57,068

73,914 84,996

 The tax losses are subject to agreement by the tax authorities and compliance with tax regulations in the respective 
countries in which certain subsidiaries operate.  Except for tax losses of $45,723,000 (2014: $52,339,000) which 
expire in 5 to 7 years, the remaining amounts do not expire under their respective current tax legislation.  Deferred tax 
assets have not been recognised in respect of these items because it may not be probable that future taxable profit 
will be available against which the Group can utilise the benefits thereform.

 Deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised for withholding and other taxes that would be payable on the 
unremitted earnings of $23,005,000 (2014: $16,669,000) of certain overseas subsidiaries for the year ended 31 
December 2015 as the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference arising from such amounts can be controlled 
and it is probable that such temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

12. Inventories

Group

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Raw materials and consumables 1,875 2,173

 In 2015, raw materials recognised as cost of sales amounted to $2,729,000 (2014: $3,261,000).
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13. Construction work-in-progress

Group

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Costs incurred 1,747,606 1,708,804

Attributable profits less recognised losses 128,927 115,718

1,876,533 1,824,522

Progress billings (1,846,241) (1,780,659)

30,292 43,863

Represented by:

Construction work-in-progress 45,430 50,917

Progress billings in excess of construction work-in-progress (15,138) (7,054)

30,292 43,863

 The followings were capitalised in construction work-in-progress during the year:

Group

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 6,556 7,066

Staff costs 55,310 65,254

61,866 72,320

14. Development properties

Group

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Completed properties held for sale 46,942 30,880

Properties under development 424,916 439,259

471,858 470,139

Allowance for diminution in value (26,517) (29,116)

445,341 441,023

Borrowing costs capitalised during the year 6,236 11,202

 Borrowing costs of the Group have been capitalised at rates ranging from 3.46% to 6.44% (2014: 3.42% to 16.00%) 
per annum for development properties. 

 All development properties are located in the PRC.
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 The change in allowance for diminution in value in respect of development properties during the year is as follows:

Group

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

At 1 January 29,116 –

Allowance (reversed)/recognised (669) 34,573

Allowance utilised (2,316) (6,645)

Translation differences on consolidation 386 1,188

At 31 December 26,517 29,116

 A (reversal of)/allowance for diminution in value of $669,000 (2014: $34,573,000) was made due to market condition.

 The Group’s completed properties held for sale and properties under development are stated at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value.  Based on the Group’s recent experience and the nature of the subject properties, the Group 
makes estimates of the selling prices, the costs of completion in case for properties under development and the costs 
to be incurred in selling the properties based on prevailing market conditions.  If there is a decrease in net sales value, 
the net realisable value will decrease.  Changes in the estimates of the costs to completion and the estimated selling 
price would also have an effect on the determination of diminution in value for each project.  Such allowance requires 
the use of judgement and estimates.

 Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, the carrying value and allowance for diminution in 
value on properties in the period in which such estimate is changed will be adjusted accordingly.  In addition, given 
the volatility of the PRC property market and the unique nature of individual properties, the actual outcome in terms 
of costs and revenue may be higher or lower than estimated at the reporting date.  Any increase or decrease in the 
allowance would affect profit or loss in future years.

 Securities

 Certain development properties of the Group are mortgaged to the banks as collateral for credit facilities provided to 
the Group as disclosed in note 20.
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15. Amounts due from/(to) related parties
 
 Amounts due from related parties

Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current

Trade amounts due from: 

- joint ventures 487 632 – –

- affiliated corporation 233 233 – –

720 865 – –

Non-trade amounts due from: 

- affiliated corporations 88 86 – –

- joint ventures 9,676 10,536 – –

- non-controlling interests 15,515 15,345 – –

- subsidiaries – – 125,685 126,161

25,279 25,967 125,685 126,161

Loans to non-controlling interests 26,800 13,994 – –

26,800 13,994 – –

Total amounts due from related parties 52,799 40,826 125,685 126,161

 An affiliated corporation is defined as one:

 (a) in which a director of the Group has substantial financial interests or who is in a position to exercise significant 
influence; and/or

 (b) which directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, are under the control of a common 
shareholder.

 The non-trade amounts due from affiliated corporations, joint ventures and subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free 
and repayable on demand.

 The non-trade amounts due from non-controlling interests are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand 
except for amounts of $12,855,000 (2014: $12,703,000) which are secured by undistributed retained earnings and 
expected future earnings of certain subsidiaries attributable to the non-controlling interests. 

 The loans to non-controlling interests comprise:

 (i) an amount of $21,963,000 (2014: $12,401,000) which bears interest at 12% per annum and is secured by the 
non-controlling interests’ shares in a subsidiary, Guangang.  The amount is repayable on demand;

 (ii) an amount of $479,000 (2014: $474,000) which is secured, interest-free and repayable on demand; and

 (iii) an amount of $4,358,000 (2014: $1,119,000) which is unsecured, interest-free and repayable within the next 
12 months.
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 Amounts due to related parties

Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current

Trade amounts due to:

- a corporate shareholder (281) (378) – –

- an affiliated corporation (2,434) (4,991) – –

(2,715) (5,369) – –

Loans from non-controlling interests (14,599) (12,991) – –

Total amounts due to related parties (17,314) (18,360) – –

 The loans from non-controlling interests are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

16. Cash and cash equivalents

Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash at banks and in hand 88,808 57,367 2,980 10,397

Fixed deposits 4,402 37,607 – –

93,210 94,974 2,980 10,397

Deposits pledged (1,165) (37,158)

Restricted cash (3,271) (4,607)

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of
 cash flows 88,774 53,209

 Interest rates are repriceable as and when notified by the banks.  The weighted average effective interest rates relating 
to cash and cash equivalents as at the reporting date for the Group is 0.22% (2014: 0.27%) per annum. 

 The deposits were pledged as security to obtain bank loans as disclosed in note 20.
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17. Share capital

Company

2015 2014

No of 
shares $’000

No of 
shares $’000

Issued and fully paid ordinary shares, 
 with no par value 

At 1 January 919,247,700 181,947 766,039,750 154,552

Right issues – – 153,207,950 27,395

Share consolidation (459,623,851) – – –

Treasury shares (1,088,500) (244) – –

At 31 December 458,535,349 181,703 919,247,700 181,947

 153,207,950 new ordinary shares were issued in 2014 by the Company pursuant to the right issues which were fully 
subscribed. 

 On 31 August 2015, the Company completed the consolidation of two existing shares to one consolidated share.
 
 The holders of all ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time, and are entitled to 

one vote per share at meetings of the Company.  All shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

 Capital management

 The Group defines capital as total shareholders’ equity attributable to owners of the Company excluding non-
controlling interests.    The primary objective of the management of the Company’s capital structure is to maintain 
efficient mix of debt and equity in order to achieve an optimal cost of capital, while taking into account the desirability 
of retaining financial flexibility to pursue business opportunities and adequate access to liquidity to mitigate the effect 
of unforeseen events on cash flows.  The Board of Directors monitors the return on capital, which the Group defines 
as profit/loss attributable to equity holders of the Company divided by total shareholders’ equity excluding non-
controlling interests.  The return on capital in 2015 was in profit of 3.9% (2014: loss of 6.1% due to the $34,573,000 
allowance for diminution in value of development properties). The Board also monitors the level of dividends paid to 
ordinary shareholders.

 The Board regularly reviews the Company’s capital structure and makes adjustments to reflect economic conditions, 
business strategies and future commitments.

 No significant changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes relating to the management of the 
Company’s capital structure during the year. 

 The Company and its subsidiaries are not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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 Dividends

 The following exempt (one-tier) dividends were declared and paid by the Group and Company.

Group and Company

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Paid by the Company to owners of the Company

0.2 cent per qualifying ordinary share (2014: 0.6 cent) 1,838 5,515

Group 

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Paid by a subsidiary to a non-controlling interest

$Nil per qualifying ordinary share (2014: $2.0) – 98

 After the reporting date, the following exempt (one-tier) dividends were proposed by the directors.  These exempt 
(one-tier) dividends have not been provided for.

Group and Company

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

0.5 cent per qualifying ordinary share (2014: 0.2 cent) 2,293 1,838

18. Reserves

Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Merger reserve (77,720) (77,720) (45,850) (45,850)

Capital reserve 1,888 1,888 – –

Statutory reserve 3,564 3,564 – –

Fair value reserve – 15 – –

Foreign currency translation reserve 18,267 17,485 – –

(54,001) (54,768) (45,850) (45,850)

 Merger reserve

 Group

 The merger reserve represents the difference between the cost of the acquisition for the restructuring and the value of 
share capital of the entities acquired.
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 Company 

 The merger reserve represents the difference between the cost of acquisition of the Tiong Seng Contractors combined 
group, recorded in accordance with paragraph 13 of FRS 27 Separate Financial Statements, and the paid up capital of 
the Company issued for the acquisition.

 Capital reserve

 The Group’s capital reserve arises from additional capital contributed by Tiong Seng Contractors in excess of its share 
of the registered capital in a subsidiary and effects arising from acquisition of interest in subsidiaries.

 Statutory reserve

 The Group follows the accounting principles and relevant financial regulations of the PRC applicable to sino-foreign 
equity joint venture enterprises (“PRC GAAP – EJV”), wholly foreign-owned enterprises (“PRC GAAP - WFOE”) or 
enterprises established in the PRC (“PRC GAAP”) in the preparation of the accounting records and financial statements.

 Pursuant to accounting regulations for sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprises (中华人民共和国中外合资经营企
业法实施条例), sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprises (“EJV”) are required to appropriate profit to the statutory 
reserve.  Appropriation to the statutory reserve is determined by the board of directors based on the profit arrived at 
in accordance with PRC GAAP – EJV for each year. 

 Pursuant to accounting regulations for foreign-invested PRC enterprises (中华人民共和国外商投资企业会计制度 
[财会字（1992）33号]) and the PRC Company Law (中华人民共和国公司法), wholly foreign-owned enterprises 
(“WFOE”) and enterprises established in the PRC are required to appropriate 10% of the profit arrived at in accordance 
with PRC GAAP – WFOE and PRC GAAP for each year to a statutory reserve.

 The profit arrived at must be used to set off against any accumulated losses.  The appropriation to statutory reserve, 
after offsetting against any accumulated losses, must be made before distribution of dividends to shareholders.  The 
appropriation is required until the statutory reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital.  This statutory reserve is 
not distributable in the form of cash dividends.  For WFOE and EJV, the statutory reserve may be used to set off losses 
or be converted into paid-in capital.

 Fair value reserve

 The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value (net of deferred tax effect) of available-
for-sale financial assets until the investments are derecognised or impaired.

 Foreign currency translation reserve

 The foreign currency translation reserve comprises:

 (a) foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign corporations; 
and

 (b) exchange differences on monetary items which form part of the Group’s net investment in foreign operations, 
provided certain conditions are met.
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19. Trade and other payables

Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Non-current

Retention sums payable 15,936 20,765 – –

Current

Trade payables 45,864 39,564 – –

Accrued trade payables 152,458 184,725 – –

Accrued operating expenses and other payables 21,637 19,059 2,307 2,020

Receipts in advance 90,328 68,264 – –

Retention sums payable 32,151 28,434 – –

342,438 340,046 2,307 2,020

Total 358,374 360,811 2,307 2,020

 Included in receipts in advance as at 31 December 2015 were instalments of sales proceeds received from buyers 
of $89,847,000 (2014: $66,240,000), in connection with the Group’s pre-sales of properties under development and 
completed properties held for sale.

 The Group and the Company’s exposure to currency and liquidity risks related to trade and other payables are 
disclosed in note 32.

20. Loans and borrowings

Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Non-current 

Secured bank loans 12,283 102,847 – –

Medium term notes 74,129 73,730 74,129 73,730

Finance lease liabilities 832 1,436 – –

87,244 178,013 74,129 73,730

Current

Secured bank loans 210,370 117,758 – –

Unsecured bank loan – 1,000 – 1,000

Finance lease liabilities 1,196 916 – –

211,566 119,674 – 1,000

Total loans and borrowings 298,810 297,687 74,129 74,730

Maturities of liabilities (excluding finance 
 lease liabilities)

Within one year 210,370 118,758 – 1,000

Between one and five years 82,649 172,557 74,129 73,730

More than five years 3,763 4,020 – –

296,782 295,335 74,129 74,730
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 The secured bank loans are secured on the following assets:

Group

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Carrying amounts of assets:

Leasehold lands 12,853 4,797

Freehold land 4,111 4,710

Leasehold properties 30,949 33,478

Investment properties 487 560

Development properties 172,673 129,991

Plant and machinery 13,448 16,123

Motor vehicles 1,296 1,370

Deposits pledged 1,165 37,158

Total 236,982 228,187

 The secured bank loans are also secured by assignment of rights, interests and benefits in connection with 
construction contracts.

 Secured loan from a bank

 Included in the secured bank loans is a loan amounting to $70,685,000 (2014: $65,175,000) secured by the followings: 

 (a) the subordination of the Group’s share of existing and future shareholder’s loans relating to the Group existing 
development properties projects; 

 (b) the assignment of the Group’s share of existing and future shareholder’s loans relating to the Group existing 
development properties projects;

 (c) the Group’s shares in certain other investment; and

 (d) the Group’s shares in Chang De Investment Private Limited, Tiong Seng Properties (Private) Limited, Tianjin 
Zizhulin Development Co., Ltd., Tianjin Zizhulin Guangang Property Development Co., Ltd and Suzhou Changhe 
Investment and Development Co., Ltd.

 Medium term notes

 On 10 July 2013, the Company established a $250,000,000 Multi-currency Medium Term Note Programme (“MTN 
Programme”).  Under this MTN Programme, the Company may, subject to compliance with all relevant laws, 
regulations and directives, from time to time issue fixed, floating, variable or hybrid interest rate notes or zero 
coupon notes in series or tranches in any currency agreed between the Company and the relevant dealers of the MTN 
Programme.  

 On 3 July 2014, the Company issued medium term notes amounting to $75,000,000 with fixed interest rate of 4.75% 
per annum and maturity date on 3 January 2018.
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 Terms and debt repayment schedule

 Terms and conditions of outstanding loans and borrowings are as follows:

Currency

Nominal
 interest rate

per annum
Year of

maturity
Carrying
 amount

% $’000

Group

At 31 December 2015

Medium term notes SGD 4.75 2018 74,129

Secured bank loans RMB 5.00 – 6.44 2016 51,606

Secured bank loans SGD 1.15 – 4.80 2016 – 2033 171,047

Finance lease liabilities SGD 1.05 – 4.00 2016 – 2020 2,028

Total loans and borrowings 298,810

At 31 December 2014

Medium term notes SGD 4.75 2018 73,730

Secured bank loans RMB 5.81 – 7.07 2015 – 2016 57,175

Secured bank loans SGD 1.38 – 3.88 2015 – 2033 163,430

Unsecured bank loan SGD 2.37 – 2.41 2015 1,000

Finance lease liabilities SGD 1.05 – 4.00 2015 – 2020 2,298

Finance lease liabilities MYR 4.75 2015 – 2020 54

Total loans and borrowings 297,687

Company

At 31 December 2015

Medium term notes SGD 4.75 2018 74,129

At 31 December 2014

Medium term notes SGD 4.75 2018 73,730

Unsecured bank loan SGD 2.37 – 2.41 2015 1,000

74,730
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 Finance lease liabilities

 Finance lease liabilities are repayable as follows:

Principal Interest Payments

$’000 $’000 $’000

At 31 December 2015

Within one year 1,196 52 1,248

Between one and five years 832 47 879

2,028 99 2,127

At 31 December 2014

Within one year 916 80 996

Between one and five years 1,409 31 1,440

More than five years 27 1 28

2,352 112 2,464

21. Revenue

 (a) Revenue and costs recognition from construction contracts

  The Group recognises contract revenue based on the stage of completion method.  Significant judgement is 
required in determining the stage of completion, the estimated total contract revenue and estimated total 
contract cost, as well as the recoverability of the contract cost incurred.

  Estimation of total contract revenue also includes an estimation of the variation works that are recoverable 
from the customers. In making the judgement, the Group relies on past experience and/or the work of relevant 
professionals.

  Estimated total contract cost for construction contract comprises direct costs attributable to the construction 
of each property. In estimating the total budgeted costs for construction contracts, the Group makes reference 
to information such as the level of work content sub-contracted, fluctuations in the prices of raw materials, 
size, design and material specifications of the projects, cost overruns and savings, variation works requested by 
customers, current offers from contractors and suppliers, recent offers agreed with contractors and suppliers, 
and professional estimation on construction and material costs as well as its past experience.

  Given the contractual nature of the business, variation orders, additional works and prolongation costs are 
expected on a continual basis.  As some of these items could be subjective and hence contentious in nature, 
the Group may from time to time be involved in arbitration or legal processes.  As any such processes could be 
lengthy and outcome inherently uncertain where estimates, assumptions and significant judgement involved, 
the carrying amount of the construction work-in-progress and retention sum receivables at the reporting date 
may invariably be affected by these outcome. During the last financial year, one of the subsidiaries of the Group 
submitted a request for arbitration, to claim for costs arising from additional work requested and performed, 
as well as the resultant prolonged delay of one of its projects from a customer. Subsequent to current financial 
year end, the arbitration proceeding was suspended as both parties mutually agreed to make an effort to 
resolve the matter through mediation. Further information has not been disclosed herein as such disclosure 
could be prejudicial to the Group’s position in the matter. The related effects arising therefrom, if any, will be 
recognised in the financial statements of the future period when the eventual outcome is determined.
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    (b) Revenue from sale of development properties

  The Group has recognised revenue from the sale of development properties when the risks and rewards of 
ownership have been transferred to the buyer.  The assessment of the transfer of significant risks and rewards 
requires the examination of the circumstances of the transaction.  In most cases, the transfer of risks and 
rewards of ownership coincides with the date when the equitable interest in the property vests with the buyer 
upon release of the respective property to the buyer.

22. Profit/(Loss) before tax

 The following items have been included in arriving at profit/(loss) before tax:

Group

Note 2015 2014

$’000 $’000

(a) Other income

Fees from project and property management 796 1,274

Gain on disposal of:

- investment properties 593 683

- property, plant and equipment 2,000 270

- scrap parts and materials 144 859

Gain on liquidation on a joint venture – 16

Gain from sales of parking lots 3,586 460

Government grants/credits 380 552

Training and testing fee income 330 372

Consultancy services fees 725 –

Demolition and other miscellaneous work 131 –

Others 1,801 699

10,486 5,185

(b) Other expenses include

Direct operating expenses arising from rental of investment
 properties, plant and machinery 

105 115

Impairment loss on intangible assets 5 1,284 1,656

Impairment loss on trade receivables 32(b) 979 459

Operating lease expenses 1,392 1,510

Write off of property, plant and equipment 362 13

(c) Staff costs

Wages and salaries for staff 69,934 78,492

Contribution to defined contribution plans 3,540 3,942

Increase in liability for short-term accumulating 
 compensated absence

43 55

Others 1,327 1,181

Staff costs for the year 74,844 83,670



88  |   TIONG SENG HOLDINGS LTD  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2015 

Notes to the Financial Statements

 The staff costs charged to profit or loss are arrived at as follows:

Group

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Staff costs for the year 74,844 83,670

Staff costs capitalised in construction work-in-progress (55,310) (65,254)

Staff costs charged to profit or loss 19,534 18,416

23. Finance income and costs 

Group

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Recognised in profit or loss

Accretion of discount implicit in retention sum receivables 784 1,536

Dividend income from available-for-sale financial assets 1 1

Exchange gain (net) 1,147 2,257

Implicit interest in retention sum payables 338 578

Interest income on:

- cash and cash equivalents 144 211

- other investment 67 –

- loan to a joint venture 504 351

Finance income 2,985 4,934

Interest expense on:

- bank loans (2,511) (1,988)

- bank overdrafts (23) (65)

- finance leases (45) (83)

- medium term notes (3,572) (1,757)

Amortisation of transaction costs on medium term notes (400) (189)

Accretion of implicit interest in retention sum payables (183) (588)

Discount implicit in retention sum receivables (1,240) (802)

Finance costs (7,974) (5,472)

Net finance costs recognised in profit or loss (4,989) (538)

The above finance income and finance costs include the following interest
 income and expenses in respect of assets/(liabilities) not at fair value 
 through profit or loss:

- Total interest income on financial assets 715 562

- Total interest expenses on financial liabilities (6,151) (3,893)
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24. Tax expense

Group

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Tax recognised in profit or loss 

Current tax

Current year 3,840 4,038

Land appreciation tax 3,818 32

Adjustments in prior years 100 2

7,758 4,072

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of temporary differences 768 (176)

Adjustments in prior years 172 1,112

940 936

Total tax expense 8,698 5,008

 Tax recognised in other comprehensive income 

2015 2014

Before 
tax

Tax 
expense

Net of 
tax

Before 
Tax

Tax 
expense

Net of 
Tax

Group $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Translation differences for foreign
 operations 1,171 – 1,171 5,982 – 5,982

Exchange differences on monetary
 items forming part of net investment
 in foreign operations 97 – 97 2,506 – 2,506

Equity accounted investees – share 
 of other comprehensive income (283) – (283) – – –

Available-for-sale financial assets (15) – (15) (1) – (1)

970 – 970 8,487 – 8,487



90  |   TIONG SENG HOLDINGS LTD  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2015 

Notes to the Financial Statements

Group

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

Profit/(Loss) before tax 23,403 (24,618)

Add: Share of loss of associate and joint ventures, net of tax 3,137 1,635

Profit/(Loss) before tax excluding share of results of associate and 
 joint ventures 26,540 (22,983)

Tax expenses using domestic rates applicable to different jurisdictions 4,672 (6,347)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 326 1,254

Income not subject to tax (1,140) (1,074)

Deferred tax benefits not recognised 2,928 10,688

Tax incentives (795) (465)

Effect of land appreciation tax 3,818 32

Utilisation of previously unrecognised deferred tax benefits (1,162) –

Adjustments in prior years:

- current tax 100 2

- deferred tax 172 1,112

Others (221) (194)

8,698 5,008

 Land appreciation tax

 Under the Provisional Rules on Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”) Implementation Rules of the PRC implemented on 27 
January 1995, all gains from the sales or transfer of land use rights, buildings and their attached facilities in the 
PRC are subject to LAT at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being the 
proceeds of sales of properties less deductible expenditures including all finance costs and all property development 
expenditures. There are certain exemptions available for the sale of ordinary residential properties if the appreciation 
values do not exceed 20% of the total deductible items (as defined in the relevant PRC tax laws).  Sales of commercial 
properties are not eligible for such an exemption.

 Income and revenue taxes

 The Group is subject to income, revenue and withholding taxes in a few jurisdictions.  Significant judgement is required 
in determining the capital allowances, the types and rates of taxes payable, deductibility of certain expenses, and 
taxability of certain income during the estimation of the provision for income taxes.  There are many transactions and 
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.  The Group 
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.  Where 
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences 
will impact the revenue, provision for income tax and deferred income tax provisions in the period in which such 
determination is made.
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 Tax incentives

 Investment allowance amounted to approximately $14,000 (2014: $1,794,000) was granted to a subsidiary of the 
Company in respect of capital expenditure on approved construction equipment, under Section 67 of the Economic 
Expansion Incentives (Relief from Income Tax) Act.

 In 2015, productivity and innovation tax credit amounted to approximately $4,662,000 (2014: $943,000) was granted 
to a subsidiary.

25. Earnings per share

 The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) attributable to the ordinary shareholders of the 
Company of $10,237,000 profit (2014: $15,279,000 loss) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding of 459,476,562 (2014: 459,623,849), calculated as follows:

 Profit/(Loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders

Group

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Earnings per share is based on:

Profit/(Loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders 10,237 (15,279)

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares

Number of shares

’000 ’000

(Restated)

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January 919,248 783,402

Effect of rights issue – 135,846

Effect of share consolidation (459,624) (459,624)

Effect of treasury shares (147) –

Weighted average number of ordinary shares during the year 459,477 459,624

 There are no potential dilutive ordinary shares in existence for the years presented.

26. Operating segments

 The Group has four reportable segments, as described below, which are the Group’s strategic business units.  The 
strategic business units offer different products and services, and are managed separately because they are located 
in different geographical areas and require different marketing strategies.  For each of the strategic business unit, the 
Group’s CEO (the chief operating decision maker) reviews internal management reports on at least a quarterly basis.
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 The following summary describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments:

	 l Construction: Relates to acting as main contractors in construction projects and provision of construction 
services mainly to property developers in both private and public sectors.

	 l Property development: Relates to development and sales of properties.

	 l Rental: Relates to rental of investment properties and plant and machinery.
 
	 l Sales of goods: Relates to selling of construction patented Cobiax technology.

 Other operations include general corporate activities.

 Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is included below.  Performance is measured based 
on segment profit before tax, as included in the internal management reports that are reviewed by the Group’s CEO.  
Segment profit is used to measure performance as management believe that such information is the most relevant in 
evaluating the results of certain segments relative to other entities that operate within these industries.

 Information about reportable segments

Construction
Property

 development Rental
Sales of 

goods 
Segments 

total Others * Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

31 December 2015

External revenues 482,220 71,784 2,410 7,386 563,800 – 563,800

Interest income 92 600 – – 692 23 715

Interest expenses (2,371) – – (16) (2,387) (3,764) (6,151)

Depreciation and amortisation (11,133) (69) (637) (1,266) (13,105) (80) (13,185)

Reversal of allowance
 for diminution in value of
 development properties – 669 – – 669 – 669

Impairment loss on intangible
 assets – – – (1,284) (1,284) – (1,284)

Reportable segment
 profit/(loss) before tax 28,079 6,609 2,366 (3,305) 33,749 (7,209) 26,540

Share of loss of associates 
 and joint ventures, net of tax (3,326) 189 – – (3,137) – (3,137)

Profit before tax 23,403

Tax expense (8,698)

Profit for the year 14,705

Reportable segment assets 422,843 550,205 15,882 4,263 993,193 10,826 1,004,019

Investment in associates and
 joint ventures – 22,200 – – 22,200 – 22,200

Total assets 1,026,219

Reportable segment liabilities 359,910 337,952 – 4,336 702,198 4,010 706,208

Capital expenditure 29,427 128 – 335 29,890 4 29,894
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Construction
Property

 development Rental
Sales of 

goods 
Segments 

total Others * Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

31 December 2014

External revenues 627,480 31,968 1,306 8,000 668,754 – 668,754

Interest income 38 420 – – 458 104 562

Interest expenses (1,824) (149) – (67) (2,040) (1,853) (3,893)

Depreciation and amortisation (11,319) (92) (1,112) (695) (13,218) (130) (13,348)

Allowance for diminution
 in value of development
 properties – (34,573) – – (34,573) – (34,573)

Impairment loss on intangible
 assets – – – (1,656) (1,656) – (1,656)

Reportable segment
 profit/(loss) before tax 24,368 (41,473) 1,108 (3,418) (19,415) (3,568) (22,983)

Share of loss of associates 
 and joint ventures, net of tax (1,041) (594) – – (1,635) – (1,635)

Loss before tax (24,618)

Tax expense (5,008)

Loss for the year (29,626)

Reportable segment assets 394,300 519,213 16,207 7,889 937,609 31,827 969,436

Investment in associates and
 joint ventures 1,234 22,029 – – 23,263 – 23,263

Total assets 992,699

Reportable segment liabilities 360,742 325,631 – 4,121 690,494 5,485 695,979

Capital expenditure 9,927 59 – 1,555 11,541 10 11,551

 * General corporate activities

 Geographical segments

 In presenting information on the basis of geographical segments, segment revenue is based on the geographical 
location of customers.  Segment assets are based on the geographical location of the assets.  The construction and 
property development segments are mainly domiciled in Singapore and the PRC respectively.
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Group

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Revenue from external customers

Singapore 481,671 619,927

PRC 73,260 33,092

PNG 1,146 7,735

Europe 7,353 8,000

Malaysia 370 –

563,800 668,754

Non-current assets*

Singapore 116,509 102,413

PRC 16,181 16,394

PNG 752 2,105

Malaysia 7,952 6,778

Europe 39 2,299

141,433 129,989

 * The non-current assets consist of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, investment properties and investment in 
associate and joint ventures.

 Major customers

 During the financial years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, revenue from certain customers (named alphabetically 
A to D) of the Group’s construction segment amount to approximately $271,542,000 (2014: $159,300,000).  The 
details of these customers which individually contributed 10 percent or more of the Group’s revenue in the year are as 
follows:

2015 2014

$’000 % $’000 %

Customer A 94,822 17 84,919 13

Customer B 62,374 11 74,381 11

Customer C 58,112 10 – –

Customer D 56,234 10 – –

Total 271,542 48 159,300 24
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27. Commitments

 (a) Commitments

  Commitments of the Group not reflected in the financial statements at the respective reporting dates are as 
follows:

Group

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Developmental costs contracted but not provided for:

- subsidiaries 42,336 67,230

- a joint venture 7,738 245

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 5,356 1,670

55,430 69,145

 (b) Operating lease commitments

  At the reporting date, the Group has the following future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 
operating leases as follows:

Group

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Within one year 1,268 1,109

Between one and five years 557 1,223

More than five years 2,191 2,111

4,016 4,443

  The Group leases three pieces of land and a commercial property under operating leases.  The leases run 
for a period ranging from 1 to 23 years, with an option to renew the lease at the end of lease period.  Lease 
payments are fixed at the commencement of the lease agreements. 

28. Financial guarantee contracts

 (a) Guaranteed performance bonds

  Certain subsidiaries have obtained guarantee from the banks to provide performance bonds to the developers 
amounting to $202,590,000 (2014: $219,976,000).

 (b) Financial guarantees given by the Company in respect of banking facilities provided to subsidiaries 

  The Company issued financial guarantees to certain banks in respect of banking facilities (inclusive of 
guaranteed performance bonds) granted to subsidiaries of the Group amounting to $481,151,000 (2014: 
$585,571,000).  As at 31 December 2015, $321,112,000 (2014: $368,579,000) of the banking facilities was 
utilised.  At the reporting date, the Company does not consider it probable that the claims will be made against 
the Company under the guarantee. 
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29. Contingencies

 One of the subsidiaries of the Group in Papua New Guinea has potential contingencies arising from a claim from certain 
former employees of the subsidiary for unlawful termination, breaches of the Constitution and the Employment 
Act and unpaid entitlements, amounting to approximately $4.0 million.  The case is at a preliminary stage and the 
subsidiary has filed its defence on the basis that the claim is without merit on the advice of the legal counsel.  Given 
the current status of the case and information available, no provision has been recorded by the Group as at 31 
December 2015.

 One of the construction projects carried out by a joint venture has contingencies arising from potential liquidated 
damages for a delay in the completion of the project.  The joint venture is in the process of discussion with the 
owner on the project delay and the related prolongation cost, incurred by the joint venture.  Based on the available 
information and the current status of the discussion as at 31 December 2015, the Board of Directors believes that 
any potential liquidated damages are adequately covered by the related prolongation costs that are entitled by the 
joint venture and the likelihood of material additional provision is remote. As such, no provision was made as at 31 
December 2015.

30. Related parties

 (a) Key management personnel compensation

  Key management personnel are directors and those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly.  The amounts stated below for key 
management compensation are for all the executive directors and other key management personnel. The 
amounts do not include compensation, if any, of certain key management personnel and directors of the Group 
who received compensation from related corporations outside the Group in their capacity as directors and, or 
executives of those related corporations.

  Compensation payable to key management personnel, included in staff costs, comprise:

Group

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Short-term employee benefits 3,163 2,896

Post-employment benefits 81 76

3,244 2,972

Director fees payable by the Company 397 530



  ANNUAL REPORT 2015  | TIONG SENG HOLDINGS LTD  |  97     

Notes to the Financial Statements

 (b) Other related party transactions 

  Other than disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, transactions with related parties are as follows:

Group

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Affiliated corporations

Hiring charges (4,496) (11,417)

Non-controlling interests

Development cost paid and capitalised in development properties (295) (110)

  In addition to the above, a spouse of a Director subscribed to fixed rate medium term notes issued by the 
Company, amounting to $250,000 (2014: $250,000).

31. Share award scheme

 The Tiong Seng Share Award Scheme (the “Award Scheme”) was approved and adopted by the Company at an 
Extraordinary General Meeting held on 31 March 2010.  The Award Scheme is administered by the Remuneration 
Committee. 

 The eligibility of award participants to participate in the Award Scheme, and the number of shares which are the 
subject of each award to be granted to an Award Participant in accordance with the Award Scheme and the Vesting 
Period shall be determined at the absolute discretion of the Remuneration Committee.  Employees and Non-Executive 
Directors of the Company who have attained the age of twenty-one years and are not undischarged bankrupts at the 
date of grant, shall be eligible to participate in the Award Scheme. 

 The aggregate number of shares to be delivered pursuant to the vesting of the Awards on any date, when added to the 
number of shares issued and issuable in respect of such other share-based incentive schemes of the Company shall 
not exceed 15% of the issued shares of the Company on the day preceding that date.  During the year, no shares of the 
Company have been awarded pursuant to the Award Scheme. 

32. Financial instruments

 Financial risk management

 (a) Overview

  The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

  - credit risk
  - liquidity risk
  - market risk
  - insurance risk

  This note represents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, 
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital.
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  Risk management framework

  The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk 
management framework.  The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the 
risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to 
limits.  Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions 
and the Group’s activities.  The Group, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to 
develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and 
obligations.

  The Group Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk 
management policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation 
to the risks faced by the Group.  The Group Audit Committee is assisted in its oversight role by Internal Audit.  
Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the 
results of which are reported to the Audit Committee.

 (b) Credit risk

  Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails 
to meet its contractual obligation, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers. 

  The carrying amount of financial assets in the statement of financial position represents the Group and the 
Company’s respective maximum exposure to credit risk, before taking into account any collateral held.  The 
Group and the Company does not hold any collateral in respect of its financial assets.

  Trade and other receivables

  Risk management policy

  The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer.  
However, management also considers the demographics of the Group’s customer base, including the default 
risk of the industry and country in which customers operate, as these factors may have an influence on credit 
risk.  Approximately 98% (2014: 98%) of the Group’s revenue is attributable to transactions in Singapore 
and the PRC. Consequently, the risk of non-payment from the Group’s trade receivables is affected by any 
unfavourable economic changes to the Singapore construction industry and the PRC property development 
market.

  The Group has established a credit policy and the exposures to credit risk are monitored on an ongoing basis.  
The contracting parties with the Group for the construction projects are either companies with good reputation 
in the market, listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange or government agencies.  As for sales of properties, 
sales proceeds are fully settled upon delivery of properties.

  Monies due from customers are followed up, reviewed on a regular basis to understand the reasons of non-
payment or delay in payment, if any, so that appropriate actions can be implemented promptly.  The resultant 
effects of these measures have kept the Group’s exposure to bad debts at an insignificant level.

  The Group does not require collateral in respect of trade and other receivables.
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  Exposure to credit risk

  The Group determines concentration of credit risk by monitoring the country and industry sector profile of 
its trade receivables on an ongoing basis.  The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the 
reporting date was as follows:

Group

2015 2014

$’000 % $’000 %

By country:

Singapore 47,976 92.3 45,294 95.0

PRC 2,775 5.3 902 1.9

Europe 1,206 2.4 1,473 3.1

Total 51,957 100.0 47,669 100.0

By industry sectors:

Construction 47,960 92.3 45,287 95.0

Property development 2,775 5.3 902 1.9

Sales of goods 1,222 2.4 1,480 3.1

Total 51,957 100.0 47,669 100.0

  The Group’s top two (2014: two) most significant customers, account for $10,733,000 of the trade receivables 
carrying amount as at 31 December 2015 (2014: $14,910,000).

  Impairment

  The ageing of trade receivables and impairment losses at the reporting dates can be analysed as:

2015 2014

Gross Impairment Gross Impairment

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

Neither past due nor impaired 43,331 – 38,935 –

Past due 0–30 days 3,155 – 3,200 –

Past due 31–60 days 269 – 2,568 –

More than 60 days 5,902 700 3,627 661

52,657 700 48,330 661

  Amount not paid after the credit terms will be considered past due.  The credit terms granted to customers are 
based on their creditworthiness, individual construction contract and the Group’s policy. 

  Based on historical default rates, the Group believes that no additional impairment is necessary. 
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  Allowance for impairment losses

  The Group establishes an allowance for impairment losses that represents its estimate of incurred losses in 
respect of trade and other receivables, amounts due from related parties and investments.  The component of 
this allowance is for specific loss that relates to individually significant exposures.  As at 31 December 2015 and 
2014, the Group and the Company do not have any collective impairment on its loans and receivables.

  The movement in allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows:

Group

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

At 1 January 661 309

Impairment loss recognised 979 459

Amounts written off (940) (107)

At 31 December 700 661

  Cash and cash equivalents

  The Group and the Company held cash and cash equivalents of $93,210,000 and $2,980,000 respectively as at 
31 December 2015 (2014: $94,974,000 and $10,397,000 respectively), which represents its maximum credit 
exposure on these assets.  The cash and cash equivalents are held with banks, which are regulated. 

 (c) Liquidity risk

  Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with 
its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.  The Group’s approach 
to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its 
liabilities when due, under normal and stressed conditions, without incurring acceptable losses or risking 
damage to the Group’s reputation. 

  Management of liquidity risk

  Individual subsidiaries within the Group are responsible for their own cash management, including raising loans 
to cover the expected cash demands, subject to approval by the Company’s board of directors.  The Group’s 
exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities.  
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements and its compliance 
with lending covenants by reviewing each operating entity’s cash flow forecast, to ensure that the Group 
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from banks to meet its liquidity 
requirements in the short and longer term.

  At 31 December 2015, the Group maintains the following lines of credit:

  l $3,540,000 (2014: $6,574,000) of secured overdraft facilities, of which $Nil (2014: $Nil) has been drawn 
down.  Interest would be payable at rates ranging from prime rate to prime rate plus 125 basis points 
(bp); and

 	 l $250,315,000 (2014: $187,466,000) that can be drawn down to meet short-term financing needs.  An 
amount of $164,331,000 (2014: $87,239,000) has been drawn down at the reporting date.

  The above lines of credit exclude term loan facilities that have been drawn down as they are no longer available 
for further utilisation.
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  In addition, the Group has put in place a $250,000,000 Multi-currency Medium Term Note Programme in 2013, 
of which $75,000,000 has been issued as at 31 December 2015 (2014: $75,000,000). 

  Exposure to liquidity risk

  The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and 
excluding the impact of netting arrangements:

Cash flows

Carrying
 amount

Contractual
 cash flows

Within 
1 year

Between 
1 and 5 

years
More than 

5 years

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

At 31 December 2015

Trade and other payables

Trade payables 45,864 45,864 45,864 – –

Accrued trade payables 152,458 152,458 152,458 – –

Accrued operating expenses 
 and other payables 21,637 21,637 21,637 – –

Retention sums payable 48,087 48,586 32,151 16,435 –

Loans and borrowings

Medium term notes 74,129 83,930 3,572 80,358 –

Secured bank loans 222,653 225,965 212,473 8,994 4,498

Finance lease liabilities 2,028 2,127 1,248 879 –

Amounts due to related parties 17,314 17,314 17,314 – –

Recognised financial liabilities 584,170 597,881 486,717 106,666 4,498

At 31 December 2014

Trade and other payables

Trade payables 39,564 39,564 39,564 – –

Accrued trade payables 184,725 184,725 184,725 – –

Accrued operating expenses 
 and other payables 19,059 19,059 19,059 – –

Retention sums payable 49,199 50,244 28,434 21,810 –

Loans and borrowings

Medium term notes 73,730 87,483 3,553 83,930 –

Secured bank loans 220,605 231,679 123,432 103,754 4,493

Unsecured bank loan 1,000 1,008 1,008 – –

Finance lease liabilities 2,352 2,464 996 1,440 28

Amounts due to related parties 18,360 18,360 18,360 – –

Recognised financial liabilities 608,594 634,586 419,131 210,934 4,521
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Cash flows

Carrying
 amount

Contractual
 cash flows

Within 
1 year

Between 
1 and 5 

years
More than 

5 years

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Company

At 31 December 2015

Accrued operating expenses 
 and other payables 2,307 2,307 2,307 – –

Medium term notes 74,129 83,930 3,572 80,358 –

Recognised financial liabilities 76,436 86,237 5,879 80,358 –

At 31 December 2014

Accrued operating expenses 
 and other payables 2,020 2,020 2,020 – –

Unsecured bank loan 1,000 1,008 1,008 – –

Medium term notes 73,730 87,483 3,553 83,930 –

Recognised financial liabilities 76,750 90,511 6,581 83,930 –

  Guarantees

  The Group’s policy is to provide financial guarantees only to wholly-owned subsidiaries.

  The maximum exposure of the Company in respect of the financial guarantee at the end of the reporting period 
is $321,112,000 (2014: $368,579,000). At the reporting date, the Company does not consider it probable that a 
claim will be made against the Company under the financial guarantee.

  The table below shows the contractual expiry by maturity of the Company’s contingent liabilities and 
commitments.  The maximum amount of the financial guarantee contracts are allocated to the earliest period 
in which the guarantee could be called. 

Within
1 year Total

$’000 $’000

Company

2015

Financial guarantees 321,112 321,112

2014

Financial guarantees 368,579 368,579
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 (d) Market risk

  Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rate and foreign exchange rates will 
affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.  The objective of market risk 
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising 
the return.  

  Interest rate risk

  The Group’s exposure to interest rate risks arises primarily from their debt obligations.  The interest charge for 
debt obligations are made up of a mixture of fixed and floating rates.  The floating rate loans are contractually 
repriced at intervals of one to twelve months, or when notified by banks. The Group does not use derivative 
financial instruments to hedge interest rate risk.

  At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments, is as 
follows:

Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Fixed rate instruments

Loans and borrowings 76,157 76,082 74,129 73,730

Variable rate instruments

Loans and borrowings 222,653 221,605 – 1,000

  Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

  The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.  
Therefore a change in interest rates at the reporting dates would not affect profit or loss.

  Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

  A change of 100 bp in interest rates at the reporting dates would have (decreased)/increased profit before tax 
(2014: loss before tax) by the amounts shown below.  There is no effect to the equity.  This analysis assumes 
that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant.  The analysis is performed on the 
same basis for 2014.

Profit before tax

100 bp
Increase

100 bp
Decrease

$’000 $’000

Group

2015

Variable rate instruments (2,227) 2,227
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Loss before tax

100 bp
Increase

100 bp
Decrease

$’000 $’000

Group

2014

Variable rate instruments 2,216 (2,216)

Company

2014

Variable rate instruments 10 (10)

  The sensitivity analysis is illustrative only and is based on simplified scenarios.  The table shows interest rate 
risk exposures arising in interest-bearing liabilities.  These particular exposures form only part of the Group’s 
overall interest rate exposures.

 
  Currency risk

  The Group is exposed to currency risk on sales, purchases and borrowings, including intercompany sales, 
purchases and inter-company balances that are denominated in a currency other than the respective functional 
currencies of Group entities. The currencies in which those transactions primarily are denominated are the 
Renminbi (“RMB”), Singapore dollar (“SGD”), Euro (“EURO”), Swiss Franc (“CHF”) and United States dollar 
(“USD”). 

  Exposure to currency risk

  The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk based on notional amounts is as follows:

RMB SGD EURO CHF USD

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

At 31 December 2015

Trade and other receivables – – 467 – –

Amounts due from related parties 23,393 2,161 3,534 3,641 14,568

Cash and cash equivalents 53 – 2,846 – 3,146

Trade and other payables – – (1,043) – –

Amounts due to related parties – – (423) (33) (14,567)

23,446 2,161 5,381 3,608 3,147

At 31 December 2014

Trade and other receivables – – 921 – –

Amounts due from related parties 18,482 – 12,135 4,730 17,986

Cash and cash equivalents 32,342 – 23 – 3,067

Trade and other payables – – (1,153) – –

Amounts due to related parties – (8,312) – – (17,985)

50,824 (8,312) 11,926 4,730 3,068
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  Sensitivity analysis

  A 10% strengthening of the following major currencies against the functional currency of each of the Group’s 
entities at the reporting date held by the Group would increase profit before tax (2014: (decrease) loss before 
tax) by the amounts shown below.  Similarly, a 10% weakening would have the equal but opposite effect.  This 
analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

Profit before tax Loss before tax

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Group

RMB 2,345 (5,082)

SGD 216 831

EURO 538 (1,193)

CHF 361 (473)

USD 315 (307)

 (e) Insurance risk

  The Company issues financial guarantees on behalf of its subsidiaries.  There are no terms and conditions 
attached to the financial guarantee contracts that would have a material effect on the amount, timing and 
certainty of the Company’s future cash flows.  Estimates of the Company’s obligations arising from financial 
guarantee contracts may be affected by future events, which cannot be predicted with certainty.  The 
assumptions made may vary from actual experience so that the actual liability may vary considerably from the 
best estimates.

  See note 32 (c) for information on the periods in which the financial guarantees will expire and the contractual 
undiscounted cash flow in respect of the financial guarantees.
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  Accounting classifications and fair values

  The carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including their levels in the fair 
value hierarchy are as follows.  It does not include fair value information for financial assets and liabilities not 
measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value. 

Carrying amount Fair value

Note

Available-
for-sale 

financial 
assets

Loans 
and 

receivables

Other 
financial 

liabilities Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

31 December 2015

Financial assets 
 measured at fair value

Quoted equity
 instruments 10 23 – – 23 23 – – 23

Financial assets not
 measured at fair value

Unquoted equity
 instruments# 10 5,760 – – 5,760

Trade and other
 receivables* 9 – 218,795 – 218,795

Amount due from 
 related parties 15 – 52,799 – 52,799

Cash and cash
 equivalents 16 – 93,210 – 93,210

5,760 364,804 – 370,564

Financial liabilities not
 measured at fair value

Amounts due to related
 parties 15 – – (17,314) (17,314)

Trade and other 
 payables ** 19 – – (268,046) (268,046)

Loans and borrowings 20 – – (298,810) (298,810) – – (276,974) (276,974)

– – (584,170) (584,170)

  # Unquoted equity securities are measured at cost less impairment losses as the fair values cannot be determined reliably

  * Excluded tax prepayments, deposits and prepayments and advances to suppliers

  ** Excluded receipts in advance
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Carrying amount Fair value

Note

Available-
for-sale 

financial 
assets

Loans 
and 

receivables

Other 
financial 

liabilities Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

31 December 2014

Financial assets
 measured at fair value

Quoted equity
 instruments 10 41 – – 41 41 – – 41

Financial assets not
 measured at fair value

Unquoted equity
 instruments# 10 5,760 – – 5,760

Trade and other
 receivables* 9 – 213,943 – 213,943

Amount due from 
 related parties 15 – 40,826 – 40,826

Cash and cash
 equivalents 16 – 94,974 – 94,974

5,760 349,743 – 355,503

Financial liabilities not
 measured at fair value

Amounts due to related
 parties 15 – – (18,360) (18,360)

Trade and other 
 payables ** 19 – – (292,547) (292,547)

Loans and borrowings 20 – - (297,687) (297,687) – – (287,218) (287,218)

– – (608,594) (608,594)

  

  # Unquoted equity securities are measured at cost less impairment losses as the fair values cannot be determined reliably

  * Excluded tax prepayments, deposits and prepayments and advances to suppliers

  ** Excluded receipts in advance
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Carrying amount Fair value

Note
Available-

for-sale

Loans 
and 

receivables

Other 
financial 

liabilities Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Company

31 December 2015

Financial assets not
 measured at fair value

Amount due from
 related parties 15 – 125,685 – 125,685

Cash and cash
 equivalents 16 – 2,980 – 2,980

– 128,665 – 128,665

Financial liabilities not
 measured at fair value

Trade and other
 payables** 19 – – (2,307) (2,307)

Loans and borrowings 20 – – (74,129) (74,129) – – (68,628) (68,628)

– – (76,436) (76,436)

31 December 2014

Financial assets not
 measured at fair value

Amount due from
 related parties 15 – 126,161 – 126,161

Cash and cash
 equivalents 16 – 10,397 – 10,397

– 136,558 – 136,558

Financial liabilities not
 measured at fair value

Trade and other
 payables ** 19 – – (2,020) (2,020)

Loans and borrowings 20 – – (74,730) (74,730) – – (71,458) (71,458)

– – (76,750) (76,750)

  * Excluded tax prepayments, deposits and prepayments and advances to suppliers

  ** Excluded receipts in advance
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  Measurement of fair values

  (i) Valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs

   The following tables show the valuation techniques used in measuring Level 2 and Level 3 fair values, as 
well as the significant unobservable inputs used.

   Financial instruments not measured at fair value

Type Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs

Loans and borrowings Discounted cash flows Not applicable

  (ii) Transfers between Level 1 and 2

   There were no transfer between Level 1 and 2 in 2015 and 2014.

33. Non-controlling interests

 The following subsidiaries have material NCI.

Name

Principal places of 
business/ Country of 
incorporation Operating Segment

Ownership interests held 
by NCI

2015 2014

% %

Steeltech Industries Pte. Ltd.
 (“Steeltech”) Singapore Construction 49 49

Tianjin Tianmen Jiawan 
 Property Development 
 Co., Ltd. (“Jinwan”) PRC Property development 50 50

Tianjin Zizhulin Investment 
 Co., Ltd (“Chuang Zhan”) PRC Property development 34 34

Cangzhou Huashi PRC Property development 59 59

Guangang PRC Property development 36 36



110  |   TIONG SENG HOLDINGS LTD  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2015 

Notes to the Financial Statements
 

Th
e 

fo
llo

w
in

g 
su

m
m

ar
is

es
 t

he
 fi

na
nc

ia
l 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

of
 e

ac
h 

of
 t

he
 G

ro
up

’s
 s

ub
si

di
ar

ie
s 

w
it

h 
m

at
er

ia
l 

N
CI

, 
ba

se
d 

on
 t

he
ir

 r
es

pe
ct

iv
e 

fin
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

 
pr

ep
ar

ed
 in

 a
cc

or
da

nc
e 

w
it

h 
FR

S,
 m

od
ifi

ed
 fo

r 
fa

ir
 v

al
ue

 a
dj

us
tm

en
ts

 o
n 

ac
qu

is
it

io
n 

an
d 

di
ff

er
en

ce
s 

in
 t

he
 G

ro
up

’s
 a

cc
ou

nt
in

g 
po

lic
ie

s.

St
ee

lt
ec

h
Ji

nw
an

Ch
ua

ng
 

Zh
an

Ca
ng

zh
ou

Gu
an

ga
ng

O
th

er
 in

di
vi

du
al

ly
 

im
m

at
er

ia
l

 s
ub

si
di

ar
ie

s
In

tr
a-

gr
ou

p
 e

lim
in

at
io

n
To

ta
l

$’
00

0
$’

00
0

$’
00

0
$’

00
0

$’
00

0
$’

00
0

$’
00

0
$’

00
0

20
15

Re
ve

nu
e

12
,6

12
26

3
–

59
,9

89
11

,5
45

Pr
ofi

t/
(L

os
s)

48
3

(1
96

)
8

6,
93

7
4,

75
3

O
CI

–
32

5
47

2
21

87
2

To
ta

l c
om

pr
eh

en
si

ve
 in

co
m

e
48

3
12

9
48

0
6,

95
8

5,
62

5

At
tr

ib
ut

ab
le

 to
 N

CI
:

- 
Pr

ofi
t/

(L
os

s)
23

7
(9

8)
3

4,
09

3
1,

71
1

(9
72

)
(5

06
)

4,
46

8

- 
O

CI
–

16
3

16
0

12
31

4
27

3
(7

19
)

20
3

- 
To

ta
l c

om
pr

eh
en

si
ve

 in
co

m
e

23
7

65
16

3
4,

10
5

2,
02

5
(6

99
)

(1
,2

25
)

4,
67

1

N
on

-c
ur

re
nt

 a
ss

et
s

7,
09

8
–

46
,6

90
14

2,
06

3

Cu
rr

en
t 

as
se

ts
12

,6
91

48
,5

99
15

,7
74

27
,8

40
28

7,
11

4

N
on

-c
ur

re
nt

 li
ab

ili
ti

es
(4

,8
01

)
(1

78
)

–
(8

8)
–

Cu
rr

en
t 

lia
bi

lit
ie

s
(1

,2
15

)
(2

1,
28

1)
(2

2,
63

0)
(1

1,
81

5)
(2

05
,6

94
)

N
et

 a
ss

et
s

13
,7

73
27

,1
40

39
,8

34
15

,9
51

83
,4

83

N
et

 a
ss

et
s 

at
tr

ib
ut

ab
le

 t
o 

N
CI

6,
74

8
13

,5
70

13
,5

43
9,

41
1

30
,0

54
11

,5
26

(2
5,

05
3)

59
,7

99

Ca
sh

 fl
ow

s 
fr

om
 o

pe
ra

ti
ng

 a
ct

iv
it

ie
s

3,
64

7
(3

50
)

(2
82

)
13

,8
91

(1
8,

86
0)

Ca
sh

 fl
ow

s 
fr

om
 in

ve
st

in
g 

ac
ti

vi
ti

es
(6

4)
30

8
77

6
23

(8
16

)

Ca
sh

 fl
ow

s 
fr

om
 fi

na
nc

in
g 

ac
ti

vi
ti

es
 

(3
73

)
–

(4
43

)
(1

,7
65

)
17

,4
48

N
et

 in
cr

ea
se

/(
de

cr
ea

se
) i

n 
ca

sh
 

 a
nd

 c
as

h 
eq

ui
va

le
nt

s
3,

21
0

(4
2)

51
12

,1
49

(2
,2

28
)



  ANNUAL REPORT 2015  | TIONG SENG HOLDINGS LTD  |  111     

Notes to the Financial Statements

 
Th

e 
fo

llo
w

in
g 

su
m

m
ar

is
es

 t
he

 fi
na

nc
ia

l 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
of

 e
ac

h 
of

 t
he

 G
ro

up
’s

 s
ub

si
di

ar
ie

s 
w

it
h 

m
at

er
ia

l 
N

CI
, 

ba
se

d 
on

 t
he

ir
 r

es
pe

ct
iv

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
 

pr
ep

ar
ed

 in
 a

cc
or

da
nc

e 
w

it
h 

FR
S,

 m
od

ifi
ed

 fo
r 

fa
ir

 v
al

ue
 a

dj
us

tm
en

ts
 o

n 
ac

qu
is

it
io

n 
an

d 
di

ff
er

en
ce

s 
in

 t
he

 G
ro

up
’s

 a
cc

ou
nt

in
g 

po
lic

ie
s.

St
ee

lt
ec

h
Ji

nw
an

Ch
ua

ng
 

Zh
an

Ca
ng

zh
ou

Gu
an

ga
ng

O
th

er
 in

di
vi

du
al

ly
 

im
m

at
er

ia
l

 s
ub

si
di

ar
ie

s
In

tr
a-

gr
ou

p
 e

lim
in

at
io

n
To

ta
l

$’
00

0
$’

00
0

$’
00

0
$’

00
0

$’
00

0
$’

00
0

$’
00

0
$’

00
0

20
15

Re
ve

nu
e

12
,6

12
26

3
–

59
,9

89
11

,5
45

Pr
ofi

t/
(L

os
s)

48
3

(1
96

)
8

6,
93

7
4,

75
3

O
CI

–
32

5
47

2
21

87
2

To
ta

l c
om

pr
eh

en
si

ve
 in

co
m

e
48

3
12

9
48

0
6,

95
8

5,
62

5

At
tr

ib
ut

ab
le

 to
 N

CI
:

- 
Pr

ofi
t/

(L
os

s)
23

7
(9

8)
3

4,
09

3
1,

71
1

(9
72

)
(5

06
)

4,
46

8

- 
O

CI
–

16
3

16
0

12
31

4
27

3
(7

19
)

20
3

- 
To

ta
l c

om
pr

eh
en

si
ve

 in
co

m
e

23
7

65
16

3
4,

10
5

2,
02

5
(6

99
)

(1
,2

25
)

4,
67

1

N
on

-c
ur

re
nt

 a
ss

et
s

7,
09

8
–

46
,6

90
14

2,
06

3

Cu
rr

en
t 

as
se

ts
12

,6
91

48
,5

99
15

,7
74

27
,8

40
28

7,
11

4

N
on

-c
ur

re
nt

 li
ab

ili
ti

es
(4

,8
01

)
(1

78
)

–
(8

8)
–

Cu
rr

en
t 

lia
bi

lit
ie

s
(1

,2
15

)
(2

1,
28

1)
(2

2,
63

0)
(1

1,
81

5)
(2

05
,6

94
)

N
et

 a
ss

et
s

13
,7

73
27

,1
40

39
,8

34
15

,9
51

83
,4

83

N
et

 a
ss

et
s 

at
tr

ib
ut

ab
le

 t
o 

N
CI

6,
74

8
13

,5
70

13
,5

43
9,

41
1

30
,0

54
11

,5
26

(2
5,

05
3)

59
,7

99

Ca
sh

 fl
ow

s 
fr

om
 o

pe
ra

ti
ng

 a
ct

iv
it

ie
s

3,
64

7
(3

50
)

(2
82

)
13

,8
91

(1
8,

86
0)

Ca
sh

 fl
ow

s 
fr

om
 in

ve
st

in
g 

ac
ti

vi
ti

es
(6

4)
30

8
77

6
23

(8
16

)

Ca
sh

 fl
ow

s 
fr

om
 fi

na
nc

in
g 

ac
ti

vi
ti

es
 

(3
73

)
–

(4
43

)
(1

,7
65

)
17

,4
48

N
et

 in
cr

ea
se

/(
de

cr
ea

se
) i

n 
ca

sh
 

 a
nd

 c
as

h 
eq

ui
va

le
nt

s
3,

21
0

(4
2)

51
12

,1
49

(2
,2

28
)

St
ee

lt
ec

h
Ji

nw
an

Ch
ua

ng
 

Zh
an

Ca
ng

zh
ou

Gu
an

ga
ng

O
th

er
 in

di
vi

du
al

ly
 

im
m

at
er

ia
l

 s
ub

si
di

ar
ie

s
In

tr
a-

gr
ou

p
 e

lim
in

at
io

n
To

ta
l

$’
00

0
$’

00
0

$’
00

0
$’

00
0

$’
00

0
$’

00
0

$’
00

0
$’

00
0

20
14

Re
ve

nu
e

19
,6

95
–

–
4,

24
0

27
,7

28

Pr
ofi

t/
(L

os
s)

1,
89

1
(1

9)
(1

44
)

(8
32

)
(3

7,
58

8)

O
CI

–
97

5
1,

41
9

28
9

(1
,5

08
)

To
ta

l c
om

pr
eh

en
si

ve
 in

co
m

e
1,

89
1

95
6

1,
27

5
(5

43
)

(3
9,

09
6)

At
tr

ib
ut

ab
le

 to
 N

CI
:

- 
Pr

ofi
t/

(L
os

s)
92

7
(1

0)
(4

9)
(4

91
)

(1
3,

53
2)

(9
22

)
(2

70
)

(1
4,

34
7)

- 
O

CI
–

48
8

48
2

17
1

(5
43

)
81

3
(3

73
)

1,
03

8

- 
To

ta
l c

om
pr

eh
en

si
ve

 in
co

m
e

92
7

47
8

43
3

(3
20

)
(1

4,
07

5)
(1

09
)

(6
43

)
(1

3,
30

9)

N
on

-c
ur

re
nt

 a
ss

et
s

7,
46

1
1

49
,3

10
49

2
1,

99
0

Cu
rr

en
t 

as
se

ts
13

,2
43

48
,7

83
61

,2
41

56
,5

86
27

9,
70

4

N
on

-c
ur

re
nt

 li
ab

ili
ti

es
(5

,0
39

)
(1

76
)

–
(5

36
)

–

Cu
rr

en
t 

lia
bi

lit
ie

s
(2

,3
76

)
(2

1,
59

6)
(7

1,
07

8)
(4

7,
54

8)
(2

79
,1

79
)

N
et

 a
ss

et
s

13
,2

89
27

,0
12

39
,4

73
8,

99
4

2,
51

5

N
et

 a
ss

et
s 

at
tr

ib
ut

ab
le

 t
o 

N
CI

6,
51

2
13

,5
06

13
,4

21
5,

30
6

90
5

22
,4

53
(1

6,
67

3)
45

,4
30

Ca
sh

 fl
ow

s 
fr

om
 o

pe
ra

ti
ng

 a
ct

iv
it

ie
s

(1
,6

67
)

(8
4)

(1
,2

49
)

57
0

(3
0,

76
4)

Ca
sh

 fl
ow

s 
fr

om
 in

ve
st

in
g 

ac
ti

vi
ti

es
(1

5)
14

7
57

,6
05

8
(5

,5
10

)

Ca
sh

 fl
ow

s 
fr

om
 fi

na
nc

in
g 

 a
ct

iv
it

ie
s 

(d
iv

id
en

ds
 to

 
 N

CI
: $

98
,0

00
)

(5
54

)
–

(5
6,

34
8)

–
28

,3
79

N
et

 (d
ec

re
as

e)
/i

nc
re

as
e 

in
 c

as
h 

 a
nd

 c
as

h 
eq

ui
va

le
nt

s
(2

,2
36

)
63

8
57

8
(7

,8
95

)



112  |   TIONG SENG HOLDINGS LTD  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2015 

Statistics of Shareholdings
As at 17 March 2016

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS
NO. OF

SHAREHOLDERS % NO. OF SHARES %

1  -  99  17 0.92  223 0.00

100  -  1,000  81 4.39  57,690 0.01

1,001  -  10,000  592 32.07  3,637,402 0.79

10,001  -  1,000,000  1,129 61.16  80,499,575 17.58

1,000,001 AND ABOVE  27 1.46  373,818,659 81.62

TOTAL 1,846 100.00 458,013,549 100.00

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

NO. NAME NO. OF SHARES %

1 TIONG SENG SHAREHOLDINGS PTE LTD 225,397,960 49.21

2 MAYBANK NOMINEES (SINGAPORE) PRIVATE LIMITED 45,800,000 10.00

3 UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED 33,911,320 7.40

4 WAN SENG ENTREPRISES PTE LTD 12,732,390 2.78

5 SHINGDA CONSTRUCTION PTE LTD 6,696,950 1.46

6 UOB KAY HIAN PRIVATE LIMITED 6,582,900 1.44

7 PECK KHEE SONG @ PECK AH TEE 4,784,200 1.04

8 DBS NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED 4,018,285 0.88

9 PEK AH TUAN 3,604,920 0.79

10 PAY KIAN MENG GILBERT 2,702,000 0.59

11 LEE KHAR HOON 2,650,000 0.58

12 RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE) LIMITED 2,579,034 0.56

13 LEE KENG LAN 2,454,000 0.54

14 PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 1,842,800 0.40

15 MAYBANK KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE. LTD. 1,677,000 0.37

16 HL BANK NOMINEES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD 1,667,500 0.36

17 LEE HONG CHUAN 1,650,000 0.36

18 ESTATE OF LIM KIM ENG, DECEASED 1,582,350 0.35

19 ANDREW KHNG 1,464,650 0.32

20 HENG SIEW ENG 1,374,500 0.30

TOTAL 365,172,759 79.73
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Statistics of Shareholdings
As at 17 March 2016

SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION AS AT 17 MARCH 2016

Class of shares : Ordinary shares

Number of Shares issued (excluding Treasury Shares) : 458,013,549 

Voting rights (excluding Treasury Shares) : On a poll - One vote per share

Treasury Shares : 1,610,300*

*  Exclude any shares buyback between 15 March 2016 and 17 March 2016 as they were not credited into the treasury shares account in CDP  

as at the date of statistics shareholdings.

Name of Substantial Shareholders Direct Deemed

No. of Shares % No. of Shares %

Tiong Seng Shareholdings Pte Ltd  271,197,960 59.2%  –   –

Peck Tiong Choon (Private) Limited(1)  32,261,520 7.0%  271,197,960 59.2%

Pek Ah Tuan(2)  3,604,920 0.8%  32,261,520 7.0%

Lee It Hoe(3) – –  286,275,330 62.5%

Notes:
            
(1) Peck Tiong Choon (Private) Limited (“PTC”) holds approximately 47.8% of the shares in Tiong Seng Shareholdings Pte Ltd (“TSS”)  and is 

therefore deemed interested in the shares held by TSS pursuant to Section 7 of the Companies Act, Cap 50 and Section 4 of the Securities and 
Futures Act.

           
 The 32,261,520 shares of PTC are registered in the name of United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd.      

      
(2) The late Mr Pek Ah Tuan passed away in December 2015. The executor of the estate of Pek Ah Tuan, together with his associates, collectively 

hold approximately 33.6% of the shares in PTC and is therefore deemed interested in the Shares held by PTC pursuant to Section 7 of the 
Companies Act, Cap 50 and Section 4 of the Securities and Futures Act .       
           

(3) Lee It Hoe is deemed interested in the Shares held by his associate, namely, his brother, Lee Yew Sim (762,630 Shares). Lee It Hoe is also 
deemed interested in the Shares held by him on trust for the estate of his mother, Lim Kim Eng (1,582,350 Shares), and the 12,732,390 Shares 
held by Wan Seng Enterprises (Private) Limited (“Wan Seng”) as Wan Seng’s shareholders are accustomed or under an obligation whether 
formal or informal to act in accordance with his directions, instructions and wishes in relation to their Shares in Wan Seng. In addition, Lee It 
Hoe is deemed interested in the Shares held by TSS as his associates are collectively entitled to exercise control of approximately 22.7% of the 
Shares in TSS.      

Shareholdings Held in Hands of Public

Approximately 29.3% of the Company’s shares are held in the hands of public. Accordingly, the Company has complied with 
Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of TIONG SENG HOLDINGS LIMITED (the “Company”) will be held 
at Orchid Country Club, Emerald Suite, 1 Orchid Club Road Singapore 769162 on Thursday, 21 April 2016 at 9.30 a.m. for the 
following purposes:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Statement and the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the year 
ended 31 December 2015 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon. (Resolution 1)

  
2. To declare a first and final dividend of 0.5 cent per ordinary share (one-tier tax exempt) for the year ended 31 

December 2015 (2014: 0.2 cent per ordinary share). (Resolution 2)
 
3. To re-elect the following Directors of the Company retiring by rotation pursuant to Regulation 89 of the Company’s 

Constitution:
  
 Mr Pek Lian Guan (Resolution 3)
 Mr Ong Lay Khiam (Resolution 4)

 Mr Pek Lian Guan will upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as the member of the Nominating 
Committee	and	will	be	considered	non-independent.

 Mr Ong Lay Khiam will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as Chairman of the Audit Committee 
and members of the Nominating Committee and the Remuneration Committee respectively and will be considered 
independent.

4. To re-appoint Mr Lee It Hoe as a Director of the Company and to hold office subject to retirement by rotation in 
accordance with the Company’s Constitution.  (Resolution 5)

 [See Explanatory Note (i)] 

 Mr Lee It Hoe will, upon re-appointment as a Director of the Company, remain as a member of the Audit Committee and 
the	Nominating	Committee	and	will	be	considered	non-independent.

5. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees amounting to S$250,000 for the year ending 31 December 2016, to be paid 
in arrears (2015: S$397,000). (Resolution 6)

6. To re-appoint KPMG LLP as the Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors of the Company to fix their 
remuneration. (Resolution 7)

7. To transact any other ordinary business which may be transacted at an Annual General Meeting. 

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions, with or without any modifications:
  
8. AUTHORITY TO ISSUE SHARES

 That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50, and Rule 806 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), the Directors of the Company be authorised and empowered to:

 
 (a) (i) issue shares in the Company (“shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise; and/or
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  (ii)  make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would require 
shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) 
options, warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into shares,

  at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors of 
the Company may in their absolute discretion deem fit; and

  (b) (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue 
shares in pursuance of any Instruments made or granted by the Directors of the Company while this 
Resolution was in force,

  provided that: 
 
  (1) the aggregate number of shares (including shares to be issued in pursuance of the Instruments, made 

or granted pursuant to this Resolution) to be issued pursuant to this Resolution shall not exceed 50% 
of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company (as 
calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below), of which the aggregate number of shares to 
be issued other than on a pro rata basis to shareholders of the Company shall not exceed 20% of the 
total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company (as calculated in 
accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below); 

 
  (2) (subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) for the purpose of 

determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued under sub-paragraph (1) above, the 
total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) shall be based on the total number of issued 
shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at the time of the passing of this 
Resolution, after adjusting for:

 
   (a) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities;

   (b) new shares arising from the exercise of share options or vesting of share awards which are 
outstanding or subsisting at the time of the passing of this Resolution; and

   (c) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares;

  (3) in exercising the authority conferred  by  this  Resolution,  the  Company  shall  comply  with the 
provisions of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such compliance has 
been waived by the SGX-ST) and the Constitution of the Company; and

  (4) unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, such authority shall continue in force 
until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by  which the next 
Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier. 

   [See Explanatory Note (ii)]        (Resolution 8)
                                                                            
9. AUTHORITY TO ISSUE SHARES UNDER THE TIONG SENG SHARE AWARD SCHEME

 That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50, the Directors of the Company be authorised and 
empowered to grant awards in accordance with the provisions of the Company’s Tiong Seng Share Award Scheme 
(“Scheme”) and to issue from time to time such number of shares in the capital of the Company as may be required 
to be issued pursuant to the vesting of the awards under the Scheme, provided always that the aggregate number 
of additional ordinary shares to be issued pursuant to the Scheme shall not exceed 15% of the total number of 
issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company from time to time and that such authority 
shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, continue in force until the conclusion of the next 
Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is 
required by law to be held, whichever is earlier. (Resolution 9)

 [See Explanatory Note (iii)]      
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10. RENEWAL OF THE SHARE BUY-BACK MANDATE 

 That:

 (a)  for the purposes of Sections 76C and 76E of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore (the “Act”), the 
exercise by the Directors of the Company of all the powers of the Company to purchase or otherwise acquire 
issued ordinary shares in the capital of the Company (“Shares”) not exceeding in aggregate the Maximum Limit 
(as hereafter defined), at such price or prices as may be determined by the Directors of the Company from time 
to time up to the Maximum Price (as hereafter defined), whether by way of:

  (i)  on-market purchases through the ready market of SGX-ST or, as the case may be, any other stock 
exchange on which the Shares may for the time being be listed and quoted (“Other Exchange”), through 
one or more duly licensed stockbrokers appointed by the Company for such purpose (the “On-Market 
Share Buy-Back”) and/or

  (ii)  off-market purchases (if effected otherwise than on the SGX-ST) in accordance with any equal access 
scheme(s) as defined in Section 76C of the Companies Act as may be determined or formulated by 
the Directors as they may consider fit and in the best interests of the Company, which scheme(s) shall 
satisfy all the conditions prescribed by the Companies Act and the Listing Manual (the “Off-Market 
Share Buy-Back”),

  and otherwise in accordance with all other laws, regulations and rules of the SGX-ST or, as the case may be, 
Other Exchange, as may for the time being be applicable, be and is hereby authorised and approved generally 
and unconditionally (the “Share Buy-Back Mandate”);

 (b)  unless varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, the authority conferred on the Directors of the 
Company pursuant to the Share Buy-Back Mandate may be exercised by the Directors of the Company at any 
time and from time to time during the period commencing from the passing of this resolution and expiring on 
the earliest of:

  (i) the date on which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is held;

  (ii) the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held; or

  (iii) the date on which purchases and acquisitions of Shares pursuant to the Share Buy-Back Mandate are 
carried out to the full extent mandated.

 (c)  in this resolution:

  “Maximum Limit” means the number of Shares representing ten per cent (10%) of the total issued ordinary 
share capital of the Company ascertained as at the date of the passing of this resolution unless the Company 
has effected a reduction of the share capital of the Company in accordance with the applicable provisions of the 
Act at any time during the Relevant Period (as defined hereinafter), in which event the issued ordinary share 
capital of the Company shall be taken to be the amount of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company as 
altered (excluding any treasury shares that may be held by the Company from time to time); 

  “Relevant Period” means the period commencing from the date on which the last annual general meeting of 
the Company was held and expiring on the date the next annual general meeting of the Company is held or 
is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier, or until it is varied or revoked by the Company in general 
meeting, after the date of the passing of this resolution; and
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  “Maximum Price” in relation to a Share to be purchased, means the purchase price (excluding brokerage, stamp 
duties, applicable goods and services tax and other related expenses) not exceeding:

  (i)  in the case of a On-Market Share Buy-Back, 105% of the Average Closing Price; and

  (ii)  in the case of an Off-Market Share Buy-Back, 120% of the Average Closing Price,

  where:

  “Average Closing Price” means the average of the closing market prices of a Share over the last five (5) market 
days on which the Shares were transacted on the SGX-ST or, as the case may be, Other Exchange, preceding the 
day of the On-Market Share Buy-Back or, as the case may be, the day of the making of the offer pursuant to an 
Off-Market Share Buy-Back, as deemed to be adjusted for any corporate action that occurs after the relevant 
five (5) market day period; and 

 (d)  the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all such acts and things 
(including executing such documents as may be required) as they may consider expedient or necessary to give 
effect to the transactions contemplated by this resolution.

  [See Explanatory Note (iv)]   (Resolution 10)

11. RENEWAL OF THE INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS MANDATE 

 That:

 (a) approval be and is hereby given, for the purposes of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, for the 
Company, its subsidiaries and associated companies that are considered to be entities at risk under Chapter 
9 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, or any of them to enter into any of the transactions falling within the 
types of Interested Person Transactions as set out in Section 3 of the Appendix to this Notice of Annual General 
Meeting  (the “Appendix”) with any party who is of the class of interested persons described in the Appendix, 
provided that such transactions are carried out in the normal course of business, at arm’s length and on 
normal commercial terms and in accordance with the guidelines and review procedures for Interested Person 
Transactions as set out in the Appendix (the “IPT Mandate”);

 (b) the IPT Mandate shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, continue in force until 
the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company; and

 (c) the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all such acts and things 
(including executing all such documents as may be required) as they may consider necessary, desirable or 
expedient to give effect to the IPT Mandate.   (Resolution 11)

  [See Explanatory Note (v)]           

By Order of the Board

Lai Foon Kuen
Company Secretary

Singapore, 6 April 2016
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Explanatory Notes on Resolutions to be passed:

(i)  Mr Lee It Hoe who is over the age of 70 was re-appointed as Director to hold office from the date of the last Annual General Meeting (held 
on 24 April 2015) until this Annual General Meeting pursuant to Section 153(6) of the Act. Section 153(6) of the Act was repealed when the 
Companies (Amendment) Act 2014 came into effect on 3 January 2016. As his appointment lapses at this Annual General Meeting, Mr Lee 
It Hoe will have to be re-appointed to continue in office. Upon his re-appointment at the conclusion of this Annual General Meeting, going 
forward, Mr Lee It Hoe’s re-appointment will no longer be subject to shareholders’ approval under Section 153(6) of the Act as repealed. Mr 
Lee It Hoe will then be subject to retirement by rotation under the Company’s Constitution. Upon his re-appointment at the conclusion of this 
Annual General Meeting, Mr Lee It Hoe will remain as a member of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee respectively.

(ii)  Ordinary Resolution 8, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, effective until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting 
of the Company, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held or such authority is varied 
or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is the earlier, to issue shares, make or grant Instruments convertible into shares 
and to issue shares pursuant to such Instruments, up to a number not exceeding, in total, 50% of the total number of issued shares (excluding 
treasury shares) in the capital of the Company, of which up to 20% may be issued other than on a pro rata basis to shareholders.

 For determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued, the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) will be 
calculated based on the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at the time this Ordinary 
Resolution is passed, after adjusting for new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities or share options or 
vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the time when this Ordinary Resolution is passed, and any subsequent bonus 
issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares.

(iii)  Ordinary Resolution 9, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, effective until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting 
of the Company, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held or such authority is varied 
or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is the earlier, to issue from time to time such number of shares in the capital of 
the Company as may be required to be issued pursuant to the vesting of awards granted or to be granted under the Scheme. The aggregate 
number of shares which may be issued pursuant to the Scheme and any other share scheme/share plan which the Company may have in place 
shall not exceed 15% of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company from time to time.

(iv)  Ordinary Resolution 10, if passed, will empower the Directors, from the date of this Annual General Meeting until the next Annual General 
Meeting is held or is required by law to be held, or until it is varied or revoked by the Company in general meeting, whichever is earlier, to 
purchase or otherwise acquire issued ordinary Shares of the Company by way of On-Market Share Buy-Backs or Off-Market Share Buy-Backs 
of up to the Maximum Limit at the Maximum Price in accordance with the terms and conditions set out in the Appendix to this Notice of Annual 
General Meeting, the Act and the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST. Please refer to the Appendix for more details.

(v) Ordinary Resolution 11, if passed, renew the general mandate approved by the Shareholders of the Company on 24 April 2015 to enable 
the Company, its subsidiaries and associated companies, or any of them, to enter into certain types of recurrent transactions of a revenue 
or trading nature or those necessary for its day-to-day operations with the specified classes of persons who are considered to be interested 
persons for the purposes of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual, and which is proposed to be renewed in the manner and on the terms set out in 
the Appendix. This authority will, unless previously revoked or varied by the Company at a general meeting, expire at the conclusion of the 
next Annual General Meeting of the Company. Please refer to the Appendix for more details.

Notes:

1.  A Member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”) is entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to 
attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a Member of the Company.

2.  If the appointor is a corporation, the instrument appointing a proxy must be executed under seal or the hand of its duly authorised officer or 
attorney.

3.  The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at 510 Thomson Road #08-00, SLF Building, 
Singapore 298135, not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting.

Personal data privacy:

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the Annual General Meeting and/or any 
adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the member’s personal data by the Company 
(or its agents) for the purpose of the processing and administration by the Company (or its agents) of proxies and representatives appointed for 
the Annual General Meeting (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other 
documents relating to the Annual General Meeting (including any adjournment thereof), and in order for the Company (or its agents) to comply with 
any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines (collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where the member discloses the 
personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to the Company (or its agents), the member has obtained the prior consent of 
such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the collection, use and disclosure by the Company (or its agents) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) 
and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member will indemnify the Company in respect of any penalties, liabilities, claims, 
demands, losses and damages as a result of the member’s breach of warranty.



TIONG SENG HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated In the Republic of Singapore)
(Co. Reg. No: 200807295Z)

PROXY FORM
(Please see notes overleaf before completing this Form)

*I/We,   

of 

being a member/members of  Tiong Seng Holdings Limited  (the “Company”), hereby appoint: 

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

Address

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

Address

or failing *him/her, the Chairman of the Meeting as *my/our *proxy/proxies to vote for *me/us on *my/our behalf at the Annual 
General Meeting (the “Meeting”) of the Company to be held on 21 April 2016 at 9.30 am and at any adjournment thereof.   
*I/We direct *my/our *proxy/proxies to vote for or against the Resolutions proposed at the Meeting as indicated hereunder.   
If no specific direction as to voting is given or in the event of any other matter arising at the Meeting and at any adjournment 
thereof, the *proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at *his/her discretion. 

(Please indicate your vote “For” or “Against” with a tick [P] within the box provided.)

No. Resolutions relating to:  For Against

1. Directors’ Statement and Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 
2015

2. Payment of proposed first & final dividend

3. Re-election of Mr Pek Lian Guan as a Director

4. Re-election of Mr Ong Lay Khiam as a Director

5. Re-appointment of Mr Lee It Hoe as a Director

6. Approval of Directors’ fees amounting to S$250,000 for the year ending 31 December 
2016

7. Re-appointment of KPMG LLP as Auditors

8. Authority to issue new shares

9. Authority to issue shares under the Tiong Seng Share Award Scheme

10. Renewal of the Share Buy-Back Mandate 

11. Renewal of the Interested Person Transactions Mandate

 * Delete where inapplicable

Dated this  day of  2016 

     
Signature of Shareholder(s)/
and, Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder

IMPORTANT:

1. A relevant intermediary may appoint more than two proxies to attend the 
Annual General Meeting and vote (please see Note 4 for the definition of 
“relevant intermediary”).

2. For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy shares in the Company, 
this Proxy Form is not valid for use and shall be ineffective for all intents and 
purposes if used or purported to be used by them.

Personal Data Privacy
By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s), 
the member accepts and agrees to the personal data privacy terms set out in the 
Company’s Notice of Annual General Meeting.

Total number of Shares in: No. of Shares

(a) CDP Register

(b) Register of Members

&



Notes:

1. Please insert the total number of shares you hold. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register (as defined 
in Section 81SF of the Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore), you should insert that number of shares. If you have shares 
registered in your name in the register of Shareholders of our Company, you should insert that number of shares. If you have shares entered 
against your name in the Depository Register and shares registered in your name in the register of Shareholders, you should insert the 
aggregate number of shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the register of Shareholders. 
If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to relate to all the shares in the capital of the Company 
held by you. 

2. A member who is not a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint not more than 2 proxies to attend, speak and vote on his behalf at the 
annual general meeting. 

3. Where a member appoints more than one proxy, the member shall specify the proportion of his shares to be represented by each such proxy, 
failing which the nomination shall be deemed to be alternative

4. For any member who acts as an intermediary pursuant to Section 181(6) of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, who is either:

 (a) a banking corporation licensed under the Banking Act (Cap. 19) or its wholly-owned subsidiary which provides nominee services and 
holds shares in that capacity;

 (b) a capital markets services licence holder which provides custodial services for securities and holds shares in that capacity; and

 (c) Central Provident Fund (“CPF”) Board established by the Central Provident Fund Act (Cap. 36), in respect of shares purchased on behalf 
of CPF investors.

 
You are entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote at the meeting. The proxy need not be a member of the Company. Please 
note that if any of your shareholdings are not specified in the list provided by the intermediary to the Company, the Company may have the 
sole discretion to disallow the said participation of the said proxy at the forthcoming annual general meeting. 

5. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 510 Thomson Road  
#08-00 SLF Building, Singapore 298135 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the Meeting.

6. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing.  Where the 
instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its seal or under the hand of an officer 
or attorney duly authorised.  Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by an attorney on behalf of the appointor, the 
letter or power of attorney or a duly certified copy thereof must be lodged with the instrument.

7. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fit to act as its 
representative at the Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore.

General:

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible or where the 
true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies.  
In addition, in the case of shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged 
if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 72 hours before the time 
appointed for holding the Meeting, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.
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